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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. We intend such forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K other than statements of historical fact,
including statements regarding our future operating results and financial position, our business strategy and plans, market growth, and our
objectives for future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “potential,” “continue,”
“anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “could,” “would,” “project,” “plan,” “target,” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements.
Forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may include, but are not limited to, statements about:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

our ability to attract and retain buyers and suppliers;
our ability to deepen our relationships with existing customers;
our expectations regarding our customer and transaction growth rates;
our business plan and beliefs and objectives for future operations;
trends associated with our industry and potential market;
benefits associated with use of our platform and services;
our ability to develop or acquire new solutions, improve our platform and solutions and increase the value of our platform and
solutions;
our ability to compete successfully against current and future competitors;
our ability to further develop strategic relationships;
our ability to successfully identify, acquire and integrate complementary businesses, products or technology;
our plans to further invest in and grow our business, and our ability to effectively manage our growth and associated
investments;
our ability to timely and effectively scale and adapt our existing technology;
our ability to achieve positive returns on investments;
our ability to increase or maintain our revenue, our revenue growth rate and gross margin;
our ability to generate sufficient revenue to achieve and sustain profitability;
our future financial performance, including trends in revenue, cost of revenue, operating expenses, other income and expenses,
income taxes, billings and customers;
the sufficiency of our cash and cash equivalents and cash generated from operations to meet our working capital and capital
expenditure requirements;
our ability to raise capital and the terms of those financings;
our ability to attract, train and retain qualified employees and key personnel;
our ability to maintain and benefit from our corporate culture;
our ability to successfully enter new markets and manage our international expansion; and
our ability to maintain, protect and enhance our intellectual property and not infringe upon others’ intellectual property.

We caution you that the foregoing list may not contain all of the forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These
forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties, and assumptions and other factors that could cause actual results
to differ materially from those stated, including those described in the sections titled “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as such
factors may be updated in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, (the “SEC"). Moreover, we operate in a very competitive
and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for our management to predict all risks, nor can we
assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ
materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, the
future events and trends discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely
from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements.
You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. The events and circumstances reflected in the forwardlooking statements may not be achieved or occur. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are
reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, performance, or achievements. Our forward-looking
i

statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and we undertake no obligation to update any of these forwardlooking statements for any reason after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or to conform these statements to actual results or
revised expectations, except as required by law.
You should read this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and the documents that we reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and have filed
with the SEC, with the understanding that our actual future results, performance, and events and circumstances may be materially different
from what we expect.
In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the words “we,” “our,” “us,” “AvidXchange,” and “our Company” refer to AvidXchange, Inc. prior to our
reorganization, and to AvidXchange Holdings, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries following the reorganization, unless the context requires
otherwise.
ii

PART I.
ITEM 1. Business.
Mission
Our mission is to transform how middle market businesses receive, manage and pay their bills.
Overview
We are a leading provider of accounts payable ("AP") automation software and payment solutions for middle market businesses and their
suppliers. Our Software-as-a-Service ("SaaS") based, end-to-end software and payment platform digitizes and automates the AP workflows
for more than 8,000 businesses (our buyers) and we have made payments to more than 825,000 supplier customers of our buyers
(suppliers) over the past five years. While acquiring new and retaining existing relationships with buyers and suppliers are important to our
business, the growth of our business is ultimately dependent upon the number of transactions we process, as well as our total payment
volume. We developed our technology platform through years of working to solve our buyers’ unique middle market workflow challenges.
Leveraging our deep domain expertise, we purpose-built a powerful two-sided network that connects buyers and suppliers, drives digital
transformation, increases efficiency and accuracy in AP workflows, accelerates payments, enables insight into critical analytics, and lowers
operating costs for our buyers.
The majority of businesses continue to operate paper-intensive back offices, particularly in their AP workflows. According to a study by the
Association of Finance Professionals, 42% of business-to-business ("B2B") payment volumes in the United States are executed with paper
checks. These manual payment methods are accompanied by complicated and labor-intensive steps to process invoices that are slow,
expensive and vulnerable to error and fraud.
While solutions have been developed to address this friction, they are predominantly suited for larger enterprises and small and midsize
businesses (each an "SMB"). Larger enterprises can purchase expensive and highly sophisticated tools because they have the financial
resources and talent base to support these systems. Meanwhile, SMBs more often utilize one-size-fits-all solutions that address simplistic or
single-step workflows in less sophisticated business environments.
The middle market, however, remains underserved. We define middle market businesses primarily as companies with between $5 million
and $1 billion in annual revenue. They have high invoice throughput, complex AP workflows and general ledger coding that are too
sophisticated for the solutions typically utilized by SMBs. However, middle market businesses also operate at a smaller scale than the typical
enterprise, which makes the more complicated enterprise solutions cost-prohibitive and difficult to implement. Additionally, the technology
landscape for the middle market is highly fragmented and siloed, requiring a flexible technology stack that integrates with multiple software
providers to automate workflows.
We built our business to solve this gap for the middle market and believe we have become a uniquely strategic platform for our customers’
CFOs, treasurers and finance teams by digitally transforming how they receive, manage and pay their bills. Supported by deep integrations
to our customers’ middle market oriented accounting and information systems, our platform automates the end-to-end AP workflows for our
buyers and enhances the payment experience for our suppliers through the following products and features:
•
AP Automation Software. We have developed a SaaS-based solution automating and digitizing the capture, review, approval
and payment of invoices for our buyers. Our omni-channel ingestion engine provides unique, vertical-specific front-end software
tools that streamline AP workflows for our buyers. We digitally capture invoices from suppliers and apply the buyer’s specific
business rules to enable them to begin processing the invoice, extract and utilize transaction data from the invoice to enhance
and configure the approval workflows, and manage the entire AP process through the payment of the invoice.
•
The AvidPay Network. Our two-sided payments network connects our buyers with their suppliers, enabling invoice payments
on behalf of a buyer and according to the supplier’s business rules, payment preferences and remittance data. We support a
variety of payment methods depending on the supplier’s preference, including virtual credit card ("VCC"), enhanced automated
clearing house ("ACH") (our AvidPay Direct) and physical check, while delivering rich remittance data to streamline the
reconciliation process.
•
Cash Flow Manager. We provide cash management solutions to our supplier network, including tools that provide a
comprehensive view of invoices and an accelerator feature (our Invoice Accelerator). These additional features, and
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others in our product pipeline, allow us to both monetize and increase engagement on our two-sided payments network.
As indicated above, we serve over 8,000 buyers and have made payments to over 825,000 suppliers over the past five years. We do not
have significant customer concentration in our business, with no single customer contributing more than 5% of 2021 revenue and with our top
10 customers contributing less than 15% of revenue in 2021 and 2020. Our customers operate across a variety of verticals in which we have
deep domain expertise, including real estate, HOAs, construction, financial services (including banks and credit unions), healthcare facilities,
social services, education, and media. Certain segments of our customers, particularly the customers we acquired through the FastPay
acquisition that focus on political advertising within our media vertical, are subject to seasonal and cyclical trends. In 2021, we processed
approximately 62 million transactions representing over $180 billion in spend under management across our platform and, of that spend, we
moved $52 billion in total payment volume from our buyers to their suppliers. Spend under management represents the sum of (i) the
aggregate dollar amount of payments processed by us, plus (ii) the aggregate dollar amount represented by the total number of invoices
processed by us, in each case, during the specified period. As described in more detail in the section titled “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” we generate revenue from each transaction processed on a per transaction basis
and earn interchange revenue from a portion of the total payment volume.
Our two-sided AvidPay Network of buyers and suppliers drives a powerful flywheel. We believe that by delivering a world-class AP
automation experience, we attract more buyers and increase the number of transactions processed through our system. We also leverage
our direct connections to our supplier network to increase penetration of electronic payments, which attracts more suppliers to our network.
We capture more data from these additional transactions and e-payments that we use to continuously improve our AP automation
experience, drawing more buyers, suppliers and, as a result, more transactions to our platform, which continues to fuel our organic growth.
As we add more buyers to the AvidPay Network, both buyers and their suppliers benefit from our current network density which drives
electronic payment adoption. In addition, new buyers bring new suppliers, thereby enabling us to continuously add more suppliers to the
AvidPay Network and accelerating the flywheel of growth depicted below.

We sell our solutions through a hybrid go-to-market strategy that includes direct and indirect channels. Our direct sales force leverages their
deep domain expertise in select verticals and over 180 referral relationships with integrated software providers, financial institutions and other
partners to identify and attract buyers that would benefit from our AP software solutions and the AvidPay Network. Our indirect channel
includes reseller partners and other strategic partnerships such as Mastercard, through MasterCard’s B2B Hub, which includes Fifth Third
Bank and Bank of America, and other financial institutions, such as KeyBank,
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and third-party software providers such as MRI Software, RealPage and SAP Concur. Our referral and indirect channel partnerships provide
us greater reach across the market to access a variety of buyers.

Our Industry
Our industry is a significant and growing market, which is defined by the following key factors and trends:
•
Legacy B2B Payments are complicated and inefficient. Unlike the world of consumer payments, B2B payments require a set
of complex workflows, accounting system integrations and processes centered on the purchase order or invoice. These involve
rigorous payment approval processes and a payment generally initiated from and integrated to various accounting systems. The
labor and direct costs associated with these manual processes are expensive and time intensive, creating significant challenges
and inefficiencies to those that are not able to digitize and automate these workflows.
•
Middle market businesses face unique challenges. Middle market businesses face unique challenges with respect to their
AP processes. The middle market features hundreds of accounting systems and integrations that support various vertical and
sub-industries, resulting in a multitude of complex and highly specific business, accounting and compliance requirements.
Furthermore, costs related to these complex AP workflows are a significant component of middle market companies’
administrative expenses. These businesses are increasingly required to turn to automated cloud-based AP automation and B2B
payment solutions to unlock substantial cost savings and create more operational efficiencies within their organizations.
•
Middle market businesses and their suppliers are largely ignored by existing solutions. We believe middle market
businesses and their suppliers are vastly underserved by existing financial software solutions. While a few key providers serve
each of the larger enterprise buyers and the SMB buyers segments, middle market businesses are largely served by a highly
fragmented market of vertical focused ERP and software solutions. This fragmentation has led to hundreds of accounting
systems available in the middle market today. Additionally, we believe that close to half of the market representing suppliers of
our buyers is currently underserved by available offerings.
•
Generational shift in technology adoption. As the next generation of accounting and finance leaders hail from an era of
digital consumer finance transformation, there will be an increasing demand for digitization, data and technological efficiency
added to standard business workflows. Furthermore, the growing importance of data requires businesses to adopt platforms that
provide real-time visibility, analytics and insights to allow better, more informed decision making. This next generation of leaders
are driving the demand for technological advances in their companies and leading the outreach for solutions such as
AvidXchange.

The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted and, in some cases, accelerated the need for dynamic, cloud-based solutions that are able to be
utilized anytime and anywhere. The critical need for business continuity was even more pronounced during the shift to remote work
environments and through the U.S. mail disruption. Businesses need to be able to receive invoices, pay bills and seamlessly run their
businesses no matter what external factors may occur. Digital solutions offer a more secure, reliable, and flexible solution to legacy manual
processes.

Our Market Opportunity
The B2B payments market is rapidly evolving and represents a significant opportunity for digital transformation. Despite their intrinsic process
inefficiencies and high costs, paper checks still comprise 42% of all B2B payments in the United States. In response to this large volume of
inefficient processes, the market is undergoing a transformation.
We believe these market inefficiencies and current trends present a large and growing opportunity for our business.
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In addition to providing B2B payments, we believe we can become a strategic cornerstone of our suppliers’ finance organizations to better
manage expenses and cash flow. We believe that there is a large unmet need in supplier invoice finance, with close to half of the market
underserved. Our solutions help suppliers accelerate invoices for early payment, manage supplier payment preferences, and forecast future
cash flows.

Go-To-Market
We have made significant investments in our sales and marketing organization, and we employ a hybrid go-to-market strategy utilizing both
direct and indirect channels. Our go-to-market organization consists of employees supporting buyers and suppliers in our direct sales,
marketing and relationship management teams and is a cornerstone of creating and maintaining trusted customer relationships.
We sell our solutions to buyers through both a direct sales force and indirectly through strategic channel partnerships with banks and
financial institutions as well as software and technology business partners. We attract suppliers to the AvidPay Network by establishing a
simple, easy-to-use network that helps integrate various buyers through a standard invoice and pay network.
Our go-to-market team is core to our growth and continues to evolve with the rapidly evolving market and our own internal development of
products. We continuously monitor key metrics that measure our sales team and channel sales success, productivity, and efficiency. We
maintain long-term customer satisfaction through our relationship management and customer care organization, who provide customer
support through multiple avenues of communication including email, phone, chat, and forums.
Our marketing is focused on our unique ability to serve the middle market, our easy to integrate solutions, the value we provide to our
customers, and our continued product innovation. Our targeted marketing to the middle market includes both digital and traditional brand
campaigns, targeted advertisements, social, thought leadership pieces, trade shows, and webinars.
We intend to continue to invest in our sales and marketing capabilities to capitalize on our market opportunity.
Why We Win
Our customers choose us for the tangible value proposition our solutions offer. We believe we have several competitive advantages that
drive our ability to leverage our first mover market position:
•

Built to solve the unique business challenges of the middle market. Since our inception, our solution has been purposebuilt for the middle market. Our platform addresses enterprise level challenges, but at the scale, price and in the language of the
middle market.

•

Digitize the entire AP workflow. We apply data and SaaS-based software automation to the entirety of the AP workflow. While
some tools require the buyer to first handle invoice ingestion, we focus on transforming the buyer experience by owning, and
enhancing, each point of the value chain. Our platform will handle invoice ingestion, whether through paper or electronic means,
and replicate that ownership and automation through to payment.

•

Comprehensive, end-to-end AP Automation and payments platform. Our comprehensive solution provides a single-vendor
approach to eliminate paper, streamline workflows and ensure timely and accurate reconciliation. We have spent years building
a software and payments platform coupled with hundreds of integrations to vertical-specific middle market accounting and
information systems. We believe this provides us with a unique competitive advantage to automate AP workflows, streamline
invoice payment and continue to grow our two-sided network.

•

Scaled, two-sided network of buyers and suppliers powers a flywheel effect. We provide the infrastructure layer
connecting our buyers with their suppliers. As buyers approve and pay more invoices through our platform, we connect them to
their suppliers and add more suppliers to our network, which drives an expansion of the flywheel effect that fuels our growth. As
a result of this ongoing flywheel, we have built a high level of supplier density that allows us to monetize payments almost
immediately after a buyer joins our platform.

•

Diverse and deep integration layer. We offer more than 220 integrations with different accounting systems that allow our
clients to curate a technology stack tailored to the nuances of their size, scale and vertical. Our “built inside” integrations, many
of which are flexible Application Programming Interface ("API") based integrations, facilitate increasingly seamless exchanges of
data, driving enhanced user experiences and utility and providing a feature set and level of customization historically reserved
only for enterprises.
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•

Unparalleled data capabilities. Our buyers and suppliers benefit from the millions of invoices we have ingested and processed
since inception. From the beginning, we recognized the feedback value of data and as such our product development and
operations benefit from two decades of transactions. We believe we ingest invoices more accurately, manage risk more
insightfully and assess credit more thoughtfully in part due to a knowledge base that continues to grow every day.

•

“Win as a team” culture. Our culture is our DNA. It’s what brings us together and makes us who we are. We believe our
culture gives us a unique competitive advantage. Our strength lies in leveraging the unique differences our employees bring to
the workplace. We value diverse talents, skills, ideas, ways of thinking, backgrounds and life stories – all of which drive our
innovation and performance. As entrepreneurs seeking innovative solutions to serve our customers, we want every employee to
feel a strong sense of purpose and belonging. Therefore, we strive to create a workplace where every employee feels
comfortable and empowered to bring their full, authentic self to work every day. As we continue to grow the business, we also
intentionally focus on the key drivers of employee experience and engagement: wellbeing, growth and development, and
rewards and recognition. Engaged employees are imperative to achieve strong company performance and excellent customer
experience.

Growth Strategy
We are dedicated to continuing to differentiate ourselves as the leader in AP automation software and payment solutions for middle market
businesses through our multi-pronged approach. Fundamentally, the growth of our business is dependent upon the number of transactions
we process, as well as our total payment volume. Key elements of our growth strategy include the following.
•

Win new buyers and their suppliers. We believe the middle market opportunity remains largely underpenetrated. As the
number of middle market companies continues to increase and their AP and payment complexity grows, we anticipate demand
for our products by new customers to increase. We will continue to invest heavily in our direct and indirect sales channels to
increase awareness of our platform, drive sales opportunities, and convert more of our pipeline into customers. We will also
continue to grow and scale the number of strategic partnerships we have, providing more opportunities to acquire new
customers from our software and bank channels as well as our referral partnerships.

•

Grow with existing buyers and suppliers. We expect to continue to grow with our existing buyer base of over 8,000
businesses. As our buyer base continues to grow and mature, we expect them to continue to increase invoice and payment
transaction volume across the AvidXchange platform. In addition, we plan to continue to cross-sell solutions to our existing
buyers.

•

Increase conversion of paper checks to electronic payments. As our buyers continue to mature and increase their overall
payment transaction volume, we believe there is significant opportunity to increase the penetration of electronic payments. The
reliance on highly manual invoice management processes and paper check-based payments results in wasted time and money
that serve as great candidates for automation. As additional buyers and suppliers join our proprietary AvidPay Network, we will
continue to build functionality and drive conversion of manual to electronic payments. Our growing supplier density will continue
to drive higher monetization rates leading to increased e-payment adoption.

•

Continue to innovate and enhance new products. We will continue leveraging the rich data and business insights we have
accumulated across buyer and supplier transactions to add new innovations and capabilities. We will continue to expand
horizontal product functionality to benefit our clients. Key areas of continued product innovation include creating products to
support larger buyers that require more advanced procurement and spend management capabilities, growing functionality within
the AvidPay Network, focusing on our operational scalability to enhance our ability to effectively manage critical transactions,
and increasing automation across our platform. Our goal is to create more end-to-end solutions that integrate purchasing and
payments workflows. In addition to enhancing products for our buyer customers, we will also continue to use our access to rich
data to build out more robust offerings for suppliers, including financing solutions to serve the significant opportunity there.

•

Selectively pursue strategic M&A. We will supplement our organic growth by pursuing strategic M&A to expand into new
verticals and horizontal capabilities, capture unmonetized or under-monetized spend, and enhance and expand products and
capabilities. We have a proven track record of successfully acquiring and executing M&A to drive revenue growth, efficiency
leverage, and scalability across the organization.

•

Enter new verticals. We believe there is significant untapped opportunity in the middle market to expand into new and adjacent
verticals. We will continue to invest in our vertical sales teams across different geographies to execute in-house development to
build vertical domain capabilities, increase our number of bank and software partnerships, and expand the number of nextgeneration API and “built inside” integrations. We plan to do this both organically and
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through potential acquisitions. We recently expanded into the Education sector and our recent acquisition of Core Associates
enabled us to become one of the leading AP providers in the construction market.
•

International expansion. We plan on expanding internationally in the near to mid-term with an initial focus on Canada, the
United Kingdom, and Europe. We intend to leverage our existing business partner relationships we have already in place in the
United States to begin building our presence worldwide.

Human Capital, Culture, Social Responsibility and Community Initiatives
At AvidXchange, our employees are the core of who we are. We’re all entrepreneurs who love to innovate and win with a passion for serving
our customers. We take personal ownership of our everyday work, and we recognize that we only win as a team. While we’re proud to stand
out, we also know that to shine brightly as a company, the light we create needs to build from the inside out – from person to person, and
team to team.
While we are a technology company by trade, at our core, we are a people company, and that means not only taking care of each other, but
those in the communities in which we work and live. In 2005, we formed the AvidXchange Foundation. Initially, we set out to help elementary
school children impacted by Hurricane Katrina. From then on, the AvidXchange Foundation has been dedicated to making a difference in the
lives of young people where we work and live.
As a technology company, we have a responsibility to give back to the community the best way we know. For AvidXchange, that means
finding solutions to problems through a technology lens to empower future generations to be well equipped to partake in today’s digital
economy, which will be even more critical tomorrow. We recognize that barriers to technology education and careers start early in a student’s
life with having access to the right resources throughout their education, which is why we launched Tech Rising – an initiative spearheaded
by the AvidXchange Foundation committed to removing technology barriers and bridging the digital divide to create economic mobility for
youth and young adults.
But we don’t limit our efforts or those of our employees to a singular mission. Corporate giving of all kinds is a part of AvidXchange’s DNA,
and we enable employees who are passionate about giving back to the community – however is most meaningful to them – with paid
volunteer time off. We understand that engaging with our communities and striving to improve the quality of life for our employees and
neighbors is more than an opportunity – it’s our responsibility.
We are committed to sharing our resources and time in support of philanthropic efforts. In demonstration of this commitment, on June 24,
2021, our board of directors approved the reservation of 1,657,296 shares of our common stock (representing approximately 1% of our
issued and outstanding common stock and common stock equivalents as of June 24, 2021) for future issuance to fund our philanthropic
endeavors, including possible issuance to a philanthropic partner in connection with the establishment of a donor-advised fund, over a tenyear period. On October 1, 2021, we executed an agreement with a philanthropic partner and issued the first contribution of 10% of the
pledged shares on October 15, 2021. We intend to provide annual ongoing grants of 10% of the pledged shares for a period of nine
subsequent years, subject in each case to the approval of our board of directors.
As of December 31, 2021, we had over 1,600 full-time, U.S. based employees. We also engage temporary employees and consultants as
needed to support our operations. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or covered by a collective bargaining agreement.
We have not experienced any work stoppages and we consider our relations with our employees to be good.
Competition
We believe the overall market for AP software and payments solutions is highly fragmented, competitive and evolving and is marked by rapid
change and consolidation due to technological innovations and continued adoption by businesses. Although we expect businesses to
continue to adopt AP and payment automation solutions, we often find that we are selling our products and services to potential customers
that have use a variety of separate solutions or internally developed policies and procedures, and we must be able to convince internal
stakeholders that our products and solutions are superior to their existing processes or third-party solutions.
Our current competitors range from fintech companies, such as Bill.com and Coupa Software, and financial institutions to smaller, niche
providers of software and services, as well as point solutions provided by ERP vendors. We compete with companies that offer
comprehensive solutions focused on the entire AP and payment processes and companies that focus only on select portions of these
processes such as invoice and bill presentment, document and workflow management, AP and payment processing or accounts receivable.
Solutions are also often specifically tailored to industry vertical or customer size making it difficult to expand into new verticals or attract larger
or smaller customer types.
Accounting and ERP software providers, financial institutions, payment processing, and other service providers, a number of which we
partner with in offering our solutions, may currently offer or develop solutions, acquire third-party solutions or competitors, or enter into
strategic relationships that would enable them to expand their solutions to compete more effectively with our products and services. These
parties may have access to larger, installed customer bases and may be able to effectively
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bundle and cross sell competitive solutions with their other services, which may enable them to compete more effectively or provide them
with greater pricing and operating flexibility.
Companies that currently focus on providing solutions to enterprise businesses or SMBs may seek to expand the offering of their solutions to
midmarket customers which would be more directly competitive with the products and services that we offer. New entrants not currently
considered to be competitors may also enter the market through acquisitions, partnerships, or strategic relationships.
We currently compete on several factors, including:
•

product and service features, functionality and quality and system stability;

•
integrations with leading accounting and banking systems;
•

our value added services provided through various strategic partnership;

•

pricing and incentives;

•

supplier network;

•

ability to automate existing processes; and

•

customer onboarding time and effort.

We believe that we compare favorably with our competitors on the basis of these factors. We expect the middle market AP software and B2B
payment solutions market to continue to evolve and grow, as greater numbers of middle market and larger businesses digitize their back
offices. We believe that we are well-positioned to help them.
Regulatory Environment
We operate in a complex and evolving regulatory environment. The manner in which existing laws and regulations are applied or new laws
and regulations are implemented in this environment is often unclear and unpredictable, in particular as such laws and regulations relate to
our business in the United States and internationally to the extent we might in the future elect to expand our services outside the United
States.
Most states and certain territories in the United States require a license to engage in certain money transmission or payment services. We
have procured and maintain money transmitter licenses, or the statutory equivalent, in all of the U.S. jurisdictions that currently require them
for our business and actively work to comply with new license requirements as they arise. These licenses enable us to provide commercial
payment services to businesses through AvidXchange, Inc. “for the benefit of customer” bank accounts that are restricted for such purposes
and subject us, among other things, to record-keeping requirements, reporting requirements, bonding requirements, limitations on the
investment of customer funds, and examination by state regulatory agencies.
We are also registered as a Money Services Business with the U.S. Department of Treasury’s Financial Crimes Enforcement Network, or
FinCEN, and are subject to the Bank Secrecy Act ("BSA"), and certain obligations contained therein, including, among other things, certain
record-keeping and reporting requirements, and examinations by FinCEN.
The BSA is the primary compendium of U.S. laws and regulations regarding anti-money laundering ("AML") and countering the financing of
terrorism. As required under the BSA, we have implemented and are continuing to expand an AML program designed to prevent our platform
from being used to facilitate money laundering, terrorist financing, and other financial crimes. Our program is also designed to prevent our
products from being used to facilitate business in certain countries, or with certain persons or entities, which are targets of economic or trade
sanctions that the Office of Foreign Assets Control (the "OFAC") and various foreign authorities administer or enforce. Our AML and
sanctions compliance programs include policies, procedures, reporting protocols, and internal controls, require the designation of a BSA and
AML compliance officer to oversee the programs, and are designed to address our legal and regulatory requirements and to assist in
managing risk associated with sanctions, compliance, money laundering, and terrorist financing.
Although we do not provide consumer services or products, we do collect and use a wide variety of information for various purposes in our
business, including to help ensure the integrity of our services and to provide features and functionality to our customers. Our customers’
data is stored in our platform, and we must monitor and, as applicable, comply with a wide variety of laws and regulations regarding the data
stored and processed on our platform as well as the operation of our business. This may present legal challenges to our business and
operations, such as rights of privacy or intellectual property rights related to the content loaded onto our platform.
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This aspect of our business, including the collection, use, disclosure, and protection of the information we acquire in connection with our
customers’ use of our services, may be subject to certain laws and regulations in the United States. In particular, data privacy and security
with respect to the collection, processing, and retention of personal data or Personally Identifiable Information ("PII") continues to be the
focus of legislation and regulation. In recent years, there have been a number of well-publicized data breaches involving the unauthorized
use and disclosure of individuals’ PII. Many U.S. states have responded to these incidents by enacting laws requiring holders of PII to
maintain safeguards and to take certain actions in response to a data breach, such as providing prompt notification of the breach to affected
individuals and state officials or amending existing laws to expand compliance obligations. Federal laws are also under consideration that
may create additional compliance obligations and penalties. Accordingly, we publish our privacy policies and terms of service, which describe
our practices concerning the use, transmission, and disclosure of information.
In addition, several foreign countries and governmental bodies, including within the European Union, have laws and regulations dealing with
the collection, use, disclosure, and protection of information that are more restrictive than those in the United States. While we believe that
the products and services that we currently offer in the United States do not subject us to such laws or regulations in foreign jurisdictions,
such laws and regulations may be modified or subject to new or different interpretations, new laws and regulations may be enacted, or we
may modify or expand our products or services in the future, or acquire a company operating internationally, which may subject us to such
laws and regulations.
Data privacy and security with respect to the collection, processing, and retention of PII continues to be the focus of domestic and worldwide
legislation and regulation. In recent years, there have been a number of well-publicized data breaches involving the unauthorized use and
disclosure of individuals’ PII. Many U.S. states have responded to these incidents by enacting laws requiring holders of personal information
to maintain safeguards and to take certain actions in response to a data breach, such as providing prompt notification of the breach to
affected individuals and state officials or amending existing laws to expand compliance obligations. Federal laws are also under
consideration that may create additional compliance obligations and penalties.
Various regulatory agencies in the United States and in foreign jurisdictions continue to examine a wide variety of issues which may be
applicable to us and may impact our business. These issues include identity theft, account management guidelines, privacy, disclosure rules,
cybersecurity, and marketing. As our business continues to develop and expand, we continue to monitor the additional rules and regulations
that may become relevant or applicable to our business.
Any actual or perceived failure to comply with legal and regulatory requirements may result in, among other things, revocation of required
licenses or registrations, loss of approved status, private litigation, regulatory or governmental investigations, administrative enforcement
actions, sanctions, civil and criminal liability, and constraints on our ability to continue to operate. For an additional discussion on
governmental regulation affecting our business, please see the risk factors related to regulation of our payments business and regulation in
the areas of privacy and data use, under the section titled “Risk Factors — Risks Related to our Business and Industry.”
Intellectual Property
We seek to protect our intellectual property rights by relying upon a combination of contractual measures as well as trademark, copyright,
and trade secret laws.
We rely on trade secrets and confidential information to develop and maintain our competitive position. It is our practice to enter into
confidentiality and invention assignment agreements (or similar agreements) with our employees, consultants, and contractors involved in the
development of intellectual property on our behalf. We also enter into confidentiality agreements with other third parties in order to limit
access to, and disclosure and use of, our confidential information and proprietary information. We further control the use of our proprietary
technology and intellectual property through provisions in our terms of service.
As of December 31, 2021, we had 39 trademark applications and registrations for certain of our logos. We will pursue additional trademark
registrations to the extent we believe it would be beneficial and cost effective. We also own several domain names, including
www.avidxchange.com.
Patents have not historically been a significant part of our intellectual property strategy. We may however pursue patent protection in the
future to the extent we believe it would be beneficial and cost effective.
From time to time we may also use or incorporate certain intellectual property licensed from third parties, including under certain open-source
licenses. Even if any such third-party technology was not available to us on commercially reasonable terms, we believe that alternative
technologies would be available as needed.
Despite our efforts to protect our intellectual property rights, they may not be respected in the future or may be invalidated, circumvented, or
challenged. Our industry is characterized by the existence of a large number of patents and frequent claims and related litigation based on
allegations of patent infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights.
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We believe that competitors will try to develop products that are similar to ours and that may infringe our intellectual property rights. Our
competitors or other third parties may also claim that our solutions infringe upon their intellectual property rights. In particular, some
companies in our industry have extensive patent portfolios and are large and established and have greater resources than we do. From time
to time, third parties have in the past and may in the future assert claims of infringement, misappropriation, and other violations of intellectual
property rights against us or our customers or partners, with whom our agreements may obligate us to indemnify against these claims.
Successful claims of infringement by a third party could prevent us from offering certain products or features, require us to develop alternate,
non-infringing technology, which could require significant time and during which we could be unable to continue to offer our affected products,
require us to obtain a license, which may not be available on reasonable terms or at all, or force us to pay substantial damages, royalties, or
other fees. Moreover, our products may incorporate software components licensed to the general public under open-source software
licenses. Open-source licenses may grant licensees broad permissions to use, copy, modify, and redistribute our platform. As a result, opensource development and license practices can limit the value of our software copyright assets.
For additional information about our intellectual property and associated risks, see the section titled “Risk Factors — Risks Related to our
Business and Industry.”
Available Information
Our principal executive offices are located at 1210 AvidXchange Lane, Charlotte, NC 28206, and our phone number is (800) 560-9305.
We file annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. The SEC maintains an Internet website
at http://www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically
with the SEC, including AvidXchange. We maintain an Internet website at www.avidxchange.com. Information found on our website or that
can be accessed through our website is neither part of this annual report on Form 10-K nor any other report filed with the SEC. You may
obtain a copy of our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those
reports on our Internet website on the earliest practicable date following the filing with the SEC.
ITEM 1A. Risk Factors.
Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should consider and carefully read all of the risks and uncertainties
described below, as well as other information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our Consolidated Financial Statements
and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, before making an investment decision. The risks described
below are not the only ones we face. The occurrence of any of the following risks or additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to
us or that we currently believe to be immaterial could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.
In such case, the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you may lose some or all of your original investment. As discussed in
the section titled "Special Note Regarding Forward Looking Statements," this Annual Report on Form 10-K also contains forward-looking
statements and estimates that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forwardlooking statements as a result of specific factors, including the risks and uncertainties described below.
Summary Risk Factors
•

We have a history of operating losses and we may not achieve or sustain profitability in the future.

•

Our future revenue and operating results will be harmed if we are unable to acquire new customers, retain existing customers,
expand sales to our existing customers, or deliver new features, functionality and integrations for our platform that achieve
market acceptance.

•

Our historical growth may not be indicative of our future performance and our growth is dependent on a number of factors that
we do not control.

•

We participate in highly competitive and fragmented markets, and our industry is rapidly evolving.

•

We transfer large sums of customer funds daily, and are subject to the risk of errors, which could result in financial losses and
damage to our reputation and customer trust.

•

We, our strategic partners, our buyers and suppliers, and others who use our services obtain and process a large amount of
data. Any real or perceived improper or unauthorized use of, exposure of, disclosure of, or access to such data could harm our
reputation as a trusted brand, as well as have a material adverse effect on our business.

•

We earn a substantial portion of our revenue from electronic payment transactions and our growth is dependent upon the
continued acceptance, security and adoption of electronic payment types that result in interchange revenue.
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•

If we lose key members of our team including our Co-Founder and Chief Executive Officer, or if we are unable to attract and
retain talent, our business may be harmed.

•

We may not be able to scale our business and technology quickly enough to meet our growth.

•

We may lose existing customers or fail to attract new customers if we are unable to deliver new software, solutions and
technology for our platform.

•

Uncertain or weakened economic conditions, including as a result of COVID-19, have adversely affected our industry, business
and results of operations resulting in a negative impact on new sales.

•

Political tensions resulting in economic instability, such as due to military activity or civil hostilities among Russia and Ukraine
and the related response, including sanctions or other restrictive actions, by the United States and/or other countries could
adversely affect our industry, business and results of operations.

•

Interruptions or delays in the services provided by third-party data centers or internet service providers could impair the delivery
of our products and services.

•

We are subject to the payment card network rules and our failure to comply with these rules could harm our business.

•

We depend on banks, bank partners and other third-party service providers to process transactions.

•

Our long-term growth strategy depends, in part, on strategic partnerships and indirect sales partners.

•

The loss of one or more of our key customers or strategic partners could negatively affect our ability to market our platform.

•

We use open-source software in our products, which could subject us to litigation or other actions.

•

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, and if we are not able to remediate these
material weaknesses, identify additional material weaknesses in the future or otherwise fail to design, implement, and maintain
an effective internal control over financial reporting, we may be unable to accurately report our financial results in a timely
manner, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and materially and adversely affect our business and operating
results.

•

Our risk management efforts may not be effective to prevent fraudulent activities by our customers or their counterparties or third
parties, which could expose us to material financial losses and liability and otherwise harm our business.

•

Our business, which includes payment services, is subject to extensive government regulation and oversight. Our failure to
comply with extensive, complex, overlapping, and frequently changing rules, regulations, and legal interpretations could
materially harm our business and noncompliance with such laws can subject us to criminal liability.

•

Our 2019 Credit Agreement provides our lenders with a first-priority lien against substantially all of our and our subsidiaries’
assets and personal property, and contains financial covenants and other restrictions on our and our subsidiaries’ actions, which
could limit our operational flexibility and otherwise adversely affect our financial condition.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We have a history of operating losses and we may not achieve or sustain profitability in the future.
We were incorporated in 2000 and have experienced net losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception. We generated net
losses of $199.6 million, $101.2 million and $93.5 million during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. We had
an accumulated deficit of $871.9 million and $672.3 million as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. Our losses and
accumulated total stockholders’ deficit up to our IPO reflect the substantial investments we have made in our people, products and services,
and technology, and to acquire new buyers and suppliers. While we have experienced significant revenue and transaction volume growth in
recent years, we are not certain whether or when we will be able to achieve or maintain profitability in the future.
We also expect our costs and expenses to increase in future periods. In particular, we intend to continue to expend significant funds to invest
in our people, products and services, technology, and the AvidPay Network and to expand our sales and marketing teams and invest in
strategic partnerships and system integrations. We expect our general and administrative costs to also increase, but in general at a slower
rate than our other operating expenses, for the foreseeable future. If we are not able to reduce or maintain the costs of providing our
services, we could face competitive pricing pressure. If we are unable to continue to grow our revenue, or to reduce or maintain the costs of
providing our services, we could continue to suffer increasing operating losses.
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We may incur significant losses in the future for several reasons, including the other risks described herein, and unforeseen expenses,
difficulties, complications, delays, and other unknown events. If we are unable to achieve and sustain profitability, the value of our business
and stock may significantly decrease.
Our future revenue and operating results will be harmed if we are unable to acquire new customers, retain existing customers,
expand sales to our existing customers, or deliver new features, functionality and integrations for our platform that achieve market
acceptance.
To continue to grow our business, it is important that we continue to attract new buyers and suppliers to use our platform. Our success in
adding new buyers depends on numerous factors, including our ability to: (1) offer compelling AP automation products and services and
features in the markets and industries we serve, (2) execute our sales and marketing strategy, (3) attract, effectively train and retain new
sales, marketing, professional services, and support personnel in the markets we pursue, (4) develop or expand relationships with partners,
payment providers, systems integrators, and resellers, (5) expand into new industry verticals, geographies, and market segments, which may
require specific product and service features that we do not currently provide, (6) efficiently onboard new buyers on to our platform, (7)
efficiently add more suppliers to our network and continue to drive increased adoption of electronic forms of payment, (8) execute a
successful mergers and acquisitions strategy, and (9) provide additional paid services that complement the capabilities of our customers and
their partners.
Our ability to increase revenue also depends in part on our ability to retain existing buyers and suppliers, sell more functionality and to
increase product penetration to existing and new buyers and suppliers. Our buyers have no obligation to renew their subscriptions for our
solutions after the expiration of their initial subscription period. In addition, some of our buyers can terminate their existing agreements with
us prior to the expiration of the current contract terms. Our ability to increase sales to existing buyers depends on several factors, including
their experience with implementing and using our platform, their ability to integrate our platform with other technologies, and our pricing
model. Suppliers in our network select their preferred method of payment, which may include VCC, ACH, or check, based on their internal
business rules, preferences, or perceived value, which may change at any time. Our ability to increase sales to suppliers already in our
AvidPay Network depends on several factors, including their experience enrolling in and using our platform, development of new supplier
product offerings, and our pricing model.
Given the highly fragmented nature of the middle market, and the unique challenges faced by middle market customers, the lack of certain
product features, product functionality and system integrations has from time to time limited our ability to sell our products and services more
deeply into certain of the sub-markets and industries that we serve and has limited our ability to expand into new industry verticals and submarkets. If we are unable to deliver new product and services features and functionalities and system integrations, or keep pace with current
technological developments, in each case in a timely manner, or if our new product and services features and functionalities and system
integrations do not achieve acceptance in the market and industries we serve, our competitive position may be impaired, and our potential to
generate new revenue or to retain existing revenue could be diminished. The adverse effect on our financial results may be particularly acute
because of the significant research, development, marketing, sales, and other expenses we will have incurred in connection with the new
functionality and services.
Our historical growth may not be indicative of our future performance and we may not be able to sustain our current growth rate,
which is dependent on a number of factors that we do not control.
Although we have experienced significant historical revenue and transaction volume growth, we expect that, in the future, as our revenue and
transaction volumes increase to higher levels, our growth rates may decline over time. Our revenue and transaction volume growth depends
on a number of factors, including our ability to:
•

attract and retain buyers and suppliers and grow the AvidPay Network and drive the use of our products and services across our
customer base;

•

expand the functionality and scope of the products and services we offer;

•

expand into new and existing verticals and industries and geographies which may require specific product and service features
that we do not currently provide;

•

drive the acceptance and use of electronic payment types that result in interchange revenue;

•

successfully invest in our technology, products and people;

•

develop new integrations with third party accounting systems;

•

manage the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the spread of variants such as the Delta and Omicron variant, on our
business and operations including our sales and marketing efforts;
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•

execute a successful mergers and acquisition strategy;

•

enter into new strategic partnerships to continue our business;

•

convince the stakeholders of potential buyers to outsource functions that they have traditionally handled internally; and

•

price our products and services effectively.

Further, the revenue that we derive from our invoice and payment transaction volume is dependent on several factors that we do not control.
These factors include the number of invoices and payments submitted through our system, card brand interchange rates and tiers, payment
amounts and types, the payment method selected by suppliers in our network, and competitive pricing pressure on products and incentives.
These factors make it difficult for us to control or forecast our future operating results and growth. If the assumptions we use to plan our
business are incorrect or change, or if we are unable to maintain consistent revenue or revenue growth, it may be difficult to achieve and
maintain profitability and the value of our business could be negatively impacted. You should not rely on our growth rates from any prior
periods as any indication of our future growth.
We participate in highly competitive and fragmented markets, and our industry is rapidly evolving.
The AP and payments markets are highly fragmented and competitive and evolving. As businesses continue to adopt AP and payment
automation solutions, we expect existing competitors and new market entrants to offer new and enhanced products and services and we
expect the competitive environment to remain intense going forward. We currently compete on several factors, including:
•

product and service features, functionality and quality and system stability;

•

integrations with leading accounting and banking systems;

•

pricing and incentives;

•

supplier network;

•

ability to automate existing processes; and

•

customer onboarding time and effort.

Our current competitors range from other fintech companies and financial institutions to smaller, niche providers of software and services. We
compete with companies that offer comprehensive solutions focused on the entire AP and payment processes and companies that focus only
on select portions of these processes such as invoice and bill presentment, document and workflow management, AP and payment
processing or accounts receivables. Solutions are also often specifically tailored to industry vertical or customer size making it difficult to
expand into new verticals or attract larger or smaller customer types.
Accounting and enterprise resource planning ("ERP") software providers, financial institutions, payment processing, and other service
providers, a number of which we partner with in offering our solutions, may currently offer or develop solutions, acquire third-party solutions
or competitors, or enter into strategic relationships that would enable them to expand their solutions to compete more effectively with our
products and services. These parties may have access to larger, installed customer bases and may be able to effectively bundle and cross
sell competitive solutions with their other services, which may enable them to compete more effectively or provide them with greater pricing
and operating flexibility.
Companies that currently focus on providing solutions to enterprise businesses or SMBs may seek to expand the offering of their solutions to
midmarket customers which would be more directly competitive with the products and services that we offer and we are continuing to see
increased competition in the middle market from competitors going upstream and downstream from their traditional markets. New entrants
not currently considered to be competitors may also enter the market through acquisitions, partnerships, or strategic relationships.
We often find that we are selling our products and services to potential customers that have not adopted a competing third-party solution and
we must be able to convince internal stakeholders that our products and solutions are superior to their existing processes or third-party
solutions.
For the reasons mentioned above, we may not be able to compete successfully against our current or future competitors, and this
competition could result in the failure of our products and services to continue to achieve or maintain market acceptance, any of which would
harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.
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We transfer large sums of customer funds daily, and are subject to the risk of errors, which could result in financial losses and
damage to our reputation and customer trust.
We processed approximately 62 million transactions for our customers in 2021. We have grown rapidly and seek to continue to grow, and
although we maintain risk management processes, our business is always subject to the risk of financial losses as a result of operational
errors, software defects, service disruption, third party fraud, employee misconduct, security breaches, credit losses, or other similar actions
or errors. Furthermore, for 2018 and throughout 2021, we identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting
relating to our reconciliation of funds held for customers. While we have remediated this material weakness in 2021, we may experience
additional material weaknesses in the future.
As a provider of AP and payment solutions, we collect and transfer funds on behalf of our customers. Software errors in our platform and
operational errors by our employees and business partners may also expose us to losses. Moreover, our trustworthiness and reputation are
fundamental to our business. As a provider of cloud- based software for complex back-office financial operations, the occurrence of any
operational errors, software defects, service disruption, third party fraud, employee misconduct, security breaches, credit losses or other
similar actions or errors on our platform could result in financial losses to our business and our customers, loss of trust, damage to our
reputation, or termination of our agreements with strategic partners and accountants, each of which could result in:
•

loss of buyers and suppliers;

•

lost or delayed market acceptance and sales of our products and services;

•

legal claims against us, including warranty and service level agreement claims;

•

regulatory enforcement action;

•

diversion of our resources, including through increased service expenses; and

•

financial concessions, and increased insurance costs.

Although our terms of service generally allocate to our customers the risk of loss resulting from our customers’ errors, omissions, employee
fraud, or other fraudulent activity related to their systems, some of our customers may be able to negotiate changes to this position or in
some instances we may cover such losses for efficiency or to prevent damage to our reputation, irrespective of fault or our terms of service.
Although we maintain insurance to cover losses resulting from our errors and omissions, there can be no assurance that our insurance will
cover all losses or our coverage will be sufficient to cover our losses. If we suffer significant losses or reputational harm as a result, our
business, operating results, and financial condition could be adversely affected.
We, our strategic partners, our buyers and suppliers, and others who use our services obtain and process a large amount of data.
Any real or perceived improper or unauthorized use of, exposure of, disclosure of, or access to such data could harm our
reputation as a trusted brand, as well as have a material adverse effect on our business.
We, our strategic partners, our buyers and suppliers, and the third-party vendors and data centers that we use, obtain and process large
amounts of data, including confidential information, along with personal and other data related to our buyers and suppliers and their
transactions, as well as other data of the counterparties to their payments. We face risks, including financial risks and risks to our reputation
as a trusted brand, in the handling and protection of this data, and these risks will increase as our business continues to expand to include
new products and technologies.
Cybersecurity incidents and malicious internet-based activity continue to increase generally, and providers of cloud-based services, including
us, financial institutions and other providers of financial services, have frequently been targeted by such attacks. Additionally, we expect to
see an increase in cybersecurity incidents and malicious internet-based activity, including events directed by state sponsored entities,
resulting from the military activity and civil hostilities between Russia and Ukraine and the related sanctions and other restrictive actions
imposed by the United States and other countries. These cybersecurity challenges, including threats to our own IT infrastructure or those of
our customers or third-party providers, may take a variety of forms ranging from stolen bank accounts, business email compromise, customer
employee fraud, supply-chain attacks ,ransomware, account takeover, check fraud, or cybersecurity attacks, to “mega breaches” targeted
against cloud-based services and other hosted software, which could be initiated by individual or groups of hackers or sophisticated cyber
criminals. A cybersecurity incident or breach could result in disclosure of data and intellectual property, or cause production downtimes and
compromised data. We have in the past experienced cybersecurity incidents of limited scale such as phishing attempts to compromise
employee email and malware. We may be unable to anticipate or prevent techniques used in the future to obtain unauthorized access or to
sabotage systems because they change frequently and often are not detected until after an incident has occurred. As we increase our
customer base and our brand becomes more widely known and recognized, third parties may
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increasingly seek to compromise our security controls or gain unauthorized access to our sensitive corporate information or our customers’
data.
We have administrative, technical, and physical security measures in place, and perform periodic penetration tests of our environment. We
additionally have policies and procedures in place to contractually require service providers to whom we disclose data to implement and
maintain reasonable privacy and security measures. However, if our protection or security measures or those of the previously mentioned
third parties are inadequate or expose vulnerabilities or are breached as a result of third-party action, employee or contractor action or
inaction, malfeasance, malware, phishing, hacking attacks, system error, software bugs or defects in our products, trickery, process failure, or
otherwise, and, as a result, there is improper disclosure of, or someone obtains unauthorized access to or exfiltrates funds or sensitive
information, including PII, on our systems or our partners’ systems, or if we suffer a ransomware or advanced persistent threat attack ,or if
any of the foregoing is reported or perceived to have occurred, our reputation and business could be damaged. Recent high-profile security
breaches and related disclosures of data by large institutions suggest that the risk of such events is significant, even if privacy protection and
security measures are implemented and enforced. If sensitive information is lost or improperly disclosed or threatened to be disclosed, we
could incur significant costs associated with remediation and the implementation of additional security measures, and may incur significant
liability and financial loss, and be subject to regulatory scrutiny, investigations, proceedings, and penalties.
In addition, if our financial institutions or strategic partners conclude that our systems and procedures are insufficiently rigorous, they could
terminate their relationships with us, and our financial results and business could be adversely affected. If there is a breach of the information
that we store, we could be liable to our partners for their losses and related expenses. Additionally, if our own confidential business
information were improperly disclosed, our business could be materially and adversely affected. A core aspect of our business is the
reliability and security of our platform. Any perceived or actual breach of security, regardless of how it occurs or the extent of the breach,
could have a significant impact on our reputation as a trusted brand, cause us to lose existing partners or other customers, prevent us from
obtaining new partners and other customers, require us to expend significant funds to remedy problems caused by breaches and implement
measures to prevent further breaches, and expose us to legal risk and potential liability including those resulting from governmental or
regulatory investigations, class action litigation, and costs associated with remediation, such as fraud monitoring and forensics. Any actual or
perceived security breach at a company providing services to us or our customers could have similar effects.
While we maintain cybersecurity insurance, our insurance may be insufficient or may not cover all liabilities incurred by such incidents. We
also cannot be certain that our insurance coverage will be adequate for data handling or data security liabilities actually incurred, that
insurance will continue to be available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all, or that any insurer will not deny coverage as to any
future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of
changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could
have a material adverse effect on our business, including our financial condition, operating results, and reputation.
We earn a substantial portion of our revenue from electronic payment transactions and our growth is dependent upon the
continued acceptance, security and adoption of electronic payment types that result in interchange revenue.
We earn a substantial portion of our revenue from VCC and ACH payment transactions paid to suppliers in our network and our growth is
dependent upon the continued acceptance, security, and adoption of electronic payment types that result in interchange revenue on the
amount of the transactions. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, we earned approximately $150.7 million in revenue from VCC
and AvidPay Direct paid through our network.
Although we expect businesses to continue to accept and adopt electronic forms of payment, we do not mandate a specific payment type in
our network and the adoption rates of electronic payments in AP transactions could erode or grow more slowly than expected. Suppliers in
our network select their preferred method of payment, which may include VCC, ACH, or check, based on their internal business rules,
preferences, or perceived value, which may change at any time. Additionally, accounts receivable, or AR, service providers market and sell
their AR services to suppliers and groups of supplier types in our network. These service providers may not accept electronic payments and
may convert existing suppliers in our network that accept electronic payments to check. Suppliers in our network, and those AR service
providers, may, with or without advance notice, prohibit or impose restrictions on the methods we use to provide or deliver electronic
payments, including by changing or including restrictions in the terms of use or service of online portals through which we make payments,
that we may not be aware of or be able to comply with, seek to negotiate reduced pricing, or charge fees in order to accept electronic
payments. Certain suppliers, including, larger enterprise suppliers, industries and verticals are also less inclined to accept electronic forms of
payment which may limit our ability to successfully expand into new industries or verticals. We have experienced, and may in the future
experience, fluctuations in quarterly revenue resulting from suppliers or AR service providers changing their preferred method of payment in
our network or leveraging data to reduce their interchange rates.
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The revenue we receive from electronic payment transactions is also dependent upon a number of factors, many of which we do not control,
including the continued acceptance and adoption by businesses of electronic payments, interchange rates which we expect may decline over
time, fees charged by suppliers to accept electronic payments, buyer incentives, and the terms of our commercial agreements with third-party
service providers that are involved in the payment process. Widespread adoption of new forms of electronic payments, such as real time
payments, could also negatively impact the revenue we receive from electronic payment transactions.
If we lose key members of our team including our Co-Founder and Chief Executive Officer, or if we are unable to attract and retain
talent, our business may be harmed.
Our success and future growth depend upon the continued services of our team and other key employees. Our Co-Founder and Chief
Executive Officer, Michael Praeger, is critical to our overall strategic direction, our culture, and the development of key products, partnerships
and relationships. Our senior management and key employees are employed on an at-will basis. The loss of our chief executive officer, one
or more members of our senior management, or other key employees, could harm our business, and we may not be able to find adequate
replacements.
To execute our business strategy, we must attract and retain highly qualified personnel. Our headquarters and primary center of employment
is in Charlotte, North Carolina. In general, the talent pool in Charlotte may be smaller than in other geographic areas. Competition for
executive officers, software developers and engineers, compliance and risk management personnel, and other key employees in our industry
and location is intense and increasing, and we may not be able to attract the talent we need to grow and succeed. We compete with many
other companies for software developers with high levels of experience in designing, developing, and managing cloud-based software and
payment systems, as well as for skilled legal and compliance and risk operations professionals. The current regulatory environment related to
immigration may increase the likelihood that immigration laws may be modified to further limit the availability of H1-B and other visas. If a
new or revised visa program is implemented, it may impact our ability to recruit, hire, retain or effectively collaborate with qualified skilled
personnel, including in the areas of artificial intelligence and machine learning, payment systems and risk management, which could
adversely impact our business, operating results and financial condition. Many of the companies with which we compete for experienced
personnel have greater resources than we do and can frequently offer such personnel substantially greater compensation than we can offer,
and may be in geographies perceived by some employees as more desirable. If we fail to identify, attract, develop, and integrate new
personnel, or fail to retain and motivate our current personnel, our growth prospects would be adversely affected.
We may not be able to scale our business and technology quickly enough to meet our growth.
As we continue to grow and process additional transactions, and as we sign additional strategic partners, we will need to devote additional
resources to improving and maintaining our infrastructure and computer network and integrating with third-party applications to maintain the
performance of our platform. In addition, we will need to appropriately scale our internal business systems and our services organization,
including customer support, risk and compliance operations, and professional services, to serve our growing customer base.
We have also experienced, and may in the future experience, disruptions, outages and other performance problems that interfere with our
customers’ ability to access and use our products and services. These events may be caused by a variety of factors, including capacity
constraints due to increased use and transaction volumes, legacy infrastructure, architecture, code and processes, and software and human
errors. It may become increasingly difficult to maintain and improve the performance of our platform and our products and services especially
during peak usage times and as our solutions become more complex.
Any failure of or delay in our efforts to maintain, improve and scale our technology, infrastructure and platform could result in service
interruptions, impaired system performance, and reduced customer satisfaction, resulting in decreased sales to new customers, lower
renewal rates by existing customers, or higher rates of requested refunds, all of which could hurt our revenue growth. Even if we are
successful in these efforts to scale our business, they will be expensive and complex, and require the dedication of significant management
time and attention. We could also face inefficiencies or service disruptions as a result of our efforts to scale our internal infrastructure. We
cannot be sure that the expansion and improvements to our internal infrastructure will be effectively implemented on a timely basis, if at all,
and such failures could adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.
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We may lose existing customers or fail to attract new customers if we are unable to deliver new software, solutions and technology
for our platform.
Our success depends on our continued development of new and improved AP automation software and payment solutions and related
technology and the continued automation of payments processes. If we are unable to deliver new products or services, or to enhance
existing products and services, that achieve market acceptance or if we are unable to integrate technology, products and services that we
acquire into our platform, our business could be adversely affected through increased attrition of current customers or slower addition of new
customers. We have experienced, and may in the future experience, delays in the planned release dates of enhancements to our platform,
and we have discovered, and may in the future discover, errors in new releases after their introduction. Either situation could result in
adverse publicity, loss of sales, delay in market acceptance of our platform or customer claims, including, among other things, warranty
claims against us, any of which could cause us to lose existing customers or affect our ability to attract new customers.
Interruptions or delays in the services provided by third-party data centers or internet service providers could impair the delivery
of our products and services.
We host our products and platform on a hybrid cloud platform leveraging public cloud infrastructure services and co-located infrastructure in
datacenter facilities. Public cloud services are provided by Microsoft Azure, and others which include infrastructure as a service and use a
service technologies platform. All products utilize resources operated by us through these providers, therefore, we depend on these third
parties to protect their data centers against damage or interruption from natural disasters, power or telecommunications failures, criminal
acts, and similar events. We have periodically experienced service disruptions in the past, and we cannot assure you that we will not
experience interruptions or delays in our service in the future. Many of our core products are run in production from a single data center in
Charlotte, North Carolina. If that data center were not available to us due to damage or otherwise, we would have to operate using our
disaster recovery plan, as we do not have a fully redundant system for all of our core functions. This could cause substantial disruption in our
operations if we were not able to move our main processes in a timely manner to a backup data center. We may also incur significant costs
for using alternative equipment or taking other actions in preparation for, or in reaction to, events that damage the data storage services we
use.
Although we have disaster recovery plans, any incident affecting the infrastructure of our third-party providers that may be caused by fire,
flood, severe storm, earthquake, power loss, telecommunications failures, unauthorized intrusion, computer viruses and disabling devices,
natural disasters, military actions, terrorist attacks, negligence, and other similar events beyond our control could negatively affect our
platform. Any prolonged service disruption affecting our platform for any of the foregoing reasons could damage our reputation with current
and potential customers, expose us to liability, cause us to lose customers, or otherwise harm our business. System failures or outages,
including any potential disruptions due to significantly increased global demand on certain cloud-based systems during the COVID-19
pandemic, could compromise our ability to perform these functions in a timely manner, which could harm our ability to conduct business or
delay our financial reporting.
Our platform is accessed by many customers, often at the same time. As we continue to expand the number of our customers and products
available to our customers, we may not be able to scale our technology to accommodate the increased capacity requirements, which may
result in interruptions or delays in service. In addition, the failure of data centers, internet service providers, or other third-party service
providers to meet our capacity requirements could result in interruptions or delays in access to our platform or impede our ability to grow our
business and scale our operations. If our third-party infrastructure service agreements are terminated, or there is a lapse of service,
interruption of internet service provider connectivity, or damage to data centers, we could experience interruptions in access to our platform
as well as delays and additional expense in arranging new facilities and services.
Moreover, we are currently executing on a long-term strategy to transition to public cloud services completely and decommission on-premise
infrastructure hosted in co-located datacenters. As this transition occurs, it is possible that the availability of the platform may be impacted
and outages or disruptions may occur. Although we have a disaster recovery program, it does not yet provide full redundancy, so there will be
a period of time that our platform will remain shut down while the transition to the back-up data centers take place. We were informed in June
2021 that our current lease for our core data center in Charlotte will terminate in September 2022. We have decided to accelerate the move
of our infrastructure to public cloud services and remain on track to do so before September 2022. Any service disruption affecting our
platform during such migration or while operating on the Azure cloud infrastructure could damage our reputation with current and potential
customers, expose us to liability, cause us to lose customers, or otherwise harm our business.
18

Future acquisitions, strategic investments, partnerships, collaborations, or alliances could be difficult to identify and integrate,
divert the attention of management, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value, and adversely affect our operating results and
financial condition.
Like we have in the past with our acquisitions of Piracle, Strongroom, Ariett, Entryless, BankTEL, and Core Associates and most recently
FastPay, we may in the future seek to acquire or invest in businesses, products, or technologies that we believe could complement or expand
our platform, enhance our technical capabilities, or otherwise offer growth opportunities. The pursuit of potential acquisitions may divert the
attention of management and cause us to incur various expenses in identifying, investigating, and pursuing suitable acquisitions, whether or
not such acquisitions are completed. In addition, we may not successfully identify desirable acquisition targets, or if we acquire additional
businesses, we may not be able to integrate them effectively following the acquisition or effectively manage the combined business following
the acquisition or achieve our desired synergies. Integration may prove to be difficult due to the necessity of integrating personnel with
disparate business backgrounds and who are accustomed to different corporate cultures.
We also may not achieve the anticipated benefits from any acquired business due to a number of factors, including:
•

inability to integrate or benefit from acquired technologies or services in a profitable manner;

•

unanticipated costs or liabilities, including legal liabilities, associated with the acquisition;

•

difficulties and additional expenses associated with supporting legacy products and hosting infrastructure of the acquired
business;

•

difficulty converting the customers of the acquired business into our current and future offerings and contract terms, including
disparities in the revenue model of the acquired company;

•

diversion of management’s attention or resources from other business concerns;

•

adverse effects on our existing business relationships with customers, members, or strategic partners as a result of the
acquisition;

•

the potential loss of key employees; and

•

use of substantial portions of our available cash to consummate the acquisition.

Acquisitions could result in lower cash reserves, possible dilutive issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of debt, as well as
unfavorable accounting treatment. Any such issuances of additional capital stock may cause stockholders to experience significant dilution of
their ownership interests and the per share value of our common stock to decline. In addition, a significant portion of the purchase price of
any companies we acquire may be allocated to acquired goodwill and other intangible assets, which must be assessed for impairment at
least annually. We also may not generate sufficient financial returns to offset the costs and expenses related to any acquisitions. If our
acquisitions do not yield expected returns, we may be required to take charges to our results of operations based on this impairment
assessment process, and our business, operating results and financial condition may suffer.
Failure to effectively develop and expand our sales and marketing capabilities could harm our ability to increase our base of
buyers and suppliers and achieve broader market acceptance of our products.
Our ability to increase our base of buyers and suppliers and achieve broader market acceptance of our platform will depend to a significant
extent on our ability to expand our sales and marketing organizations, and to deploy our sales and marketing resources efficiently. We plan to
continue expanding our direct sales force as well as our sales force focused on identifying new strategic and indirect sales partners. We also
dedicate significant resources to sales and marketing programs. Our business and operating results will be harmed if those efforts do not
generate significant increases in revenue. We may not achieve anticipated revenue growth from expanding our sales force if we are unable
to hire, develop, integrate, and retain talented and effective sales personnel, if our new and existing sales personnel are unable to achieve
desired productivity levels in a reasonable period of time, or if our sales and marketing programs and advertising are not effective.
We are subject to the payment card network rules and our failure to comply with these rules could harm our business.
We use Mastercard branded VCCs exclusively in connection with our VCC payment service and we are subject to payment card network
operating rules, including the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard, or PCI- DSS. The payment card networks set and interpret the
card operating rules and could adopt new operating rules or interpret or reinterpret existing rules that we or our processors might find difficult
or even impossible to follow, or costly to implement. AvidXchange was not previously PCI-DSS compliant, but recently obtained its PCI-DSS
certification. There can be no assurances that AvidXchange will be able to maintain this certification. Failure to maintain this certification, or
any prior or future violations of existing or new rules of the payment card network, or increased fees, could result in the revocation of our
ability to make payments using VCCs, or such payments could
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become prohibitively expensive for us or for our customers. If we are unable to make buyer payments to suppliers using VCCs, our business
would be adversely affected. We also may seek to introduce other card-related products in the future which may entail additional operating
rules.
If we fail to maintain or grow our brand recognition, our ability to expand our base of suppliers and buyers will be impaired and our
financial condition may suffer.
We believe that growing the AvidXchange brand is important to supporting continued acceptance of our existing and future solutions,
attracting new buyers and suppliers to our platform, and retaining existing buyers and suppliers. We also believe that the importance of brand
recognition will increase as competition in our market increases. Successfully maintaining our brand will depend largely on the effectiveness
of our marketing efforts, our ability to provide a reliable and useful platform to meet the needs of our customers at competitive prices, our
ability to maintain our customers’ trust, our ability to continue to develop new functionality and solutions, and our ability to successfully
differentiate our platform. Additionally, our partners’ performance may affect our brand and reputation if customers do not have a positive
experience. Brand promotion activities may not generate customer awareness or yield increased revenue. Even if they do, any increased
revenue may not offset the expenses we incurred in building our brand. If we fail to successfully promote and maintain our brand, we may fail
to attract enough new customers or retain enough existing customers to realize a sufficient return on our brand-building efforts, and our
business could suffer.
We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, and if we are not
able to remediate these material weaknesses, identify additional material weaknesses in the future or otherwise fail to design,
implement, and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, we may be unable to accurately report our financial
results in a timely manner, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and materially and adversely affect our business
and operating results.
We identified certain control deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting that constituted material weaknesses as of December
31, 2021. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Our
evaluation was based on the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) Internal Control—Integrated
Framework (2013). These material weaknesses are as follows:
•

We lack a sufficient complement of personnel with an appropriate level of accounting knowledge, training, and experience to
appropriately analyze, record and disclose accounting matters timely and accurately. This material weakness contributed to an
additional material weakness in which we did not design and maintain effective controls over the preparation and review of the
statement of cash flows.

These material weaknesses resulted in material misstatements related to our preferred stock, additional-paid-in-capital accounts, and the
classification of cash flows from operating and investing activities as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, which resulted in the
restatement of the 2019 consolidated financial statements, errors identified and corrected in the aforementioned accounts as of and for the
periods ended December 31, 2020 and June 30, 2021, and in immaterial misstatements related to our cost of revenues, sales and marketing
expense, research and development expense, general and administrative expense, and additional-paid-in-capital accounts, which resulted in
the revision of our December 31, 2020 and June 30, 2021 financial statements. Additionally, these material weaknesses could result in a
misstatement of substantially all of our accounts or disclosures that such material weaknesses could result in a material misstatement to the
annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected.
To respond to these material weaknesses, we have devoted, and plan to continue to devote, significant effort and resources to the
remediation and improvement of our internal control over financial reporting. The elements of our remediation plan can only be accomplished
over time, and we can offer no assurance that these initiatives will ultimately have the intended effect.
Any failure to design, implement, and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, could adversely impact our ability to report
our financial position and results of operations on a timely and accurate basis, which may cause investors to lose confidence in our reported
financial information. Ineffective internal control over financial reporting could limit our access to capital markets, adversely affect our results
of operations and/or lead to a decline in the trading price of our common stock. If our financial statements are not filed on a timely basis, we
could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the stock exchange on which our common stock is listed. Additionally, ineffective internal
control over financial reporting could expose us to an increased risk of fraud or misappropriation of assets and subject us to potential
delisting from the stock exchange on which we list our common stock, to other regulatory investigations, and to civil or criminal sanctions.
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Customer funds held by us are subject to market, interest rate, credit, and liquidity risks, as well as general economic and political
conditions. The loss of these funds could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.
We arrange for funds of our customers, including funds that will be remitted to suppliers, to be held in trust in cash or cash equivalents, and
these funds may be invested in highly liquid, investment-grade marketable securities and money market securities from time to time.
Nevertheless, our customer fund assets are subject to general market, interest rate, credit, and liquidity risks. These risks may be
exacerbated, individually or in aggregate, during periods of heavy financial market volatility.
In the event of a financial crisis, such as that experienced in 2008 and such as that which has resulted, or may result, from the COVID-19
pandemic, political tensions resulting in economic instability, such as due to military activity or civil hostilities among Russia and Ukraine and
the related response, including sanctions or other restrictive actions, by the United States and/or other countries, or other similar events,
employment levels and interest rates may decrease with a corresponding impact on our business. As a result, we could experience a
constriction in the availability of liquidity, which may impact our ability to fulfill our obligations to enable the movement of customer funds to
the intended recipients. Additionally, we rely upon certain banking partners and other third parties to originate ACH payments, process
checks, execute wire transfers, and issue VCCs, and these banking partners and other third parties could be similarly affected by a liquidity
shortage or sanctions or other restrictive actions by governmental agencies, which may further exacerbate our ability to operate our
business. Any material loss of or inability to access customer funds could have an adverse impact on our cash position and results of
operations, could require us to obtain additional sources of liquidity, and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.
We are licensed as a money transmitter (or statutory equivalent) in all U.S. jurisdictions where, to the best of our knowledge, licensure is
required for our business. Accordingly, we are subject to direct regulation by the licensing authorities of the jurisdictions where we are
licensed. In certain jurisdictions where we operate, we are required to hold eligible liquid assets, as defined by the relevant regulatory
authority, equal to at least 100% of the aggregate amount of any outstanding customer liabilities. Our ability to manage and accurately
account for the assets underlying our customer funds and comply with applicable liquid asset requirements requires a high level of internal
controls. As our business continues to grow and we expand our product offerings, it may be necessary to scale the applicable internal
controls. Our success requires significant public confidence in our ability to properly manage our customers’ balances and handle large and
growing transaction volumes and amounts of customer funds. Any failure to maintain the necessary controls or to accurately manage our
customer funds and the assets underlying our customer funds in compliance with applicable regulatory requirements could result in
reputational harm, lead customers to discontinue or reduce their use of our products, and result in significant penalties and fines, up to and
including the loss of our state money transmitter licenses, which would materially harm our business.
We depend on banks, bank partners and other third-party service providers to process transactions.
We depend on bank partners and other third-party service providers, including KeyBank, Comdata Inc., Fiserv Solutions and Fidelity
Information Services, to process electronic payment transactions and check payments for our customers. We have entered into treasury
services agreements and other arrangements with our bank partners and other third-party service providers for payment processing and
related services. If these arrangements are terminated for any reason, or if services provided by our bank partners and other third-party
service providers are interrupted, we could experience delays, interruptions, and additional costs in processing payments for our customers.
We also depend on third-party service providers for other critical functions, including customer invoicing and scanning solutions. We have
entered into service agreements with these third-party service providers for scanning, indexing and related services, and these agreements
include significant security, compliance, and operational obligations. If our agreements with the scanning and/or indexing partners are
terminated for any reason, we could experience service interruptions as well as delays and additional expenses in arranging for new
services.
Our business depends, in part, on our relationships with providers of accounting and ERP solutions.
Our relationships with accounting and ERP solutions partners are integral to our ability to deliver our products and services particularly to our
buyer customers. We rely upon their cooperation to develop and maintain integrations between our products and services and their
respective solutions. These integrations allow information to be communicated between our products and services and our customers’
accounting systems. These partners may also market and promote our products and services to customers. We may also compete with
accounting and ERP solution providers from time to time that have developed or offer third party products and services that are competitive
with our products and services.
Furthermore, if our current partners decided instead to design their own AP solutions, that could harm our business.
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If we were unable to continue these relationships and add relationships with new accounting and ERP solutions partners, our growth
prospects could be negatively impacted by not being able to offer necessary integrations to customers.
Our long-term growth strategy depends, in part, on strategic partnerships and indirect sales partners.
We intend to continue to expand our current strategic partner relationships and to develop new strategic partner relationships to expand our
sales and marketing efforts that we believe will allow us to sell and market our services in existing and new markets. Establishing strategic
partner relationships, particularly with our financial institution customers and accounting software providers, entails extensive and highly
specific upfront sales efforts, with little predictability and various ancillary requirements.
For example, our partners may require us to submit to an exhaustive security audit, given the sensitivity and importance of storing their
customer billing and payment data on our platform. As a result, formalizing and maintaining new strategic partner relationships involve a
degree of effort and risks that may not be present or that are present to a lesser extent with direct customer sales. With strategic partners,
the decision to enter into a relationship with us frequently requires the approval of multiple management personnel and technical personnel.
Additionally, sales to strategic partners’ customers may require us to invest more time educating and selling to these potential customers.
Purchases of our services by customers of strategic partners are also frequently subject to delays and require considerable efforts to
negotiate and document relationships with them. Further, we may integrate our platform with our strategic partners’ own websites and apps,
which requires significant time and resources to design and deploy both before and after marketing and sales efforts begin. If we are unable
to increase sales of our services through strategic partners and to manage the costs associated with these relationships, including without
limitation, integrating with their systems and ongoing training for their marketing and sales personnel, our business, financial position, and
operating results may be adversely affected.
Our ability to attract new strategic partners may be limited by our commitments to provide our existing strategic partners with certain
exclusivity and/or first rights to participate in certain channels or territories. We also may not be able to attract new strategic partners if our
potential partners favor our competitors’ products or services over our services or choose to compete with our services directly. Certain of our
strategic partners may have the resources and inclination to develop their own solutions to replace ours. Moreover, strategic partners could
decide to focus on other market segments. Further, there can be no guarantee that our strategic partners will not choose to terminate their
relationships with us for strategic or other reasons. If we are unsuccessful in establishing, growing, or maintaining our relationships with
strategic partners, our ability to compete in the marketplace or to grow our revenue could be impaired, and our results of operations may
suffer.
The loss of one or more of our key buyers or strategic partners could negatively affect our ability to market our platform.
We rely on our reputation and recommendations from key buyers and strategic partners in order to promote our platform. The loss of any of
our key buyers or strategic partners could have a significant impact on our revenues, reputation and our ability to obtain new customers.
Some of our key buyers have the ability to terminate their existing agreements without cause prior to the expiration of the applicable term and
our suppliers, including our larger suppliers, are under no obligation to accept payments in a particular format. In addition, acquisitions of our
buyers could lead to cancellation of our contracts with those customers or by the acquiring companies, thereby reducing the number of our
existing and potential customers.
If we cannot maintain our company culture as we grow, we could lose the innovation, teamwork, passion and focus on execution
that we believe contribute to our success and our business may be harmed.
We believe that a critical component of our success has been our company culture, which is based on our core values of ensuring customer
success, focusing on results and striving for excellence. We have invested substantial time and resources in building our team within this
company culture. As we grow and develop the infrastructure of a public company, we may find it difficult to maintain these important aspects
of our company culture. If we fail to preserve our culture, our ability to retain and recruit personnel and to effectively focus on and pursue our
corporate objectives could be compromised, potentially harming our business.
If we fail to offer high-quality customer support, or if our support is more expensive than anticipated, our business and reputation
could suffer.
Both our buyers and suppliers rely on our customer support services to resolve issues and realize the full benefits provided by our products
and services. High-quality support is also important for the renewal and expansion of our products and services with existing customers. We
primarily provide customer support over chat, email and phone-based support. If we do not help our customers quickly resolve issues and
provide effective ongoing support, or if our support personnel or methods of providing
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support are insufficient to meet the needs of our customers, our ability to retain customers, increase the density of our supplier network and
acquire new customers could suffer, and our reputation with existing or potential customers could be harmed.
Uncertain or weakened economic conditions, including as a result of COVID-19 and the conflict in Ukraine, have adversely affected
and may continue to adversely affect our industry, business and results of operations resulting in a negative impact on new sales.
Our overall performance depends on general economic conditions, which may be challenging at various times in the future. Financial
developments seemingly unrelated to us or our industry may adversely affect us. Domestic and international economies have from time-totime been impacted by falling demand for a variety of goods and services, tariffs and other trade issues, threatened sovereign defaults and
ratings downgrades, restricted credit, threats to major multinational companies, poor liquidity, reduced corporate profitability, volatility in
credit, equity and foreign exchange markets, bankruptcies and overall uncertainty. For example, COVID-19 has created and may continue to
create significant uncertainty in global financial markets and the long-term economic impact of COVID-19 is highly uncertain. Additionally, the
conflict between Russia and Ukraine has created and is likely to continue to create significant uncertainty in global financial markets although
the short and long-term impact of this conflict on the domestic economy and our business is highly uncertain at this time.
We cannot predict the timing, strength or duration of the current or any future potential economic slowdown in the United States or globally.
These conditions affect the rate of technology spending generally and could adversely affect our customers’ ability or willingness to use our
services, delay prospective customers’ purchasing decisions or reduce the value of payments made on our network, any of which could
adversely affect our results of operations.
Natural catastrophic events and man-made problems such as power-disruptions, computer viruses, data security breaches, war
and terrorism may disrupt our business.
Natural disasters or other catastrophic events may cause damage or disruption to our operations, international commerce and the global
economy, and thus could harm our business. We have a large employee presence in Charlotte, North Carolina and smaller employee groups
in Los Angeles, California, Houston, Texas, Salt Lake City, Utah, Birmingham, Alabama, Columbus, Mississippi, Somerset, New Jersey and
Framingham, Massachusetts, and our primary co-located data center is located in North Carolina. In the event of a major earthquake,
hurricane or catastrophic event such as fire, power loss, telecommunications failure, vandalism, cyber-attack, war, or terrorist attack, we may
be unable to continue our operations and may endure system interruptions, reputational harm, delays in our application development, lengthy
interruptions in our products, breaches of data security, and loss of critical data, all of which could harm our business, operating results, and
financial condition.
Additionally, as computer malware, viruses, and computer hacking, fraudulent use attempts, phishing attacks, and other data security
breaches have become more prevalent, we, and third parties upon which we rely, face increased risk in maintaining the performance,
reliability, security, and availability of our solutions and related services and technical infrastructure to the satisfaction of our customers. Any
such data security breach related to our network infrastructure or information technology systems or to computer hardware we lease from
third parties, could, among other things, harm our reputation and our ability to retain existing customers and attract new customers.
In addition, the insurance we maintain may be insufficient to cover, or may not cover, our losses resulting from disasters, cyber-attacks, or
other business interruptions, and any incidents may result in loss of, or increased costs of, such insurance.
The COVID-19 outbreak has materially impacted the U.S. and global economies generally, and our business specifically, and could
continue to have a material adverse impact on our business, employees, buyers and suppliers and strategic partners.
The COVID-19 outbreak has materially impacted the U.S. and global economies and could continue to have a material adverse impact on
our employees, customers and strategic partners. Beginning generally in March 2020, the outbreak of COVID-19, caused by a novel strain of
the coronavirus became increasingly widespread in the United States and worldwide. Throughout 2020 and 2021, infection and
hospitalization rates in the United States varied and reached record levels at various times—in many cases notwithstanding concurrently
increasing rates of vaccination— largely due to the emergence of new variants that are thought to be more contagious (such as the “Delta”
and "Omicron" variants). Vaccines for COVID-19 and vaccine boosters have been developed and continue to be administered in the United
States and globally, however, uncertainty remains regarding the availability and efficient distribution and administration of vaccines worldwide
as well as long-term vaccine efficacy of vaccines particularly against new variants. Additionally, ongoing uncertainty remains regarding
vaccine receptivity and, in turn, the extent to which vaccination rates will dictate government-imposed restrictions across the markets in which
we transact
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business.

As a result, many jurisdictions in the United States implemented, and may in the future implement, measures to try to contain the virus or
mitigate the associated harm, such as imposing restrictions on travel, social and business gatherings, schools, and the workplace.
Throughout 2021 many business establishments closed or restricted hours or operations due to such government-imposed restrictions. As
virus positivity rates and hospitalization rates fluctuate, and although we have recently seen governmental entities relax mandated
restrictions, we cannot accurately forecast the potential impact of additional outbreaks as government restrictions continue to be relaxed, the
impact of further shelter-in-place or other government restrictions that are implemented in response to new outbreaks, or the impact on the
ability of our buyers and suppliers to remain in business, each of which could continue to have an adverse impact on our business. Due to
the uncertainty of the COVID-19 pandemic, we will continue to assess the situation, including abiding by any government-imposed
restrictions, market-by-market.

We are unable to accurately predict the ultimate impact that the COVID-19 pandemic will continue to have on our business and on our
buyers and suppliers’ operations going forward. These uncertainties will be dictated by the length of time that the disruptions resulting from
the pandemic continue, which will, in turn, depend on the currently unknowable duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic including
any new variants, the impact of new or ongoing governmental regulations that might be imposed in response to the pandemic, the
effectiveness and wide-spread availability of the vaccine, the speed and extent to which normal economic and operating conditions will
resume, and overall changes in consumer behavior.
We also believe that, as a result of these conditions, many buyers have been and may continue to be in the near term reluctant to invest in
the purchase and implementation of our products and services, which has had a negative impact on new sales and has led to longer sales
cycles. These trends have made it more difficult for us to acquire new buyers and have led to greater uncertainty around the timing and
likelihood of closing new sales opportunities that we have already devoted meaningful time and resources to, adversely impacting our future
revenue. We also expect that the severity and timing of the impact from the pandemic, together with any associated recovery, will vary by
industry and may disproportionately impact certain vertical industries and sub- industry markets that we serve today, including those where
we have a significant number of customers such as real estate, home owner associations and financial services.
In response to the outbreak, our company shifted to a work-from-home environment in accordance with its business continuity policy.
Although we have re-opened most of our office locations, and have invited our employees to return to the office, our return to the office poses
additional risks and operational challenges for us. The re-opening of our offices has and may continue to require us to make material
investments in the design, implementation and enforcement of new workplace safety protocols. Additionally, any incidents of actual or
perceived transmission may require us to temporarily close an impacted office, disrupt our operations, expose us to liability from employee
claims, adversely impact employee productivity and morale, and even result in negative publicity and reputational harm. Furthermore, it is
possible that local authorities could impose stay at home orders in jurisdictions where we have opened our offices, which would require us to
close our offices once again and resume remote operations. Even if we follow what we believe to be best practices, it is unlikely that our
measures will completely prevent the transmission of COVID-19 between workers and, because governmental restrictions and positivity rates
vary by jurisdiction, to the extent the jurisdictions in which we transact business are subject to relatively strict restrictions, COVID-19 could
disproportionately adversely affect our operations relative to our competitors.
In response to the outbreak, we also modified existing business practices particularly around employee travel and the cancellation of physical
participation in meetings and other activities including sales events, tradeshows, and conferences, including our annual customer
conference. We believe we are effective at marketing and selling our products in person, and the inability to participate at in person events
may limit our lead generation, marketing and selling efforts. Although we are attempting to resume in-person business activities, including
participation at sales events, tradeshows, and conferences, there can be no assurance if and when such efforts will be successful or, even if
they recommence in full, whether subsequent outbreaks will result in future shelter-in-place or other government restrictions adversely
impacting these sales channels.
The COVID-19 pandemic may also continue to adversely impact our employees and our productivity and the operations of our customers
and our strategic partners. The disruption caused by the pandemic may negatively impact our ability to meet customer demand and our
revenue and profit margins and we may experience delays or changes in customer demand, particularly if customer funding priorities
change.
In addition, the disruption and volatility in the global and domestic capital markets caused by the pandemic may increase the cost of capital
and limit our ability to access capital.
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Both the health and economic aspects of the pandemic are highly fluid and the future course of each is uncertain. For these reasons and
other reasons that may come to light if the COVID-19 pandemic and associated protective or preventative measures expand, we may
experience a material adverse impact on our business operations, revenues and financial condition; however, its ultimate impact is highly
uncertain and subject to change.
Our risk management efforts may not be effective to prevent fraudulent activities by our customers or their counterparties or third
parties, which could expose us to material financial losses and liability and otherwise harm our business.
We offer products and services, including software, that digitize and automate back-office financial operations for a large number of buyers
and execute payments to their suppliers. We are responsible for verifying the identity of our buyers and their users, and monitoring
transactions for fraud. We and our buyers and our suppliers have been in the past, and will continue in the future to be, targeted by parties
who seek to commit acts of financial fraud using techniques such as stolen identities and bank accounts, compromised business email
accounts, employee or insider fraud, account takeover, false applications, and check fraud. We may suffer losses from acts of financial fraud
committed by our buyers and suppliers and their users, our employees or third-parties.
The techniques used to perpetrate fraud on our platform are continually evolving. In addition, when we introduce new products and
functionality, or expand existing products, we may not be able to identify all risks created by the new products or functionality. Our risk
management policies, procedures, techniques, and processes may not be sufficient to identify all of the risks to which we are exposed, to
enable us to prevent or mitigate the risks we have identified, or to identify additional risks to which we may become subject in the future.
Furthermore, our risk management policies, procedures, techniques, and processes may contain errors or our employees or agents may
commit mistakes or errors in judgment as a result of which we may suffer large financial losses. The software-driven and highly automated
nature of our platform could enable criminals and those committing fraud to steal significant amounts of money from businesses like ours. As
greater numbers of customers use our platform, our exposure to material risk losses from a single customer, or from a small number of
customers, will increase.
Our current business and anticipated growth will continue to place significant demands on our risk management efforts, and we will need to
continue developing and improving our existing risk management infrastructure, policies, procedures, techniques, and processes. As
techniques used to perpetrate fraud on our platform evolve, we may need to modify our products or services to mitigate fraud risks. As our
business grows and becomes more complex, we may be less able to forecast and carry appropriate reserves in our books for fraud related
losses.
Further, these types of fraudulent activities on our platform can also expose us to civil and criminal liability, governmental and regulatory
sanctions as well as potentially cause us to be in breach of our contractual obligations to our third-party partners and buyers or suppliers.
Our estimates of market opportunity and forecasts of market growth may prove to be inaccurate, and even if the market in which
we compete achieves the forecasted growth, our business could fail to grow at similar rates as we could fail to capture the market
share that we anticipate.
Market opportunity estimates and growth forecasts are subject to significant uncertainty and are based on assumptions and estimates that
may not prove to be accurate. Our estimates and forecasts relating to the size and expected growth of our market may prove to be
inaccurate. Even if the market in which we compete meets our size estimates and forecasted growth, our business could fail to grow at
similar rates or we could fail to secure the portion of market share we expect.
Our business, which includes payment services, is subject to extensive government regulation and oversight. Our failure to
comply with extensive, complex, overlapping, and frequently changing rules, regulations, and legal interpretations could materially
harm our business and noncompliance with such laws can subject us to criminal and civil liability.
Financial Services Regulation
In addition to the regulatory regimes described elsewhere, the local, state, and federal laws, rules, regulations, licensing schemes, and
industry standards that govern our payment services include, or may in the future include, those relating to banking, invoicing, cross-border
and domestic money transmission, foreign exchange, payment processing and settlement services, and escheatment. These laws, rules,
regulations, licensing schemes, and industry standards are enforced by multiple authorities and governing bodies in the United States,
including federal regulators, self-regulatory organizations, and numerous state and local authorities.
As a licensed money transmitter in various U.S. states and territories, we are subject to a range of restrictions and ongoing compliance
obligations under the money transmitter statutes(or their equivalent) administered by the banking departments of the
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various U.S. states and territories, including requirements with respect to the investment of customer funds, financial recordkeeping and
reporting, reconciliation of customer funds, bonding, minimum capital, disclosure, and inspection, audit or examination by regulatory
authorities concerning various aspects of our business. In a number of cases, evaluation of our compliance efforts depends on regulatory
interpretations that could change over time. In the past, regulators have identified violations or alleged violations of certain statutory and
regulatory regimes, and we have been subject to fines, a state consent order and financial penalties by state regulatory authorities due to
their interpretation and application of their respective state money transmitter regime to our business model.
In the future, as a result of the financial services regulations applicable to our business, we will be subject to routine examinations by state
and federal regulatory authorities; any identified violations or non-compliance during the course of such examinations could subject us to
liability, including governmental fines, restrictions on our business, or other similar enforcement actions, and we could be forced to cease
conducting certain aspects of our business with residents of certain jurisdictions, be forced to change our business practices in certain
jurisdictions, or be required to obtain additional licenses, regulatory approvals, or other similar authorizations. We cannot make any
assurances that we will be able to obtain or maintain any such licenses, regulatory approvals, and other similar authorizations, and there
could be substantial costs and potential product changes involved in maintaining any such licenses, approvals, or other similar
authorizations, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, there are substantial costs involved in maintaining
and renewing those licenses, regulatory approvals, and other similar authorizations that we currently hold, and we could be subject to fines or
other enforcement action if we are found to violate the various requirements applicable to us in connection with maintaining the same. These
factors could impose substantial additional costs on us, involve considerable delay to the development or provision of our products or
services to our customers, require significant and costly operational changes, or prevent us from providing our products or services in any
given market.
Governmental authorities may impose new or additional rules on money transmission, including regulations that:
•

prohibit, restrict, and/or impose taxes or fees on money transmission transactions in, to or from certain countries or with certain
governments, individuals, or entities;

•

impose additional customer identification and customer due diligence requirements;

•

impose additional reporting or recordkeeping requirements, or require enhanced transaction monitoring;

•

limit the types of entities capable of providing money transmission services, or impose additional licensing or registration
requirements;

•

impose higher minimum capital or other financial requirements;

•

limit or restrict the revenue that may be generated from money transmission, including revenue from interest earned on
customer funds, transaction fees, and revenue derived from foreign exchange;

•

require enhanced disclosures to our money transmission customers;

•

require the principal amount of money transmission originated in a country to be invested in that country or held in trust until
paid;

•

limit the number or principal amount of money transmission transactions that may be sent to or from a jurisdiction, whether by an
individual or in the aggregate;

•

restrict or limit our ability to process transactions using centralized databases, for example, by requiring that transactions be
processed using a database maintained in a particular country or region; or

•

impose other requirements in furtherance of their missions.

Other Regulation
Our success and increased visibility may result in increased regulatory oversight and enforcement and more restrictive rules and regulations
that apply to our business. We are subject to a wide variety of local, state and federal laws, rules, regulations, licensing schemes, and
industry standards in the United States, which govern numerous areas important to our business. We will likely become subject to additional
laws, rules, regulations, licensing schemes, and industry standards in other jurisdictions if we expand our operations internationally in the
future. In addition to those laws and regulations described elsewhere, our business is also subject to, without limitation, rules and regulations
applicable to: securities, labor and employment, immigration, competition, data usage and marketing and communications practices. These
are subject to change, including by means of legislative action and/or executive orders and by way of evolving interpretations and
applications of existing statutory and regulatory regimes by the applicable regulatory authorities. Thus, it may be difficult to predict how these
changes will apply to our business and the way we conduct our operations, particularly as we introduce new products and services and
expand into new jurisdictions. We may not be
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able to respond quickly or effectively to regulatory, legislative, or other developments, which, in turn, may impair our ability to offer our
existing or planned features, products, and services and/or increase our cost of doing business.
Although we have a compliance program focused on the laws, rules, regulations, licensing schemes, and industry standards that we have
determined apply to our business, and although we continue to prioritize investments in this program, we can make no assurances that our
employees or contractors will not violate such laws, rules, regulations, licensing schemes, and industry standards. Any failure or perceived
failure to comply with existing or new laws, rules, regulations, licensing schemes, or industry standards (including as a result of any changes
to the interpretation or application of the same), may:
•

subject us to significant fines, penalties, criminal and civil lawsuits, license suspension or revocation, forfeiture of significant
assets, audits, inquiries, whistleblower complaints, adverse media coverage, investigations, and enforcement actions in one or
more jurisdictions by federal, state, local or foreign regulators, state attorneys general, or private plaintiffs who may be acting as
private attorneys general pursuant to various applicable federal, state, and local laws;

•

result in additional compliance and licensure requirements;

•

increase regulatory scrutiny of our business; and

•

restrict our operations and force us to change our business practices or compliance program, make product or operational
changes, or delay planned product launches or improvements.

The complexity of U.S. federal and state regulatory and enforcement regimes, coupled with the scope of any future international operations
and the evolving regulatory environment, could result in a single event giving rise to many overlapping investigations and legal and regulatory
proceedings by multiple government authorities in different jurisdictions.
Any of the foregoing could, individually or in the aggregate, harm our reputation as a trusted provider, damage our brands and business,
cause us to lose existing customers, prevent us from obtaining new customers, require us to expend significant funds to remedy problems
caused by violations and to avoid further violations, expose us to legal or regulatory risk and potential liability, and adversely affect our results
of operations and financial condition.
We are subject to governmental regulation and other legal obligations related to privacy, data protection, and information security,
and our actual or perceived failure to comply with such obligations could harm our business, by resulting in litigation, fines,
penalties, or adverse publicity and reputational damage that may negatively affect the value of our business and decrease the
value of our common stock. Compliance with such laws could also result in additional costs and liabilities to us or inhibit sales of
our products.
Our buyers and other users store personal and business information, financial information and other sensitive information on our platform. In
addition, we receive, store, and process personal and business information and other data from and about actual and prospective customers
and users, in addition to our employees and service providers. Our handling of data may subject us to a variety of laws and regulations,
including regulation by various government agencies. Our data handling also is subject to contractual obligations and industry standards.
The U.S. federal government and various state and foreign governments have adopted or proposed limitations on the collection, distribution,
use, and storage of data relating to individuals and businesses, including the use of contact information and other data for marketing,
advertising, and other communications with individuals and businesses. In the United States, various laws and regulations apply to the
collection, processing, disclosure, and security of certain types of data. The laws and regulations relating to privacy and data security are
evolving, can be subject to significant change, and may result in ever-increasing regulatory and public scrutiny and escalating levels of
enforcement and sanctions. Additionally, the scope and interpretation of the laws that are or may be applicable to us are often uncertain and
may be conflicting, as a result of the rapidly evolving regulatory framework for privacy issues worldwide.
Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with laws, regulations, policies, legal, or contractual obligations, industry standards, or
regulatory guidance relating to privacy or data security, may result in governmental investigations and enforcement actions, litigation, fines
and penalties, or adverse publicity, and could cause our customers and partners to lose trust in us, which could have an adverse effect on
our reputation and business. We expect that there will continue to be new proposed laws, regulations, and industry standards relating to
privacy, data protection, marketing, consumer communications, and information security, and we cannot determine the impact such future
laws, regulations, and standards may have on our business. Future laws, regulations, standards, and other obligations or any changed
interpretation of existing laws or regulations could impair our ability to develop and market new functionality, use particular forms of data, and
maintain and grow our customer base and increase revenue. Future restrictions on the collection, use, sharing, or disclosure of data, or
additional requirements for express
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or implied consent of our customers, partners, or end users for the use and disclosure of such information could require us to incur additional
costs or modify our platform, possibly in a material manner, and could limit our ability to develop new functionality.
As we expand into new jurisdictions, the number of foreign laws, rules, regulations, licensing schemes, and industry standards governing our
business will expand. In addition, as we expand our business and develop new products and services, we may become subject to additional
laws, rules, regulations, licensing schemes, and industry standards. We may not always be able to accurately predict the scope or
applicability of certain laws, rules, regulations, licensing schemes, or industry standards to our business, particularly as we expand into new
areas of operations, which could have a significant negative effect on our existing business and our ability to pursue future plans.
We are subject to governmental laws and requirements regarding economic and trade sanctions, export controls, anti-money
laundering, and counter-terror financing that could impair our ability to compete in international markets or subject us to criminal
or civil liability if we violate them.
Although we currently only operate in the United States, in the future, we may seek to expand internationally. In that case, we would become
subject to additional laws and regulations, and would need to implement new controls to comply with applicable laws and regulations. We are
required to comply with U.S. export control and economic and trade sanctions administered by the OFAC. We have implemented policies
and procedures designed to ensure compliance with these regulations and requirements, as well as similar requirements in other
jurisdictions, to the extent applicable. However, we cannot assure you that such policies and procedures will effectively prevent violations of
these laws in the future. If we fail to comply with applicable export control and economic and trade sanctions laws, we could be subject to
fines or other enforcement actions, which could adversely affect our business. We are also subject to various AML and counter-terrorist
financing laws and regulations around the world that prohibit, among other things, our involvement in transferring the proceeds of criminal
activities. In the United States, most of our services are subject to AML laws and regulations, including the Bank Secrecy Act of 1970, as
amended by the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001, and its implementing regulations, or collectively, the BSA, and other similar laws and
regulations. The BSA, among other things, requires money transmitters to develop and implement risk-based AML programs, to report large
cash transactions and suspicious activity, and, in some cases, to collect and maintain information about customers who use their services
and maintain other transaction records. Regulators in the U.S. and globally continue to increase their scrutiny of compliance with these
obligations, which may require us to further revise or expand our compliance program, including the procedures we use to verify the identity
of our customers and to monitor transactions on our system, including payments to persons outside of the United States. Regulators
regularly re-examine the transaction volume thresholds at which we must obtain and keep applicable records or verify identities of customers,
and any change in such thresholds could result in greater costs for compliance. Regulators and third-party auditors have identified gaps in
our AML program, and we could be subject to potentially significant fines, penalties, inquiries, audits, investigations, enforcement actions,
and criminal and civil liability if such gaps are not sufficiently remediated or our AML program is found to violate the BSA by a regulator.
We are subject to anti-corruption, anti-bribery, and similar laws, and non-compliance with such laws can subject us to criminal or
civil liability and harm our business and reputation.
We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or the FCPA, the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, the
U.S. Travel Act, and other anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws and regulations in any non-U.S. jurisdictions in which we do business. These
laws generally prohibit companies, their employees, and their third-party intermediaries from promising, authorizing, making, offering, or
providing, directly or indirectly, anything of value to foreign government officials or commercial partners for the purpose of obtaining or
retaining business or securing an improper business advantage. These laws also require that we keep accurate books and records and
maintain internal controls and compliance procedures designed to prevent any such actions.
As we increase our international business, our risks under these laws may increase. Although we currently only maintain operations in the
United States, as we increase our international cross-border business and expand operations abroad, we may engage with business
partners and third-party intermediaries to market our services and to obtain necessary permits, licenses, and other regulatory approvals. In
addition, we or our third-party intermediaries may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or
state-owned or affiliated entities. We can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of these third- party intermediaries, our
employees, representatives, contractors, partners, and agents, even if we do not explicitly authorize such activities; and we cannot assure
that all of our employees and agents will comply with applicable anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws and internal policies.
Detecting, investigating, and resolving actual or alleged violations of anti-corruption laws can require a significant diversion of time,
resources, and attention from senior management. In addition, noncompliance with anti-corruption or anti-bribery laws could subject us to
whistleblower complaints, investigations, sanctions, settlements, prosecution, enforcement actions, fines, damages,
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other civil or criminal penalties, injunctions, suspension or debarment from contracting with certain persons, reputational harm, adverse
media coverage, and other collateral consequences. If any subpoenas are received or investigations are launched, or governmental or other
sanctions are imposed, or if we do not prevail in any possible civil or criminal proceeding, our business, results of operations, financial
condition, and growth prospects could be materially harmed. In addition, responding to any action will likely result in a materially significant
diversion of management’s attention and resources and significant defense costs and other professional fees.
Indemnity provisions in various agreements potentially expose us to substantial liability for intellectual property infringement, data
protection, and other losses.
Our agreements with partners and certain customers may include indemnification provisions under which we agree to indemnify them for
losses suffered or incurred as a result of claims of intellectual property infringement, data protection, damages caused by us to property or
persons, or other liabilities relating to or arising from our platform or other contractual obligations. Some of these indemnity agreements
provide for uncapped liability and some indemnity provisions survive termination or expiration of the applicable agreement. Large indemnity
payments could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. Although we normally limit our liability with respect to such
obligations in our contracts with direct customers and with customers acquired through our accounting firm partners, we may still incur
substantial liability, and we may be required to cease use of certain functions of our platform or products, as a result of IP-related claims. Any
dispute with a customer with respect to these obligations could have adverse effects on our relationship with that customer and other existing
or new customers, and harm our business and operating results. In addition, although we carry insurance, our insurance may not be
adequate to indemnify us for all liability that may be imposed, or otherwise protect us from liabilities or damages with respect to claims
alleging compromises of customer data, and any such coverage may not continue to be available to us on acceptable terms or at all.
We could be required to collect additional sales taxes or be subject to other tax liabilities that may increase the costs our
customers would have to pay for our offerings and adversely affect our operating results.
The vast majority of states have considered or adopted laws that impose tax collection obligations on out-of-state companies. States where
we have a nexus may require us to calculate, collect, and remit taxes on sales in their jurisdiction. Additionally, the Supreme Court of the U.S.
ruled in South Dakota v. Wayfair, Inc. et al ("Wayfair") that online sellers can be required to collect sales and use tax despite not having a
physical presence in the buyer’s state. In response to Wayfair, or otherwise, states or local governments may enforce laws requiring us to
calculate, collect, and remit taxes on sales in their jurisdictions. We may be obligated to collect and remit sales and use tax in states in which
we have not historically collected and remitted sales and use tax. A successful assertion by one or more states requiring us to collect taxes
where we historically have not or presently do not do so could result in substantial tax liabilities, including taxes on past sales, as well as
penalties and interest. The imposition by state governments or local governments of sales tax collection obligations on out-of-state sellers
could also create additional administrative burdens for us, put us at a perceived competitive disadvantage if they do not impose similar
obligations on our competitors, and decrease our future sales, which could adversely affect our business and operating results.
Our ability to use our net operating losses, or NOLs, to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.
As of December 31, 2021, our federal and state NOL carryforwards were $391.7 million and $365.2 million, respectively. The federal NOLs
include approximately $143.3 million that may be used to offset up to 100% of future taxable income and the federal and state NOLs started
to expire in the calendar year 2020, and will expire in future periods unless previously utilized. The NOL carryforwards subject to expiration
could expire unused and be unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities.
Under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, or the Tax Act, as modified by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act, or CARES Act,
federal NOLs incurred in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 may be carried forward indefinitely, but the deductibility of such
federal NOLs in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2020 is limited to 80% of taxable income in such years. There is variation in how
states have responded and may continue to respond to the Tax Act and CARES Act.
Separately, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, and corresponding provisions of state law, if
a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” which is generally defined as a greater than 50% change, by value, in its equity ownership
over a three-year period, the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change NOL carryforwards and other pre-change tax attributes to offset its
post-change income or taxes may be limited. Similar rules may apply under state tax laws. We may have experienced such ownership
changes in the past, and we may experience ownership changes in the future as a result of subsequent shifts in our stock ownership, some
of which are outside of our control. We have not conducted any studies to determine if our NOLs could be subject to limitation as a result of
our IPO or any other such changes in ownership. For these reasons, our ability to utilize our NOL carryforwards and other tax attributes to
reduce future tax liabilities may be limited, which would have a material adverse effect on our cash flows and results of operations.
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Changes in our effective tax rate or tax liability may adversely affect our operating results.
Our effective tax rate could increase due to several factors, including:
•

changes in the relative amounts of income before taxes in the various jurisdictions in which we operate due to differing statutory
tax rates in various jurisdictions;

•

changes in tax laws, tax treaties, and regulations or the interpretation of them, including the Tax Act;

•

changes to our assessment about our ability to realize our deferred tax assets that are based on estimates of our future results,
the prudence and feasibility of possible tax planning strategies, and the economic and political environments in which we do
business; and

•

the outcome of current and future tax audits, examinations, or administrative appeals, including limitations or adverse findings
regarding our ability to do business in some jurisdictions.

Any of these developments could adversely affect our operating results.
Any future litigation against us could be costly and time consuming to defend.
We may become subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business, such as claims brought in connection
with intellectual property disputes, claims brought by our customers in connection with commercial disputes, employment claims made by our
current or former employees, or claims for reimbursement following misappropriation of customer funds or data.
The software industry is characterized by the existence of many patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets, and other intellectual and
proprietary rights. Companies in the software industry are often required to defend against litigation claims based on allegations of
infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights. Our technologies may not be able to withstand any third-party claims against
their use. In addition, many companies have the capability to dedicate substantially greater resources to enforce their intellectual property
rights and to defend claims that may be brought against them. If a third party is able to obtain an injunction preventing us from accessing
such third-party intellectual property rights, or if we cannot license or develop alternative technology for any infringing aspect of our business,
we would be forced to limit or stop sales of our software or cease business activities related to such intellectual property. Any inability to
license third-party technology in the future would have an adverse effect on our business or operating results and would adversely affect our
ability to compete. We may also be contractually obligated to indemnify our customers in the event of infringement of a third party’s
intellectual property rights.
Lawsuits are time-consuming and expensive to resolve and they divert management’s time and attention. Although we carry insurance, our
insurance may not cover certain future claims, may not provide sufficient payments to cover all the costs to resolve one or more such claims,
and might not continue to be available on terms acceptable to us. A claim brought against us that is uninsured or underinsured could result in
unanticipated costs, thereby reducing our operating results and leading analysts or potential investors to reduce their expectations of our
performance, which could reduce the trading price of our stock.
We cannot predict the outcome of lawsuits and cannot assure you that the results of any such actions will not have an adverse effect on our
business, operating results, or financial condition.
Our 2019 Credit Agreement provides our lenders with a first-priority lien against substantially all of our and our subsidiaries’
assets and personal property, and contains financial covenants and other restrictions on our and our subsidiaries’ actions, which
could limit our operational flexibility and otherwise adversely affect our financial condition.
Our 2019 Credit Agreement restricts our and our subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things (in each case, subject to certain exceptions
based on dollar caps or other conditions):
•

incur additional indebtedness;

•

use our and our subsidiaries’ assets as security in other borrowings or transactions or otherwise incur liens upon our and our
subsidiaries’ assets and property, including without limitation, accounts receivable, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, or
any income or profits therefrom;

•

enter into other agreements that restrict the creation or assumption of liens upon our and our subsidiaries’ properties or assets;
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•

enter into other agreements that restrict our subsidiaries’ ability to (i) make dividend payments or certain distributions to us, (ii)
repay our subsidiaries’ indebtedness owed to us, (iii) make loans or advances to us, or (iv) transfer property or assets to us;

•

declare dividends or make certain distributions;

•

redeem or repurchase common and preferred capital stock or make payments to retire outstanding warrants, options or other
rights to acquire capital stock, in each case;

•

prepay indebtedness (other than indebtedness under, and in connection with, the 2019 Credit Agreement);

•

make purchases or acquisitions of equity interests or assets (including, without limitation, accounts receivable) of other persons
or legal entities, or make other investments, including, without limitation, investments in our real estate subsidiary, AFV Holdings
One, Inc., a North Carolina corporation, joint ventures and foreign subsidiaries (if any);

•

make loans, advances or capital contributions to other persons or legal entities;

•

undergo a merger or consolidation or liquidation or dissolution or other transactions;

•

sell, lease or sublease (as lessor or sublessor), enter into a sale and leaseback with respect to, assign, convey, transfer, license
or otherwise dispose of, our or our subsidiaries’ businesses, assets, capital stock or other properties;

•

enter into transactions (including the purchase, sale, lease or exchange of any property or the rendering of any service) with any
holder of 5% or more of any class of our or our subsidiaries’ capital stock or with any other affiliate of ours or other affiliate of
any such holder;

•

engage in new businesses, other than our primary B2B payments business;

•

amend our and our subsidiaries’ organizational documents; and

•

amend, terminate, or waive any provision of certain of our and our subsidiaries’ material contracts.

Our 2019 Credit Agreement also contains certain financial covenants that prohibit us from (i) allowing our and our subsidiaries’ ratio of total
debt to recurring revenue (i.e., our Consolidated Recurring Revenue Ratio, as defined in the 2019 Credit Agreement) as of the end of each
fiscal quarter to be in excess of prescribed maximums, (ii) allowing our and our subsidiaries’ balance of unrestricted cash-on-hand in the
United States less our usage of the revolving credit and letter of credit capacity under our 2019 Credit Agreement to be less than the
prescribed minimum and (iii) allowing our and our subsidiaries’ segregated cash and cash equivalents balance required to be maintained
pursuant to applicable financial services laws (i.e., our Client Funds Coverage Amount, as defined in the 2019 Credit Agreement) to be in
excess of the prescribed maximums under a prescribed formula. Our ability to comply with these and other covenants is dependent upon
several factors, some of which are beyond our control.
Our or our subsidiaries’ failure to comply with the covenants or payment requirements, or the occurrence of other events specified in our
2019 Credit Agreement, could result in an event of default under the 2019 Credit Agreement, which would give our lenders, in addition to
other rights and remedies, the right to terminate their commitments to provide additional loans under the 2019 Credit Agreement and to
declare all outstanding loans, together with accrued and unpaid interest and fees and any other outstanding amounts, to be immediately due
and payable. In addition, we and our subsidiaries have granted our lenders under the 2019 Credit Agreement first-priority liens against
substantially all of our and our subsidiaries’ assets and property as collateral. If the debt under our 2019 Credit Agreement was to be
accelerated, we might not have sufficient cash on hand or be able to sell sufficient collateral to repay the obligations then due. In such event,
the lenders under our 2019 Credit Agreement would have the right to, among other remedies, enforce liens against our and our subsidiaries
assets and property and seek other judicial and non-judicial enforcement of their rights, any or all of which would likely have an immediate
adverse effect on our business and operating results.
If we are unable to effectively document or perfect our ownership over our proprietary technology and intellectual property, our
ability to protect our proprietary rights against third parties might be adversely affected.
Historically, we have developed our proprietary technology and other intellectual property both internally, through development by our
employees and consultants, and externally, through engaging third party developers in the United States and abroad. We generally enter into
confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with such employees, consultants and third party developers with the expressed
intention that we own all proprietary rights in all applicable technology and intellectual property developed during the relationship. However, it
is possible that these agreements may not have been properly entered into on every occasion with the applicable counterparty, and if one of
these agreements were found to be defective under applicable law, it may not have effectively granted ownership of certain technology or
other intellectual property to us. In such an event, there would be a risk that the applicable counterparty would not be available to (or would
not be willing to) assist us in perfecting our
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ownership of the technology or intellectual property, which may have an adverse effect on our ability to protect our proprietary rights over
such technology and intellectual property.
If we are unable to obtain necessary or desirable third-party technology licenses, our ability to develop platform enhancements
may be impaired.
We utilize commercially available off-the-shelf technology in the development of our products and services. As we continue to introduce new
features or improvements to our products and services, we may be required to license additional technologies from third parties. These thirdparty licenses may be unavailable to us on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. If we are unable to obtain necessary third-party licenses,
we may be required to obtain substitute technologies with lower quality or performance standards, or at a greater cost, any of which could
harm the competitiveness of our platform and our business. In the future, we could be required to seek licenses from third parties in order to
continue offering our products and services or to develop enhancements to our technology, which licenses may not be available on terms
that are acceptable to us, or at all. Our inability to use third-party software could result in disruptions to our business, or delays in the
development of future offerings or enhancements of existing offerings, which could impair our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.
We use open-source software in our products, which could subject us to litigation or other actions.
We use open-source software in the development of our products and services. From time to time, there have been claims challenging the
ownership of open-source software against companies that incorporate it into their products. As a result, we could be subject to lawsuits by
parties claiming ownership of what we believe to be open-source software. Litigation could be costly for us to defend, have a negative effect
on our operating results and financial condition, or require us to devote additional research and development resources to change our
products. In addition, if we were to combine our proprietary software products with open-source software in a certain manner under certain
open-source licenses, we could be required to release the source code of our proprietary software products. If we inappropriately use or
incorporate open-source software subject to certain types of open-source licenses that challenge the proprietary nature of our products, we
may be required to re-engineer such products, discontinue the sale of such products, or take other remedial actions.
If our technology and other proprietary rights are not adequately protected to prevent use or appropriation by our competitors, the
value of our brand and other intangible assets may be diminished, and our business may be adversely affected.
We rely and expect to continue to rely on a combination of confidentiality and license agreements with our employees, consultants and third
parties with whom we have relationships, as well as trademark, copyright, patent and trade secret protection laws, to protect our proprietary
rights. We may also seek to enforce our proprietary rights through court proceedings or other legal actions. We have filed and we expect to
file from time to time for trademark, copyright and patent applications. However, the steps we take to protect our intellectual property rights
may be inadequate. We make business decisions about when to seek patent protection for a particular technology and when to rely upon
trade secret protection, and the approach we select may ultimately prove to be inadequate. For example, we have not historically prioritized
seeking patent protections for our technology and therefore we may have limited capacity to assert proprietary rights against third parties that
may offer similar products, services or functionality. Even in cases where we seek patent protection, we cannot assure that the resulting
patents will effectively protect every significant feature of our solutions and any U.S. or other patents issued to us may not be sufficiently
broad to protect our proprietary technologies. Specifically, there can be no guarantee that others will not independently develop similar
products, duplicate any of our solutions or design around our patents, or adopt similar or identical brands for competing platforms or
technology. Furthermore, legal standards relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of intellectual property rights are
uncertain. Therefore, our registration applications may not be approved, third parties may challenge any copyrights, patents or trademarks
issued to or held by us, third parties may knowingly or unknowingly infringe our intellectual property rights, and we may not be able to prevent
infringement or misappropriation without substantial expense to us. If the protection of our intellectual property rights is inadequate to prevent
use or misappropriation by third parties, the value of our brand, content, and other intangible assets may be diminished.
Further, intellectual property law, including statutory and case law, particularly in the United States, is constantly developing, and any
changes in the law could make it harder for us to enforce our rights. In addition, we believe that the protection of our trademark rights is an
important factor in product recognition, protecting our brand and maintaining goodwill. If we do not adequately protect our rights in our
trademarks from infringement and unauthorized use, any goodwill that we have developed in those trademarks could be lost or impaired,
which could harm our brand and our business. Failure to protect our domain names could also adversely affect our reputation and brand and
make it more difficult for subscribers to find our products and services.
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We may be unable, without significant cost or at all, to prevent third parties from acquiring domain names that are similar to, infringe upon or
otherwise decrease the value of our trademarks and other proprietary rights.
We enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and consultants and enter into confidentiality
agreements with the parties with whom we have strategic relationships and business alliances. No assurance can be given that these
agreements will be effective in controlling access to and distribution of our proprietary information. Further, these agreements do not prevent
our competitors or partners from independently developing technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our platform.
In order to protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and protect these rights.
Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights and to protect our intellectual property. Litigation brought to
protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could be costly, time-consuming and distracting to management and could result in the
impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with
defenses, counterclaims and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights .An adverse determination
of any litigation proceedings could put our intellectual property at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and could put our related
patents, patent applications and trademark filings at risk of not being issued or being cancelled. Furthermore, because of the substantial
amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential or sensitive
information could be compromised by disclosure in the event of litigation. Our inability to protect our proprietary technology against
unauthorized copying or use, as well as any costly litigation or diversion of our management’s attention and resources, could delay further
sales or the implementation of our platform, impair the functionality of our platform, delay introductions of new functionality to our platform,
result in our substituting inferior or more costly technologies into our platform, or injure our reputation. We will not be able to protect our
intellectual property if we are unable to enforce our rights or if we do not detect unauthorized use of our intellectual property. Moreover,
policing unauthorized use of our technologies, trade secrets and intellectual property may be difficult, expensive and time-consuming,
particularly in foreign countries where the laws may not be as protective of intellectual property rights as those in the United States and
where mechanisms for enforcement of intellectual property rights may be weak. If we fail to meaningfully protect our intellectual property and
proprietary rights, our business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected.
Accordingly, we may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating our intellectual property. Our failure to
secure, protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could seriously damage our brand and our business.
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
The market price of our common stock may be volatile or may decline steeply or suddenly regardless of our operating
performance and we may not be able to meet investor or analyst expectations. You may not be able to resell your shares at or
above the market price of our common stock at the time you bought it and may lose all or part of your investment.
The market price of our common stock may fluctuate or decline significantly in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our
control, including:
•

variations between our actual operating results and the expectations of securities analysts, investors and the financial
community;

•

any forward-looking financial or operating information we may provide to the public or securities analysts, any changes in this
information or our failure to meet expectations based on this information;

•

actions of securities analysts who initiate or maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by any securities analysts
who follow us or our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;

•

additional shares of our common stock being sold into the market by us or our existing stockholders, or the anticipation of such
sales, including if existing stockholders sell shares into the market when applicable “lock-up” periods end;

•

hedging activities by market participants;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of significant products or features, technical innovations, acquisitions, strategic
partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;

•

changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of companies in our industry, including our competitors;

•

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market, including as a result of trends in the economy as a whole;

•

lawsuits threatened or filed against us;

33

•

developments in new legislation and pending lawsuits or regulatory actions, including interim or final rulings by judicial or
regulatory bodies;

•

political tensions resulting in economic instability, such as due to military activity or civil hostilities among Russia and Ukraine
and the related response, including sanctions or other restrictive actions, by the United States and/or other countries; and

•

other events or factors, including those resulting from COVID-19, political conditions, election cycles, war or incidents of
terrorism, or responses to these events.

In addition, extreme price and volume fluctuations in the stock markets have affected and continue to affect many technology companies’
stock prices. Stock prices often fluctuate in ways unrelated or disproportionate to a company’s operating performance. In the past,
stockholders have filed securities class action litigation following periods of market volatility. If we were to become involved in securities
litigation, it could subject us to substantial costs, divert resources and the attention of management from our business and seriously harm our
business.
Moreover, because of these fluctuations, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. You should not
rely on our past results as an indication of our future performance. This variability and unpredictability could also result in our failing to meet
the expectations of industry or financial analysts or investors for any period. If our revenues or operating results fall below the expectations of
analysts or investors or below any forecasts we may provide to the market, or if the forecasts we provide to the market are below the
expectations of analysts or investors, the price of our common stock could decline substantially. Such a stock price decline could occur even
when we have met any previously publicly stated revenue or earnings forecasts that we may provide.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that they might occur, could
cause the price of our common stock to decline.
The price of our common stock could decline if there are substantial sales of our common stock, particularly sales by our directors, executive
officers, and significant stockholders. We had a total of 196,836,812 shares of our common stock outstanding as of March 4, 2022. Our
executive officers, directors, and other stockholders and option holders owning a significant amount of our common stock and options to
acquire common stock are subject to a lock-up agreement with respect to their shares. These lock up agreements expire immediately prior to
open of trading on Nasdaq on March 10, 2022.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that these sales might occur, whether
due to the expiration or release of lock-up restrictions or otherwise, could cause the market price of our common stock to decline or make it
more difficult for you to sell your common stock at a time and price that you deem appropriate and could impair our ability to raise capital
through the sale of additional equity securities. We are unable to predict the effect that sales, or the perception that our shares may be
available for sale, will have on the prevailing market price of our common stock.
Certain of our stockholders have rights, subject to some conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering their shares and/or to
include their shares in registration statements that we may file for ourselves or our stockholders, subject to market standoff and lockup
agreements. The market price of the shares of our common stock could decline as a result of the sale of a substantial number of our shares
of common stock in the public market or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell their shares.
In addition, we have filed a registration statement to register shares reserved for future issuance under our equity compensation plans.
Subject to the satisfaction of applicable exercise periods and expiration of the lock-up agreements referred to above, the shares issued upon
exercise of outstanding stock options or settlement of outstanding RSUs will be available for immediate resale in the United States in the
open market.
We may require additional capital to support the growth of our business, and this capital might not be available on acceptable
terms, if at all.
We have funded our operations to date primarily through equity financings, sales of our products and services, and transaction fees. We
cannot be certain when or if our operations will generate sufficient cash to fully fund our ongoing operations or the growth of our business.
Additionally, we expect to continue to invest heavily in our business and expend substantial financial and other resources on:
•

our technology infrastructure, including systems architecture, scalability, availability, performance, and security;
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•

product development including investments in our product team and the development of new products and new functionality;

•

acquisitions or strategic investments;

•

sales, marketing and customer success, including an expansion of our sales organization; and

•

general administration, including increased legal, compliance, risk management and accounting expenses.

These investments may not result in increased revenue growth in our business. If we are unable to increase our revenue at a rate sufficient
to offset the expected increase in our costs, or if we encounter difficulties in managing a growing volume of payments, we may be required to
engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional capital, which may be dilutive to our current stockholders. Additional financing may
not be available on terms favorable to us, if at all. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to invest in
future growth opportunities, which could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. Because our decision to issue
securities in the future will depend on numerous considerations, including certain factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate
the amount, timing, or nature of any future issuances of debt or equity securities. As a result, our stockholders bear the risk of future
issuances of debt or equity securities reducing the value of our current stock and diluting their interests.
If securities or industry analysts either do not publish research about us or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about us,
our business or our market, or if they change their recommendations regarding our common stock adversely, the trading price or
trading volume of our common stock could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will be influenced in part by the research and reports that securities or industry analysts may
publish about us, our business, our market or our competitors. If one or more analysts initiate research with an unfavorable rating or
downgrade our common stock, provide a more favorable recommendation about our competitors or publish inaccurate or unfavorable
research about our business, our common stock price would likely decline. If any analyst who may cover us were to cease coverage of us or
fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause the trading price or trading
volume of our common stock to decline.
We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future and, as a result, your ability to achieve a return on your investment
will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock, and we do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable
future. In addition, our 2019 Credit Agreement contains restrictions on our ability to pay cash dividends on our capital stock. Any
determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their
common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investments.
Delaware law, our status as a licensed money transmitter and provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and amended
and restated bylaws could make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest difficult, thereby depressing the trading price of our
common stock.
Our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could depress the trading price of our
common stock by acting to discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company or changes in our management that the
stockholders of our company may deem advantageous. For example, these provisions:
•

establish a classified board of directors so that not all members of our board of directors are elected at one time;

•

permit the board of directors to establish the number of directors and fill any vacancies and newly-created directorships;

•

provide that directors may only be removed for cause;

•

require super-majority voting to amend some provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated
bylaws;

•

authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board of directors could use to implement a stockholder rights
plan;

•

prohibit stockholders from calling special meetings of stockholders;
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•

prohibit stockholder action by written consent, which requires all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our
stockholders;

•

provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal our amended and restated bylaws;

•

restrict the forum for certain litigation against us to Delaware; and

•

establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be
acted upon by stockholders at annual stockholder meetings.

In addition, as a licensed money transmitter, we are subject to a complex regulatory framework, at both the state and federal level. Most, if
not all, states require that the state regulator be notified of a change in control of the licensed entity, and some states require prior notice and
approval of a change in control. While the definition of control varies by state, some states consider the acquisition of 10% of a licensed
entity’s outstanding securities by an investor (or group of affiliated investors) to constitute a change in control.
Any notice or consent requirements imposed by individual state or federal regulatory agencies or provisions of our restated certificate of
incorporation or amended and restated bylaws or Delaware law that have the effect of delaying or deterring a change in control could limit the
opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our common stock, and could also affect the price that some
investors are willing to pay for our common stock.
Our restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if and only if the Court of Chancery
of the State of Delaware lacks subject matter jurisdiction, any state court located within the State of Delaware or, if and only if all such state
courts lack subject matter jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware) is the sole and exclusive forum for the following
types of actions or proceedings under Delaware statutory or common law: (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; (ii)
any action or proceeding asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our current or former directors, officers, or other
employees or stockholders to us or our stockholders, or any action asserting a claim for aiding and abetting such breach of fiduciary duty; (iii)
any action or proceeding asserting a claim against us or any of our current or former directors, officers or other employees arising out of or
pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or DGCL, our restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and
restated bylaws; (iv) any action or proceeding to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of our restated certificate of incorporation
or our amended and restated bylaws(including any right, obligation, or remedy thereunder); (v) any action or proceeding as to which the
DGCL confers jurisdiction to the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware; and (vi) any action or proceeding asserting a claim against us or
any of our current or former directors, officers, or other employees or stockholders that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine, in all
cases to the fullest extent permitted by law and subject to the court’s having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as
defendants. This provision would not apply to suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act, or any other claim for
which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. In addition, to prevent having to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and the threat of
inconsistent or contrary rulings by different courts, among other considerations, our restated certificate of incorporation provides that, unless
we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the federal district courts of the United
States will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act, including all
causes of action asserted against any defendant named in such complaint. For the avoidance of doubt, this provision is intended to benefit
and may be enforced by us, our officers and directors, the underwriters to any offering giving rise to such complaint, and any other
professional entity whose profession gives authority to a statement made by that person or entity and who has prepared or certified any part
of the documents underlying the offering. However, as Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state
courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder, there is
uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce such provision. Our restated certificate of incorporation further provides that any person or
entity holding, owning or otherwise acquiring any interest in any of our securities shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to these
provisions. Investors also cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.
These choice of forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us
or our directors, officers, or other employees. While the Delaware courts have determined that such choice of forum provisions are facially
valid, a stockholder may nevertheless seek to bring such a claim arising under the Securities Act against us, our directors, officers, or other
employees in a venue other than in the federal district courts of the United States. In such instance, we would expect to vigorously assert the
validity and enforceability of the exclusive forum provisions of our restated certificate of incorporation. This may require significant additional
costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions and we cannot assure you that the provisions will be enforced by a court in
those other jurisdictions. If a court were to find either exclusive-forum provision in our restated certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or
unenforceable in an action, we may incur further significant additional costs associated with resolving the dispute in other jurisdictions, all of
which could harm our business.
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We are an emerging growth company, and any decision on our part to comply only with certain reduced reporting and disclosure
requirements applicable to emerging growth companies could make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are an emerging growth company and, for as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we may choose to take advantage
of exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies but not to “emerging growth companies,” including:
•

not being required to have our independent registered public accounting firm audit our internal control over financial reporting
under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or Section 404;

•

reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports, including our annual report on Form
10-K; and

•

exemptions from the requirements of holding non-binding advisory votes on executive compensation and stockholder approval
of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.

As a result, our stockholders may not have access to certain information they may deem important. We could be an emerging growth
company for up to five years, although circumstances could cause us to lose that status earlier, including if our total annual gross revenues
exceed $1.07 billion, if we issue more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities during any three-year period, or if we are a large
accelerated filer and the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the end of any second quarter
before that time. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive if we choose to rely on any of the exemptions
afforded to emerging growth companies. If some investors find our common stock less attractive because we rely on any of these
exemptions, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and the market price of our common stock may be more
volatile.
Under the JOBS Act, “emerging growth companies” can also delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those
standards apply to private companies. We elected to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting
standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies until the earlier of the date that we (1) are no longer an
emerging growth company or (2) affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. As a result,
these financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with the new or revised accounting pronouncements as of
public company effective dates.
We must develop and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, and if we fail to develop and maintain effective
disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and accurate
financial statements or comply with applicable laws and regulations could be impaired.
We are required to comply with the SEC’s rules including implementing effective processes and internal control over financial reporting to
comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, the listing requirements of
the Nasdaq Stock Market and other applicable securities rules and regulations. Compliance with these rules and regulations increases our
legal and financial compliance costs, makes some activities more difficult, time consuming, or costly, and increases demand on our systems
and resources, particularly after we are no longer an emerging growth company. The Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file
annual, quarterly, and current reports with respect to our business and operating results. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other
things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting.
Compliance with these requirements may require significant resources and management oversight to maintain and, if necessary, improve our
disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting to meet this standard. As a result, management’s attention
may be diverted from other business concerns, which could adversely affect our business and operating results. Although we have already
hired additional employees to comply with these requirements, we may need to hire more employees in the future or engage outside
consultants, which would increase our costs and expenses.
We are also required, pursuant to Section 404, to furnish a report by management on, among other things, the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting commencing with our second annual report on Form 10-K. Effective internal control over financial reporting is
necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and, together with adequate disclosure controls and procedures, is designed to prevent
material misstatements due to fraud or error. Any failure to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their
implementation, could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. Ineffective internal controls could also cause investors to lose
confidence in our reported financial information, which could have a negative effect on the trading price of our common stock.
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This assessment will need to include disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by our management in our internal control over
financial reporting, as well as a statement that our independent registered public accounting firm has issued an opinion on the effectiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting, provided that our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to attest to
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting until our first annual report required to be filed with the SEC following the later
of the date we are deemed to be an “accelerated filer” or a “large accelerated filer,” each as defined in the Exchange Act, or the date we are
no longer an emerging growth company, as defined in the JOBS Act. We could be an emerging growth company for up to five years. An
independent assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls could detect problems that our management’s assessment might not.
Undetected material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting could lead to financial statement restatements and require us
to incur the expense of remediation. We are required to disclose material changes made in our internal control over financial reporting on a
quarterly basis. We may need to undertake various actions, such as implementing new internal controls and procedures and hiring additional
accounting or internal audit staff.
We have already made significant progress towards the challenging process of compiling the system and processing documentation
necessary to perform the evaluation needed to comply with Section 404. We may not be able to complete our evaluation, testing, and any
required remediation in a timely fashion. During the evaluation and testing process, if we identify material weaknesses in our internal control
over financial reporting, we will be unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective.
If we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm
is unable to express an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control, including as a result of the material weaknesses
described above, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which could cause the price of
our common stock to decline, and we may be subject to investigation or sanctions by the SEC. In addition, if we are unable to continue to
meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain listed on the Nasdaq exchange.
Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.
Our management team has limited experience managing a publicly traded company, interacting with public company investors and securities
analysts, and complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies. These new obligations and constituents require
significant attention from our management team and could divert their attention away from the day-to-day management of our business,
which could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.
An active trading market for our common stock may never develop or be sustained.
Our common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on October 13, 2021 under the symbol “AVDX.” Prior to our IPO, there
was no public market for our common stock. Although our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, we cannot assure
you that an active trading market for our common stock will develop on that exchange or elsewhere or, if developed, that any market will be
sustained. Accordingly, we cannot assure you of the likelihood that an active trading market for our common stock will develop or be
maintained, the liquidity of any trading market, your ability to sell your shares of our common stock when desired or at the prices that you
may obtain for your shares.
You may be diluted by the future issuance of common stock, preferred stock or securities convertible into common or preferred
stock, in connection with our incentive plans, acquisitions, capital raises or otherwise.
We have 196,836,812 shares of common stock outstanding as of March 4, 2022 and our restated certificate of incorporation authorizes us to
issue 1.6 billion shares of common stock and 50 million shares of preferred stock. Our board of directors will have the authority to determine
the preferences, limitations and relative rights of the shares of preferred stock and to fix the number of shares constituting any series and the
designation of such series, without any further vote or action by our stockholders.
In the future, we expect to obtain financing or to further increase our capital resources by issuing additional shares of our capital stock or
offering debt or other equity securities, including senior or subordinated notes, or debt securities convertible into equity or shares of preferred
stock. Issuing additional shares of our capital stock or other equity securities or securities convertible into equity may dilute the economic and
voting rights of our existing stockholders or reduce the market price of our common stock or both. Debt securities convertible into equity
could be subject to adjustments in the conversion ratio pursuant to which certain events may increase the number of equity securities
issuable upon conversion. Shares of preferred stock, if issued, could have a preference with respect to liquidating distributions or a
preference with respect to dividend payments that could limit our ability to pay dividends to the holders of our common stock. Our decision to
issue securities in any future offering will depend on market
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conditions and other factors beyond our control, which may adversely affect the amount, timing, or nature of our future offerings. As a result,
holders of our common stock bear the risk that our future offerings may reduce the market price of our common stock and dilute their
stockholdings in us.
As of March 4, 2022, we have reserved 27,863,262 shares of common stock for issuance under our 2021 Plan, which amount is increased
by shares subject to outstanding awards under our previous equity incentive plans that expire, are forfeited, or otherwise terminate, are
settled in cash or are reacquired or withheld (or not issued) to satisfy a tax withholding obligation or the purchase or exercise price. The
number of shares of common stock that will be reserved for issuance under our 2021 Plan will automatically increase on January 1 of each
year by the lesser of (i) 5% of the total number of shares of our common stock outstanding on December 31 of the immediately preceding
year or (ii) 18,023,020 shares. Any common stock that we issue, including under our current equity incentive plans or other equity incentive
plans that we may adopt in the future, would dilute the percentage ownership held by the owners of our common stock. We have filed a
registration statement on Form S-8 under the Securities Act, to register shares of our common stock or securities convertible into or
exchangeable for shares of our common stock issued pursuant to our current equity incentive plans, including our 2021 Plan and our
employee stock purchase plan. Any such Form S-8 registration statements will automatically become effective upon filing. Accordingly,
shares issued under such plans will be available for sale in the open market.
ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
ITEM 2. Properties.
We lease our approximately 201,000 square foot built to suit corporate headquarters in Charlotte, North Carolina pursuant to a lease with an
initial term that expires in 2032.
We have additional offices in Los Angeles, California, Sandy, Utah, Houston, Texas, Birmingham, Alabama, Columbus, Mississippi and
Framingham, Massachusetts and we have coworking space in Somerset, New Jersey and Marshfield, Massachusetts. In December 2021,
we acquired a building that we were previously leasing comprised of approximately 60,000 square feet of office space that we use as flex
space and to support our operations and additional real estate parcels that are adjacent to our corporate headquarters. We may further
expand our facilities capacity as our employee base grows and we own approximately 17.1 acres of land adjacent to our current
headquarters for future expansion.
ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings.
From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business, including commercial, intellectual
property, employment, class action, whistleblower, and other litigation and claims, as well as governmental and other regulatory
investigations and proceedings. In addition, third parties may from time to time assert claims against us in the form of letters and other
communications. We are not currently a party to any legal proceedings that we believe to be material to our business or financial condition.
The results of any future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on
us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources, and other factors.
ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
None.
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PART II.
ITEM 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Market Information for Common Stock
Our common stock has been listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “AVDX” since October 13, 2021. Prior to that date,
there was no public trading market for our common stock.
Holders of Record
As of March 4, 2022, we had 468 holders of record of our common stock. The actual number of stockholders is greater than this number of
record holders and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other
nominees. This number of holders of record also does not include stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities.
Dividend Policy
We have not declared any cash dividends since becoming a public company. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance the
growth and development of the business and, therefore, do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition,
our ability to pay dividends is restricted by the 2019 Credit Agreement, as discussed in Item 1A “Risk Factors,” Item 7 “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and Note 8 "Long-term Debt" of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements contained within this Annual Report. Any future determination to pay cash dividends will be at the discretion of our
board of directors and will be dependent upon our future financial condition, results of operations and capital requirements, general business
conditions and other relevant factors as determined by our board of directors.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
The following sets forth information regarding all unregistered equity securities sold in the three months ended December 31, 2021:
•

•

Upon the closing of the IPO on October 15, 2021:
o

All shares of outstanding convertible preferred stock (other than senior preferred stock) automatically converted into
111,142,439 shares of our common stock.

o

All shares of senior preferred stock were converted into redeemable preferred stock and convertible common stock.
▪

The resulting redeemable preferred stock was redeemed for $169 million.

▪

The resulting convertible common stock was converted into 1,455,306 shares of our common stock.

o

We issued 740,190 shares of common stock in a net exercise of the 797,652 warrants.

o

We adjusted the number of shares of common stock paid to the sellers in the FastPay business combination in
accordance with the stock purchase agreement to 1,239,973 shares of common stock and 19,998 shares of common
stock related to contingent consideration that was paid in July 2021. This resulted in the return and cancellation of
1,310,777 shares of common stock to the Company, including 20,806 shares of common stock related to the contingent
consideration.

On October 15, 2021, we transferred the first installment of 165,729 shares of common stock to a philanthropic partner,
Foundation for the Carolinas and its affiliate Community Investments Foundation, in connection with an agreement between the
parties dated October 1, 2021. Pursuant to this agreement we intend to provide annual ongoing grants of 10% of the pledged
shares for a period of ten years, subject in each case to the approval of our board of directors.

None of the foregoing transactions involved any underwriters, underwriting discounts or commissions, or any public offering. Unless
otherwise stated, the sales of the above securities were deemed to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance on
Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act (and Regulation D or Regulation S promulgated thereunder) as transactions by an issuer not involving
any public offering. The recipients of the securities in each of these transactions represented their intentions to acquire the securities for
investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, and appropriate legends were placed on the
share certificates issued in these transactions. All recipients had adequate access, through their relationships with us, to information about
us. The sales of these securities were made without any general solicitation or advertising.
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Use of Proceeds
On October 12, 2021, our Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (Reg. No. 333-259632), was declared effective in connection
with the IPO of our common stock, pursuant to which we issued and sold 26,400,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share.
The price per share to the public was $25.00. Gross proceeds from the IPO were $660.0 million and net proceeds, after deducting (i)
underwriters’ discounts and commissions and (ii) offering expenses of $11.8 million, were approximately $608.6 million. Following the sale of
these shares, the offering terminated. Shares of our common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on October 13, 2021.
On October 15, 2021, we used $169.0 million of the net proceeds to redeem the shares of redeemable preferred stock issuable upon
conversion of our senior preferred stock.
On November 15, 2021, the underwriters notified us of the partial exercise of the overallotment option. Upon closing on November 18, 2021,
we issued 544,928 shares of common stock at the offering price of $25.00 per share and received net proceeds of $12.8 million after
deducting underwriters' discounts and commissions.
There have been no material changes in the planned use of proceeds from the IPO from those described in our Final Prospectus.
Stock Performance Graph
The following shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or incorporated by reference into any of our other
filings under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except to the extent we specifically incorporate it by reference into
such filing.
This chart compares the cumulative total return on our common stock with that of the Russell Mid Cap Index, S&P 400 Information
Technology Index, and Russell 2000 Index. The chart assumes $100 was invested at the close of market on October 13, 2021, in the
common stock of AvidXchange Holdings, Inc., the S&P 500 Index and the KFT Nasdaq Financial Technology Index, and assumes the
reinvestment of any dividends. The stock price performance on the following graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price
performance.

Base Period
10/13/2021

Company / Index

AvidXchange Holdings, Inc.
Russell Mid Cap Index
S&P 400 Information Technology Index
Russell 2000 Index

$
$
$
$

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

ITEM 6. (Reserved)
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10/29/2021

$
$
$
$

89.13
103.49
105.68
102.46

11/30/2021

$
$
$
$

85.65
99.75
100.22
98.08

12/31/2021

$
$
$
$

60.38
103.68
105.39
100.15

ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated
Financial Statements and related notes and other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. As
discussed in the section titled "Special Note Regarding Forward Looking Statements," the following discussion contains forward-looking
statements that reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking
statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the section titled
“Risk Factors” included in Item 1A of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and the risks discussed below and in our other SEC filings.
The accompanying Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations gives effect to the four-for-one
stock split effected on September 30, 2021.
Overview
We are a leading provider of AP automation software and payment solutions for middle market businesses and their suppliers. Our SaaSbased, end-to-end software and payment platform digitizes and automates the AP workflows for more than 8,000 businesses (our buyers)
and we have made payments to more than 825,000 supplier customers of our buyers (suppliers) over the past five years. While acquiring
new and retaining existing relationships with buyers and suppliers are important to our business, the growth of our business is ultimately
dependent upon the number of transactions we process, as well as our total payment volume. We developed our technology platform
through years of working to solve our buyers’ unique middle market workflow challenges. Leveraging our deep domain expertise, we
purpose-built a powerful two-sided network that connects buyers and suppliers, drives digital transformation, increases efficiency and
accuracy in AP workflows, accelerates payments, enables insight into critical analytics, and lowers operating costs for our buyers.
We transform the way AP works for the middle market. Our platform was purpose-built for the middle market since we wrote our first line of
code, based on our desire to deal with the business process complexities of our initial customers. Our intuitive user interfaces are an entry
point to a broader user experience emphasizing visibility and control. The SaaS-based technical underlayer drives digital transformation and
provides the scalability to grow with our buyers. We built our business to solve this gap for the middle market and believe we have become a
uniquely strategic platform for our customers’ CFOs, treasurers and finance teams by digitally transforming how they receive, manage and
pay their bills. Supported by deep integrations to our customers’ middle market oriented accounting and information systems, our platform
automates the end-to-end AP workflows for our buyers and enhances the payment experience for our suppliers. We provide a SaaS-based
solution automating and digitizing the capture, review, approval and payment of invoices for our buyers. Our two-sided payments network
then connects our buyers with their suppliers, enabling invoice payments on behalf of a buyer and according to the supplier’s business rules,
payment preferences and remittance data. We support a variety of payment methods depending on the supplier’s preference, including VCC,
enhanced ACH (our AvidPay Direct) and physical check, while delivering rich remittance data to streamline the reconciliation process. Finally,
we provide cash management solutions to our supplier network that include tools that provide a comprehensive view of invoices and an
accelerator feature (our Invoice Accelerator). These additional features, and others in our product pipeline, allow us to both monetize and
increase engagement on our two-sided payments network.
Our customers operate across a variety of verticals in which we have deep domain expertise, including real estate, HOAs, construction,
financial services (including banks and credit unions), healthcare facilities, social services, education, and media. Certain segments of our
customers, particularly the customers we acquired through the FastPay acquisition that focus on political advertising within our media
vertical, are subject to seasonal and cyclical trends. In 2021, we processed approximately 62 million transactions representing over $180
billion in spend under management across our platform and, of that, moved $52 billion in total payment volume from our buyers to their
suppliers. Spend under management represents the sum of (i) the aggregate dollar amount of payments processed by us, plus (ii) the
aggregate dollar amount represented by the total number of invoices processed by us, in each case, during the specified period. As
described in more detail below, we generate revenue from each transaction processed on a per transaction basis and earn interchange
revenue from a portion of the total payment volume.
AvidXchange was founded in 2000 to serve the AP automation needs of the middle market. In 2012, in response to customer demand for
more efficient payment methods, we launched the AvidPay Network. Since 2012, we have had substantial growth, both organic and through
a series of strategic acquisitions allowing us to expand the vertical markets that we serve.
Our Business and Revenue Model
We sell our solutions through a hybrid go-to-market strategy that includes direct and indirect channels. Our direct sales force leverages their
deep domain expertise in select verticals and over 120 referral relationships with integrated software providers, financial institutions and other
partners to identify and attract buyers that would benefit from our AP software solutions and the AvidPay Network. Our indirect channel
includes reseller partners and other strategic partnerships such as Mastercard, through MasterCard’s B2B Hub, which includes Fifth Third
Bank and Bank of America, and other financial institutions, such as KeyBank, and third-party software providers such as MRI Software,
RealPage and SAP Concur. Our referral and indirect channel partnerships provide us greater reach across the market to access a variety of
buyers.
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One of the ways that we evaluate our revenue model is by looking at our net transactions processed retention rate. We calculate the net
transactions processed retention rate for a current period by dividing the (i) number of total transactions processed for customers in the
comparable prior period by (ii) the number of total transactions processed for the same customers in the current period. Accordingly, the net
transactions processed retention rate is calculated solely based on transactions of prior period customers in the current period, regardless of
whether or not the prior period customer remains a customer in the current period. Correspondingly, customers in the current period that
were not customers in the prior period are excluded from the current period calculation of the net transactions processed retention rate. Net
transactions processed retention rate, together with our key metric Transactions Processed (as described below in the section titled “Key
Financial and Business Metrics”), enables us to both assess transaction volume attributable to retained customers in a period as well as
determine transaction volume attributable to new customers during the same period. This annual metric allows us to quantify the activity of
retained customers over time and illustrates both retention and expansion of the volume of total transactions processed for such customers.
Our net transactions processed retention rate from 2018 to 2019 was 105%, from 2019 to 2020 it was 102%, and from 2020 to 2021 it was
107%.
We have a highly visible revenue model based on the durability of our buyer relationships and the recurring nature of the revenues we earn.
Our revenues are derived from multiple sources, predominantly through software revenue from our buyers and revenue from payments made
to their suppliers. The table below represents our revenues disaggregated by type of service performed (in thousands):

Software revenue
Payment revenue
Services revenue
Total revenues

Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Disaggregation of Revenue:

$

87,885
157,930
2,594
248,409

$

$
$

68,063
115,745
2,120
185,928

2019

$
$

50,147
98,335
1,102
149,584

Software revenue, payment revenue and services revenue are described below in the section titled "Components of Results of Operations."
Impact of Covid-19 Pandemic
Notwithstanding current vaccinations and the gradual re-opening of the U.S. economy, the global COVID-19 pandemic, including the
emergence of recently discovered variants that are thought to be more contagious (such as the increasingly widespread “Delta" and
"Omicron" variants), continues to adversely affect commercial activity and has contributed to significant volatility in the financial markets,
which may continue.
Our revenue was adversely affected in 2020 by COVID-19 due to a reduction in spending and closures or slowdowns of certain of our
buyer’s businesses and other mandated restrictions on travel, social and business gatherings, schools, and the workplace. The impact was
higher in certain industry verticals or segments such as HOAs and commercial real estate, with certain buyers tightly managing spend and
hesitating to start new implementation projects. On the other hand, the pandemic also had the short-term impact of driving increased interest
and, for certain buyers, accelerated purchasing decisions for our products and services, as buyers shifted to remote work arrangements.
In 2021, we have continued to see the impact of COVID-19 on our business and on our buyers and suppliers. We believe that, as a result of
the uncertainty created by the pandemic, many buyers have been and may continue to be in the near term reluctant to invest in the purchase
and implementation of our products and services, which has had a negative impact on new sales and has led to longer sales cycles. These
trends have made it, and if they continue will make it, more difficult for us to acquire new buyers and have led to greater uncertainty around
closing new sales opportunities, adversely impacting our future revenue.
Key Factors Affecting Our Performance
Acquiring new buyers and suppliers
To sustain our growth, we need to continue to sell our AP software and payment solutions to new buyers. New buyers add software revenue
and those that use our payment solutions will allow us to continue adding new suppliers to our network, increasing payment volume across
our platform and providing us with the opportunity to generate additional revenue from the payments our buyers make to their suppliers. Our
financial performance will depend in large part on the overall demand for our platform particularly from middle market buyers and their
suppliers.
Expanding our relationships with existing buyers and suppliers
The growth of our software revenue is dependent upon the number of invoice and payment transactions processed across our platform. The
number of transactions that our buyers submit through our platform is often based on their experience implementing and using our products
and services, realized or perceived value, and confidence in the accuracy and timeliness of our services. Although we often include minimum
transaction commitments in our buyer agreements, our growth is dependent on our buyers using our platform to process their invoice and
payment transactions and otherwise serve their AP needs.
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Payment revenue is a significant component of our overall revenue and is dependent upon the payment spend volume submitted by our
buyers and processed through our AvidPay Network. Payment revenue is also dependent upon the continued acceptance by suppliers in our
network of electronic payment types that result in interchange revenue. Our growth will depend on our continued ability to deliver electronic
payments to existing suppliers in a manner that is consistent with their internal business rules, payment preferences, and perceived value.
We also experience growth from buyers when we cross sell existing products and services or introduce new products and services.
Investing in sales and marketing
We intend to increase our sales and marketing spend to drive awareness and generate demand to acquire new buyers and to grow our
supplier network. We also intend to invest in new relationships with accounting software providers and other strategic partners. Our
investments in supporting these relationships have been significant and will continue, and we expect such investments to include education
and training initiatives such as webinars, industry trade show presentations, and developing sell-sheet case studies. We expect our sales and
marketing expenses to increase as we continue to grow.
Growing our network
We will continue to add buyers and suppliers to our proprietary AvidPay Network and to invest in features and functionality to drive value
across our network. We expect to add payment methods to our platform over time.
Investing in our platform and products
We are making significant investments in our technology to maintain and enhance our position as a leading provider of AP automation
software and payment solutions for middle market businesses and their suppliers. To drive adoption and increase penetration within our
base, we have and will continue to introduce new products and features. We believe that investment in research and development
contributes to our long-term growth but may also negatively impact our short-term profitability. We will continue to leverage emerging
technologies and invest in the development of more features that meet and anticipate the needs of both buyers and suppliers. As a result, we
expect our expenses related to research and development to increase as we continue to grow. These efforts will require us to invest
significant financial and other resources.
Pursue strategic mergers and acquisitions
We will continue to supplement our organic growth by pursuing strategic mergers and acquisitions to expand into new verticals and horizontal
capabilities, capture unmonetized or under-monetized spend, and enhance and expand products and capabilities.
For example in July 2021, we acquired all of the equity interests of FastPay, a leading provider of payments automation solutions for the
media industry. This acquisition expands our portfolio of automated payments technologies and services to middle market companies across
the media landscape in the United States.
Key Financial and Business Metrics
We regularly review several financial and business metrics to measure our performance, identify trends affecting our business, prepare
financial projections, and make strategic decisions. We believe that these key business metrics provide meaningful supplemental information
for management and investors in assessing our historical and future operating performance. The calculation of the key metrics and other
measures discussed below may differ from other similarly-titled metrics used by other companies, securities analysts or investors.
Year Ended December 31,

Transactions processed
Transaction yield
Total payment volume (in
millions)

2019

Period-to-Period Change as
Percentage
2021 to 2020
2020 to 2019

2021

2020

$

62,457,962
3.98

$

52,757,295
3.52

$

44,825,421
3.34

18.4 %
13.1 %

17.7 %
5.4 %

$

52,114

$

37,880

$

28,172

37.6 %

34.5 %

Transactions processed
We believe that transactions processed is an important measure of our business because it is a key indicator of the use by both buyers and
suppliers of our solutions and our ability to generate revenue, since a majority of our revenue is generated based on transactions processed.
We define transactions processed as the number of invoice transactions and payment transactions, such as invoices, purchase orders,
checks, ACH payments and VCCs, processed through our platform during a particular period.
Transaction yield
We believe that transaction yield is an important measure of the value of solutions to buyers and suppliers as we scale. We define
transaction yield as the total revenue during a particular period divided by the total transactions processed during such period.
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Total payment volume
We believe total payment volume is an important measure of our AvidPay Network business as it quantifies the demand for our payment
services. We define total payment volume as the dollar sum of buyers’ AP payments paid to their suppliers through the AvidPay Network
during a particular period.
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA, is a non-GAAP key measure used by our management and board of directors to evaluate our operating performance,
generate future operating plans and make strategic decisions regarding the allocation of capital. In particular, the exclusion of certain
expenses in calculating adjusted EBITDA facilitates operating performance comparability across reporting periods by removing the effect of
non-cash expenses and certain variable charges. Accordingly, we believe that adjusted EBITDA provides useful information to investors and
others in understanding and evaluating our operating results in the same manner as our management and board of directors.
We define adjusted EBITDA as our net loss before depreciation and amortization of property and equipment, amortization of software
development costs, amortization of acquired intangible assets, impairment and write-off of intangible assets, interest income and expense,
income tax expense, stock-based compensation expense, transaction and acquisition-related costs, change in fair value of derivative
instrument, charitable contributions of common stock, and non-recurring items not indicative of ongoing operations for our business. Other
companies may define adjusted EBITDA differently.
In the beginning of the fourth quarter of 2021, we revised our definition of adjusted EBITDA to also exclude effects of charitable contributions
of common stock. This revision to the definition had no impact on our reported adjusted EBITDA for periods prior to the fourth quarter of
2021.
We believe it is useful to exclude non-cash charges, impairment and write-off of intangible assets, stock-based compensation expense,
change in fair value of derivative instrument, and charitable contribution of stock from our adjusted EBITDA because the amount of such
expenses in any specific period may not directly correlate to the underlying performance of our business operations. We believe it is useful to
exclude transaction and acquisition-related costs and non-recurring items not indicative of ongoing operations for our business as these
items are not components of our core business operations. For the year ended December 31, 2021, non-recurring items was primarily
comprised of an approximately $50 million non-cash charge for an amended financing advisory engagement letter and transaction and
acquisition-related costs included approximately $15.7 million of IPO-related costs.
Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as a financial measure, and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our
results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are:
•

although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be
replaced in the future and adjusted EBITDA does not reflect capital expenditure requirements for such replacements or for new
capital expenditures;

•

adjusted EBITDA does not reflect stock-based compensation and related taxes. Stock-based compensation has been, and will
continue to be for the foreseeable future, a recurring expense in our business and an important part of our compensation
strategy;

•

adjusted EBITDA does not reflect interest income (expense), net; or changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital;

•

adjusted EBITDA excludes non-recurring items not indicative of ongoing operations for our business; and

•

other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate adjusted EBITDA differently, which reduces its usefulness
as a comparative measure.

Because of these limitations, adjusted EBITDA should be considered alongside other financial performance measures, including various
cash flow metrics, net loss and our other GAAP results.
The following table presents a reconciliation of net loss to adjusted EBITDA for each of the periods indicated:
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Reconciliation of Net Loss to Adjusted EBITDA

Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

(in thousands)
Net loss
$
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment and write-off of intangible assets
Interest income
Interest expense
Provision for income taxes
Stock-based compensation expense
Transaction and acquisition-related costs
Change in fair value of derivative instrument
Non-recurring items not indicative of ongoing operations
Charitable contribution of stock
$
Adjusted EBITDA

(199,649 )
30,738
1,412
(661 )
20,108
(4,660 )
21,428
20,949
26,128
53,852
4,143
(26,212 )

$

$

(101,246 )
27,514
924
(1,675 )
20,080
234
1,630
1,352
7,537
10,927
(32,723 )

2019

$

$

(93,546 )
22,340
7,891
(1,383 )
17,259
60
1,379
2,363
555
5,644
(37,438 )

Components of Results of Operations
Revenue
We generate revenue from the following sources: (i) software, (ii) payments, and (iii) services.
Software Revenue
We generate software revenue from our buyers primarily through (i) fees calculated based on the number of invoices and payment
transactions processed and (ii) recurring maintenance and SaaS fees. Software revenue is typically billed to and paid by our buyers on a
monthly basis. Our software offerings, many of which are built for specific verticals, address the needs of buyers and together they comprise
our suite of predominately cloud-based solutions designed to manage invoices and automate the AP function. We generally sign multi-year
contracts with buyers and revenue is recognized over the term of the contract. We also receive initial upfront implementation fees and
software maintenance fee revenue for ongoing support, which are recognized ratably over the term of the applicable support period.
Payment Revenue
We generate revenue from the payments our buyers make to their suppliers through (i) offering electronic payment solutions to suppliers, (ii)
fees charged to suppliers from our invoice factoring product, and (iii) interest on funds held for buyers pending disbursement.
Our electronic payment solutions currently include VCC and an enhanced ACH payment product, or AvidPay Direct, which eliminate paper
checks and increase the speed to payment for the supplier. AvidPay Direct also provides suppliers with enhanced remittance data allowing
the supplier to reconcile the payment and the underlying invoice. VCC revenues result from interchange fees applied to the spend processed
and are recorded net of fees and incentives. AvidPay Direct revenue is based on a per transaction fee that we charge to suppliers that
generally includes a cap and is based on the spend per payment and is recorded net of incentives.
Our invoice factoring product, Invoice Accelerator, provides certain suppliers with the opportunity to better manage cash flows and receive
payments even faster by allowing suppliers to receive advance payment on qualifying invoices. Revenues are generated on a per transaction
basis for each payment that is advanced. We currently fund the purchase of invoices from our balance sheet.
Interest income represents interest received from buyer deposits held during the payment clearing process. We receive interest on funds
held through our contractual relationship with our buyers.
Services Revenue
Services revenue includes fees charged to process buyer change in service requests.
We expect our total revenue to increase year over year due to an increase in the number of buyers and transactions processed, and that
payment revenue will comprise a greater proportion of total revenue as the volume of transactions on the AvidPay Network continues to
increase.
Cost of Revenues and Operating Expenses
Cost of Revenues
Cost of revenues includes personnel related costs, which include direct compensation, fringe benefits, short- and long-term incentive plans
and stock-based compensation expense. Cost of revenues includes teams responsible for buyer and supplier onboarding and setup, invoice
processing, payment operations, money movement execution, and customer service. Personnel
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costs also include internal labor associated with the employees who monitor the performance and reliability of our buyer and supplier
solutions and the underlying delivery infrastructure (i.e., application and data hosting administration, product support and escalations,
payment monitoring and settlement functions).
Cost of revenues also includes external expenses that are directly attributed to the processing of invoice and payment transactions. These
expenses include the cost of scanning and indexing invoices, printing checks, postage for mailing checks, expenses for processing payments
(ACH, check, and wires), bank fees associated with buyer deposits held during the payment clearing process, and other transaction
execution costs. Additionally, cost of revenues includes fees paid to third parties for the use of their technology, data hosting services, and
customer relationship management tools in the delivery of our services or in supporting the delivery infrastructure and adjustments to the
allowance for uncollectible advancements processed through Invoice Accelerator. Lastly, cost of revenues includes estimates for treasury
losses that occur in treasury operations. Treasury losses include various unrecoverable internal payment processing errors that occur in the
ordinary course of business, such as duplicate payments, overpayments, payments to the wrong party and reconciliation errors.
We have elected to exclude amortization expense of capitalized developed software and acquired technology, as well as allocations of fixed
asset depreciation expense and facility expenses from cost of revenues.
We expect our cost of revenues as a percentage of revenue to decrease as we continue to realize operational efficiencies and shift more of
our transactions to electronic payments.
Sales and Marketing
Sales and marketing consists primarily of costs related to our direct sales force and partner channels that are incurred in the process of
setting up go-to-market strategies, generating leads, building brand awareness and acquiring new buyers and suppliers, including efforts to
convert suppliers from paper check payments to electronic forms of payments and efforts to enroll them into the Invoice Accelerator solution.
Personnel costs include salaries, wages, direct and amortized sales commissions, fringe benefits, short- and long-term incentive plans and
stock-based compensation expense. Most of the commissions paid to the direct sales force are incremental based upon invoice and payment
volume from the acquisition of a new buyer and are deferred and amortized ratably over an estimated benefit period of five years.
The partner ecosystem consists of reseller, referral and accounting system partners. Compensation paid to referral and accounting system
partners in exchange for the referral and marketing efforts of the partner is classified as sales and marketing expense.
In addition, we focus on generating awareness of our platform and products through a variety of sponsorships, user conferences, trade
shows, and integrated marketing campaigns. Costs associated with these efforts, including travel expenses, external consulting services, and
various technology applications are included in sales and marketing as well.
We expect our sales and marketing expenses to increase in absolute dollars while remaining fairly consistent as a percentage of revenue as
we continue to expand our market presence, grow our customer base, and continue to develop new offerings to sell to our buyers and
suppliers. We are focused on the efficient deployment of marketing resources to drive our sales efforts and expect to continue to increase
marketing over the coming periods.
Research and Development
Research and development efforts focus on the development of new products and business intelligence tools or enhancements to existing
products and applications, as well as large scale infrastructure projects that improve the underlying architecture of our technology.
The main contributors of research and development costs are (i) personnel related expenses, including fringe benefits, short- and long-term
incentive plans and stock-based compensation expense, and (ii) fees for outsourced professional services. We capitalize certain internal and
external development costs that are attributable to new products or new functionality of existing products and amortize such costs to
depreciation and amortization on a straight-line basis over an estimated useful life, which is generally three years.
We also incur research and development costs attributable to the use of software tools and technologies required to facilitate the research
and development activities. Examples of such costs include fees paid to third parties to host lower technical environments and the associated
virtual machine ware fees paid to support agile development efforts, and fees paid for software tools and licenses used in quality control
testing and code deployment activities.
We expect our research and development expense to increase in absolute dollars, but to decrease as a percentage of revenue as we are
able to efficiently deploy our development resources against a larger revenue base.
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General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of our finance, human resources, legal and compliance, facilities, information
technology, administration, and information security organizations. Significant cost contributors are (i) personnel expenses, including fringe
benefits, short- and long-term incentive plans and stock-based compensation expense, and (ii) costs of software applications, including end
user computing solutions, and various technology tools utilized by these organizations. Occupancy expenses, which include personnel, rent,
maintenance and property tax costs are not allocated to other components of the statements of operations and remain in general and
administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses are reduced by incentives we have received from state and local government
agencies as part of various local job development investment grants.
We expect our general and administrative expenses to increase in both absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue over the next two
years, as we continue to build out our infrastructure to support our operations as a public company, and to support a greater customer base.
After approximately two years we expect these expenses to decrease as a percentage of revenue as a large portion of this public company
infrastructure investment is comprised of fixed costs.
Impairment and Write-Off of Intangible Assets
Impairment and write-off of intangible assets is the reduction from carrying value to fair value for assets or asset groups whose carrying value
is not recoverable and also includes charges determined based on our estimation of the amount of obsolescence of previously capitalized
software development costs.
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization expense includes depreciation of property and equipment over the estimated useful life of the applicable
asset, as well as amortization of acquired intangibles (i.e., technology, customer list and tradename) with a useful life between 3 and 15
years, and amortization of capitalized software development costs with an estimated benefit of 3 years.
Other Income (Expense)
Other income (expense) consists primarily of interest expense on our bank borrowings and headquarters finance leases, offset by interest
income on non-customer corporate funds. Additionally, other income (expense) includes changes in the fair value of our derivative
instrument, which required adjustments to fair value each reporting period until settled.
Income Tax Expense (Benefit)
Income tax expense (benefit) consists of federal and state income taxes.
Results of Operations
The following table sets forth our results of operations for the periods presented (in thousands, except share and per share data):
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2021
Revenues
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization expense)
Operating expenses
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Impairment and write-off of intangible assets
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense)
Interest income
Interest expense
Change in fair value of derivative instrument
Charge for amending financing advisory engagement letter - related
party
Other expenses
Loss before income taxes
Income tax (benefit) expense
Net loss
Deemed dividend on preferred stock
Accretion of convertible preferred stock
Net loss attributable to common stockholders
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and
diluted
Weighted average number of common shares used to compute net
loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted

$

Year Ended December 31,
2020
248,409 $
185,928 $
100,090
83,755

2019
149,584
71,133

63,939
65,147
95,817
1,412
30,738
257,053
(108,734 )

47,910
44,500
56,395
924
27,514
177,243
(75,070 )

39,583
33,591
52,101
7,891
22,340
155,506
(77,055 )

661
(20,108 )
(26,128 )

1,675
(20,080 )
(7,537 )

1,383
(17,259 )
(555 )

$

(50,000 )
(95,575 )
(204,309 )
(4,660 )
(199,649 ) $

(25,942 )
(101,012 )
234
(101,246 ) $

(16,431 )
(93,486 )
60
(93,546 )

$

(9,500 )
(15,141 )
(224,290 ) $

(43,414 )
(21,682 )
(166,342 ) $

(6,494 )
(7,906 )
(107,946 )

$

(2.64 ) $

(3.34 ) $

(2.54 )

85,061,417

49,738,252

42,526,716

Comparison of the Years Ended December 30, 2021 and 2020
Revenues
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Revenues

$

248,409

$

185,928

Period-to-Period Change
Amount
Percentage

$

62,481

33.6 %

Total revenues increased $62.5 million or 33.6%. Software revenue increased $19.8 million, or 29.1%, primarily driven by the addition of new
buyer invoice and payment transaction volume as well as the inclusion of $8.5 million of software revenue associated with the acquisitions of
Core Associates, which closed in December 2020, and FastPay, which closed in July 2021. Payment revenue increased by $42.2 million, or
36.4%, driven primarily by increased electronic payments on the AvidPay Network with the addition of new buyer payment transaction
volume and the inclusion of $4.8 million of payment revenue associated with the acquisition of FastPay. With the inclusion of services
revenue, total revenues for 2021 include an aggregate of $13.7 million associated with the acquisitions of Core Associates and FastPay.
Cost of Revenues
Year Ended December 31,
2021
Amount

Percentage of
Revenue

2020
Percentage of
Amount
Revenue

Period-to-Period Change
Amount
Percentage

(in thousands)
Cost of revenues (exclusive of
depreciation and amortization
expense)
$
100,090
40.3 % $ 83,755
45.0 % $
16,335
19.5 %
The increase in cost of revenues (excluding depreciation and amortization expense) was due primarily to an increase in employee costs of
$10.3 million. This increase is driven by hiring efforts to support the growth in our business as well as a $2.9 million impact related to
headcount additions from our acquisitions of Core Associates and FastPay, which closed in December 2020 and
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July 2021, respectively. The additional employees are supporting implementation and buyer and supplier experience services, SaaS product
delivery and money movement. The remainder of the increase was primarily driven by increases in invoice and check processing fees of $3.0
million, increases in cloud hosting fees of $1.5 million related to a higher volume of transactions processed through our applications, and
increases in reserves of $0.9 million for misdirected payments and Invoice Accelerator purchased invoices as we changed our estimate for
the recoverability of supplier advance receivables. An additional increase of $1.3 million is attributable to impact of deferred implementation
costs as amortization costs continue increase with the addition of new costs as well as more costs were deferred in the prior year.
Operating Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2021
Percentage of
Revenue

Amount

Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Impairment and write-off of
intangible assets
Depreciation and amortization

$

63,939
65,147
95,817
1,412
30,738

(in thousands)
25.7 % $
26.2 %
38.6 %
0.6 %
12.4 %

2020
Percentage of
Amount
Revenue

47,910
44,500
56,395

25.8 % $
23.9 %
30.3 %

924
27,514

0.5 %
14.8 %

Period-to-Period Change
Amount
Percentage

16,029
20,647
39,422

33.5 %
46.4 %
69.9 %

488
3,224

52.8 %
11.7 %

Sales and Marketing Expenses
The increase in sales and marketing expenses was due primarily to an increase of $8.8 million in employee costs (net of capitalized sales
commissions), driven by a $3.1 million impact related to headcount additions from the acquisitions of Core Associates and FastPay plus
organic headcount growth related to personnel directly engaged in acquiring new buyers and suppliers and in marketing our products and
services. We experienced increases in marketing costs of $2.0 million and travel expenses of $0.5 million as events and sales-related travel
increased compared to the low levels we experienced in 2020 due to the pandemic. We experienced increases in partner commissions of
$3.0 million, of which $2.1 million were associated with the acquisition of Core Associates.
Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses increased primarily due to a $4.9 million increase in costs associated with engaging consultants and
contractors to support the investment in our platform, and $19.7 million related to increased employee costs. The investments in our platform
are intended to increase the quality, reliability and efficiency of our technology and include approximately $2.2 million of consultant and
contractor costs associated with the acquisition of Core Associates which closed in December 2020. The increase in employee costs relates
to both headcount and compensation increases and includes increases of $2.6 million associated with the acquisitions of Core Associates
and FastPay. An additional increase of $0.6 million is attributable to recruiting costs as we expand our development teams. These increases
were offset, in part, by a reduction in expense associated with capitalization of internally developed software of approximately $5.6 million.
General and Administrative Expenses
The increase in general and administrative expenses is attributable to a $17.3 million increase in employee costs and $1.2 million of
professional and consulting fees and contract labor. The increases reflect the growth in our business and our preparation to operate as a
public company and include $2.3 million of employee costs associated with the acquisition of FastPay which closed in July 2021. We
experienced a $12.6 million increase in transaction-related costs driven primarily by expenses related to our IPO in October 2021, which
include insurance premiums and deal consulting fees of $15.8 million, the value of donated common stock of $4.1 million, and termination fee
of $3.8 million incurred in connection with real estate transactions executed in December 2021. The increases in transaction-related costs
were partially offset by $11.0 million decrease related to vendor restructuring payment incurred in the previous year. We also experienced an
increase in deal-related costs of $3.9 million associated with the FastPay acquisition and other activity during the year. An additional increase
of $0.9 million is attributable to a decrease in amounts expected to receive under business incentive grants in the current period compared to
the prior period.
Impairment and Write-Off of Intangible Assets
The impairment and write-off of intangible assets during 2021 and 2020 relates to internally developed software projects.
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization increased primarily due to the amortization of intangible assets associated with the acquisition of FastPay
which closed in July 2021.
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Other Income (Expense)
Year Ended December 31,
2021

2020
Percentage
of
Amount
Revenue

Percentage
of
Revenue

Amount

Period-to-Period Change
Amount

Percentage

(in thousands)
Other Income (Expense)
$
(95,575 )
(38.5 )% $ (25,942 )
(14.0 )% $
(69,633 )
268.4 %
Other income (expense) increased primarily due to a $50 million non-cash charge related to amending a financing advisory agreement with a
related party which was settled by issuing common stock. Additionally, we experienced an $18.6 million increase in expense attributable to
the net revaluation of a derivative instrument that was settled in connection with our IPO and a decrease in interest income of $1.0 million.
Income Tax Expense
Year Ended December 31,
2021

2020
Percentage of
Amount
Revenue

Percentage of
Revenue

Amount

Period-to-Period Change
Amount
Percentage

(in thousands)
Income tax (benefit) expense
$
(4,660 )
(1.9 )% $
234
0.1 % $
(4,894 )
(2091.5 )%
The provision for income taxes in 2021 relates primarily to the deferred tax benefit from deferred tax liabilities recognized in connection with
the FastPay acquisition which were used to offset deferred tax assets that previously had a valuation allowance against them. In 2020,
provision for income taxes primarily relates to state income taxes and noncurrent federal taxes related to the non-deductibility of goodwill in
the future.
Stock-based Compensation
All of our RSUs outstanding prior to our IPO in October 2021 contained both service-based and performance-based vesting conditions. Using
the accelerated attribution method in recognizing stock-based compensation expense for these RSUs, expense for each vesting tranche in
an award is recognized ratably from the grant date to the vesting date for that tranche, resulting in acceleration of expense recognition as
compared to recognition on a straight-line basis. The performance condition was settled in connection with our IPO which resulted in
approximately $13.1 million of expense recognized immediately following the closing of our IPO in the fourth quarter of 2021.
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
Revenues
Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

Period-to-Period Change
Amount
Percentage

(in thousands)
Revenues
$
185,928 $
149,584 $
36,344
24.3 %
Total revenue increased $36.3 million, or 24.3%, during the year ended December 31, 2020. Software revenue increased $17.9 million, or
35.7%, year over year driven primarily by the addition of new buyer invoice and payment transaction volume and the inclusion of $10.3
million associated with the acquisition of BankTEL, which closed in October 2019. Payment revenue increased $17.4 million, or 17.7%, year
over year driven primarily by increased electronic payments on the AvidPay Network primarily from the addition of new buyer payment
transaction volume.
Cost of Revenue
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2019
Percentage
of
Amount
Revenue

Percentage of
Amount

Revenue

Period-to-Period Change
Amount

Percentage

(in thousands)
Cost of revenues (exclusive of
depreciation and amortization
expense)

$

83,755

45.0 %

$

71,133

47.6 % $

12,622

17.7 %

The increase in cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization) was due primarily to an increase in employee costs of $9.0 million
related to additional hiring to support the growth in our business. The additional employees are supporting implementation and buyer and
supplier experience services, SaaS product-delivery and money movement. The remainder of the
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increase was primarily driven by an increase in invoice and check processing and bank fees from an increase in the volume of transactions.
Operating Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2020
Percentage of
Amount

Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Impairment and write-off of
intangible assets
Depreciation and amortization

$

Revenue

2019
Percentage
of
Amount
Revenue

Period-to-Period Change
Amount

47,910
44,500
56,395

(in thousands)
25.8 % $
23.9 %
30.3 %

39,583
33,591
52,101

26.5 % $
22.5 %
34.8 %

8,327
10,909
4,294

924
27,514

0.5 %
14.8 %

7,891
22,340

5.3 %
14.9 %

(6,967 )
5,174

Percentage

21.0 %
32.5 %
8.2 %
(88.3 )%
23.2 %

Sales and Marketing Expenses
The increase in sales and marketing expenses was due primarily to a $7.7 million increase in employee costs (net of capitalized sales
commissions), including the hiring of additional personnel who were directly engaged in acquiring new buyers and suppliers and in marketing
our products and services.
Research and Development Expenses
The increase in research and development expenses was due primarily to an $11.6 million increase in costs associated with engaging
consultants and contractors to support the investment in our platform, which are intended to increase the quality, reliability and efficiency of
our technology, and $4.6 million related to increased employee costs, primarily related to compensation increases. These increases were
offset, in part, by an increase in costs associated with capitalization of internally developed software of approximately $4.6 million.
General and Administrative Expenses
The increase in general and administrative expenses was due primarily to costs recognized during the year ending December 31, 2020 of
approximately $11.0 million relating to a charge associated with modifying the terms of our agreement with our VCC service provider. In
addition, during the 2020 period, we incurred $1.4 million of professional and consulting fees in connection with our preparation to operate as
a public company. These increases were offset in part by certain costs that occurred during the 2019 period, including $2.9 million in
consulting fees to secure government grants for job development, $1.7 million in debt modification costs and $0.8 million related to remaining
lease payments on vacated office space.
Impairment and Write-Off of Intangible Assets
The impairment and write-off of intangible assets during the year ended December 31, 2019 relates to a new product release, which resulted
in the obsolescence of previously capitalized software development costs.
Depreciation and Amortization
The increase in depreciation and amortization expenses was due primarily to the amortization of intangible assets added through the
acquisition of BankTEL. Amortization expense related to BankTEL intangible assets was $1.8 million in 2019 compared to $7.3 million in
2020.
Other Income (Expense)
Year Ended December 31,
2020
Amount

Other Income (Expense)

$

(25,942 )

Percentage
of
Revenue

(in thousands)
(14.0 )% $

2019
Percentage
of
Amount
Revenue

(16,431 )

(11.0 )%

Period-to-Period Change
Amount

$

(9,511 )

Percentage

57.9 %

Other income (expense) increased to approximately $(25.9) million during the year ended December 31, 2020 from approximately $(16.4)
million during the year ended December 31, 2019, due primarily to a greater loss related to the revaluation of a derivative instrument of
approximately $7.0 million and an increase in interest expense associated with increased borrowings under our 2019 credit facility.
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Income Tax Expense
Year Ended December 31,
2020
Percentage of
Amount

Income tax (benefit) expense

$

Revenue

234

2019
Percentage
of
Amount
Revenue

(in thousands)
0.1 % $

60

Period-to-Period Change
Amount

0.0 % $

Percentage

174

290.0 %

The provision for income taxes relates primarily to state income taxes.
Stock-based Compensation
All of our RSUs outstanding prior to our IPO in October 2021 contained both service-based and performance-based vesting conditions. Using
the accelerated attribution method in recognizing stock-based compensation expense for these RSUs, expense for each vesting tranche in
an award is recognized ratably from the grant date to the vesting date for that tranche, resulting in acceleration of expense recognition as
compared to recognition on a straight-line basis. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, no compensation expense was
recognized for RSUs.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
We do not currently generate positive cash flow through our operations. We have financed our operations and capital expenditures primarily
through sales of common and preferred stock and borrowings under our 2019 Credit Agreement, as defined below, and, more recently, our
IPO that was completed in October 2021, which resulted in net proceeds of $621.4 million, including the exercise of the overallotment option
and after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $40.4 million and offering expenses of approximately $11.8 million. As of
December 31, 2021, our principal sources of liquidity are our unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of approximately $562.8 million and
funds available under our existing term loan and revolving credit facilities, which we collectively refer to as the 2019 Credit Agreement. As of
December 31, 2021, our unused committed capacity under the 2019 Credit Agreement was $23.5 million comprised of a delayed draw term
loan and a revolving commitment. Our $30.0 million additional delayed draw term loan, which was undrawn, expired by its terms on October
1, 2021.
We believe that our unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and funds available under our 2019 Credit Agreement will be sufficient to meet our
working capital requirements for at least the next twelve months. To the extent existing cash, cash from operations, and amounts available for
borrowing under the 2019 Credit Agreement are insufficient to fund future activities, we may need to raise additional capital. In the future, we
may attempt to raise additional capital through the sale of equity securities or through equity-linked or debt financing arrangements. If we
raise additional capital by issuing equity or equity-linked securities, the ownership of our existing stockholders will be diluted. If we raise
additional capital by the incurrence of additional indebtedness, we may be subject to increased fixed payment obligations and could also be
subject to additional restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, and other operating restrictions that could
adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. Our ability to raise additional debt may be limited by applicable regulatory requirements
as a licensed money transmitter that require us to meet certain net worth requirements. Any future indebtedness we incur may result in terms
that could be unfavorable to equity investors. There can be no assurances that we will be able to raise additional capital. The inability to raise
capital would adversely affect our ability to achieve our business objectives.
Cash Flows
Below is a summary of our consolidated cash flows:
Selected Cash Flow Data:

2021

Year Ended December 31,
2020

2019

(in thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents, and restricted funds held for
customers

$

(68,667 )
(84,107 )
1,567,859

$

(44,129 ) $
(36,560 )
193,794

$

1,415,085

$

113,105

$

(61,791 )
(116,855 )
308,259
129,613

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities
Our primary source of cash provided by our operating activities is from our software and payment revenue. Our primary uses of cash in our
operating activities include payments for employee salary and related costs, payments to third party service providers to execute our
payment transactions, sales and marketing costs, and other general corporate expenditures.
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Net cash used in operating activities increased to $68.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2021 from $44.1 million during the year
ended December 31, 2020 due primarily to IPO-related and other deal related costs and increased employee costs to support our growth and
the impact of the timing of payments which decreased AP and increased prepaid assets and other current assets, offset by the increase in
cash received from revenue generating activities.
Net cash used in operating activities decreased to approximately $44.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2020 from approximately
$61.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2019 due to the increase in cash received from revenue generating activities, as well as
reduced payroll tax payments due to deferrals allowed under the CAREs Act, offset by increased operating expenses, primarily employee
salary and consulting costs.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
Cash used in our investing activities consists primarily of the acquisition of acquired businesses, purchases of property and equipment,
capitalization of internal-use software, contingent consideration, and supplier advances related to our Invoice Accelerator product.
Net cash used in investing activities increased to $84.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to $36.6 million during
the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily due to the acquisition of FastPay in July 2021 and the purchase of real estate as well as an
increase in internal-use software capitalized.
Net cash used in investing activities decreased to approximately $36.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2020 from approximately
$116.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2019, due primarily to a reduction in cash expenditures related to the 2019 acquisition of
BankTEL, offset in part by an increase of approximately $2.7 million related to purchases of equipment and capitalized software and $3.0
million increase in supplier advances driven by a rollout of enhancements to the Cash Flow Manager product.
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Cash provided by our financing activities consists primarily of an increase in restricted buyer fund deposits related to buyer payment
transactions, proceeds from the issuance of preferred and common stock, exercise of stock options and borrowings under our 2019 Credit
Agreement.
Net cash provided by financing activities increased to $1.6 billion during the year ended December 31, 2021 from $193.8 million during the
year ended December 31, 2020, due primarily to net inflows from payment service obligations as we shifted to the money transfer license
model during 2021 and net proceeds from our IPO compared to inflows in 2020 primarily from the issuance of common and preferred stock.
Net cash provided by financing activities decreased to approximately $193.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2020 from
approximately $308.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2019, due primarily to higher net inflows from capital raise activities that
occurred during 2019 including proceeds from the issuance of the series F and senior preferred stock and $25.3 million of increased
borrowings under the 2019 credit facility. During the year ended December 31, 2020, we raised approximately $301.7 million in net proceeds
from the issuance of series F preferred stock and common stock and used a portion of these proceeds to redeem $195.7 million of common
and preferred stock and vested stock options. Additionally, restricted buyer fund deposits, or payment service obligations, provided cash of
$85.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to $51.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Outstanding Debt and Commitments
Below is a summary of our outstanding debt (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2021

Term loan facility
Delayed draw term loan
Promissory note payable for land acquisitions
Total principal due
Current portion of promissory notes
Unamortized portion of debt issuance costs
Long-term debt

$

$
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2020

95,000
9,023
23,500
127,523
(4,800 )
(2,843 )
119,880

$

$

95,000
5,552
3,000
103,552
(1,000 )
(4,106 )
98,446

Credit Facilities
On October 1, 2019, we entered into a new senior secured credit facility, which we refer to as the 2019 Credit Agreement, with Sixth Street
and KeyBank. The 2019 Credit Agreement made available a facility in an aggregate amount of $163.5 million. Proceeds from the 2019 Credit
Agreement were used to pay amounts outstanding under the credit agreement dated October 19, 2016, as amended and restated, and used
for working capital. The 2019 Credit Agreement consists of the following:
•

$95 million term loan facility, which we refer to as the 2019 term loan facility;

•

$30 million additional delayed draw term loan commitment, which we refer to as the DDTL;

•

$18.5 million delayed draw term loan commitment, which we refer to as the Interest DDTL; and

•

$20 million revolving commitment, which we refer to as the 2019 revolver.

Interest on the loans under the 2019 Credit Agreement is equal to LIBOR or a base rate, plus a margin. The applicable margin will be
between 8.0% and 9.0% for the first three years, with the lower rate applicable for quarters in which we do not borrow from the Interest
DDTL, and after the third anniversary will be 7.5% or 8.0% depending on whether the cash burn rate is greater than or less than negative
$2.5 million. The base rate is equal to the higher of the current prime rate, federal funds effective rate plus 0.5%, or 4.0%. We may elect an
interest period of up to three months in connection with a LIBOR rate loan. In 2017, the United Kingdom’s Financial Conduct Authority
warned that LIBOR may cease to be available or appropriate for use by 2021. Per the terms of the 2019 Credit Agreement, the unavailability
or replacement of LIBOR would result in the use of a similar measure based upon a calculated average of borrowing rates offered by major
banks in the London interbank as determined by Sixth Street. As such, we do not believe that the unavailability of LIBOR will have any
material impact on our borrowing costs.
From October 1, 2019 through the third anniversary date of the 2019 Credit Agreement, we may, on a quarterly basis, borrow under the
Interest DDTL to finance up to 4.5% of the interest due on the 2019 term loans. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we borrowed
$3.5 million at rates of 9.0% and 10.0%.
We also had available additional DDTL which could be made in minimum increments of $5 million, and multiples of $0.5 million in excess of
that amount, up to $30 million. The DDTL commitment terminated on October 1, 2021.
The maturity date for the 2019 term loans and Interest DDTL is April 1, 2024.
Borrowing increments on the 2019 revolver start at $0.5 million, and multiples of $0.1 million in excess of that amount. There was no balance
outstanding under the facility as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021. The maturity date for the 2019 revolver is October 1, 2023.
Borrowing availability under the 2019 revolver is reduced by the then current amount of the letter of credit dated October 1, 2019 and issued
by KeyBank to secure our obligation to make payments under the lease related to our headquarters building in Charlotte, North Carolina. The
current amount of the letter of credit is approximately $6.0 million.
The aggregate amount available to borrow under our 2019 Credit Agreement is $23.5 million as of December 31, 2021.
Liquidity and Financial Covenants
Our 2019 Credit Agreement contains certain covenants and restrictions on actions, including limitations on the payment of dividends. In
addition, the 2019 Credit Agreement requires that we comply monthly with specified ratios, including a maximum ratio of debt to recurring
revenue and a minimum cash balance requirement. We are in compliance with our financial debt covenants as of December 31, 2021.
Land Promissory Notes
On November 15, 2018, we signed a promissory note in connection with the purchase of two land parcels at our Charlotte, North Carolina
headquarters campus. The principal amount of $5.0 million will be repaid in $1.0 million installments, plus accrued interest at a rate of 6.75%,
due on each anniversary date, with final payment due on November 15, 2023. The note is collateralized by the land parcels and any future
building to be situated on, or improvements to, the land. In December 2021 in connection with the purchase of additional land and
improvements, the promissory note was modified to extend its term to November 15, 2025 and reduce the annual payment to $0.5 million.
In December 2021, we executed a promissory note in connection with the purchase of land and improvements adjacent to our Charlotte,
North Carolina headquarters campus. The principal amount of $21.5 million will be repaid in four annual installments of $4.3 million, plus
accrued interest at a rate of 6.75%, starting on December 1, 2022 and the final payment of $4.3 million plus accrued interest due on May 15,
2026. The note is collateralized by the land and improvements on the land.
We are current with all payments under the notes.
Development Fee Agreement
We were party to a development fee agreement dated September 27, 2019 for a contemplated building on our Charlotte, North Carolina
headquarters campus. This agreement required us to make payments to the seller of land purchased by us in connection
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with future development of the land. In conjunction with the purchase of land and improvements in December 2021, we terminated this
development fee agreement and will pay $3.8 million in cash to the counterparty on February 1, 2023.
Issuances of Common Stock
On September 30, 2021, we effected a 4-for-1 forward stock split of our common stock. In connection with the forward stock split, each
issued and outstanding share of common stock, automatically and without action on the part of the holders, became four shares of common
stock and each stock award and warrant was split accordingly. The par value per share of common was not adjusted. The exercise price of
options and warrants was adjusted. Shares of preferred stock were not split; however, the conversion rate of each share of preferred stock
was adjusted to reflect the forward split. All common share, per common share and related information presented in the Consolidated
Financial Statements and accompanying notes have been retroactively adjusted, where applicable, to reflect the effect of the stock split.
During the year ended December 31, 2021, we issued 6,301,372 shares of common stock at a weighted average price per share of $13.38,
excluding common stock issued in the IPO and for conversion of preferred shares and warrants. The common shares issued included
4,080,636 shares issued in connection with the amended and restated engagement letter with a related party (see Note 13 of our
Consolidated Financial Statements). Additionally, the issuances included 960,765 shares of issued upon exercise of employee stock options
and 1,259,971 shares of common stock issued to the sellers of FastPay at, and soon after, closing in July 2021, see "Shares Issued in
Acquisitions" below.
On June 24, 2021, our board of directors approved the reservation of 1,657,296 shares of our common stock (representing approximately 1%
of our issued and outstanding common stock and common stock equivalents as of June 24, 2021) for future issuance to fund our
philanthropic endeavors, including possible issuance to a philanthropic partner in connection with the establishment of a donor-advised fund,
over a ten-year period. On October 1, 2021, the Company executed an agreement with a philanthropic partner pursuant to which the
Company intends to provide annual ongoing grants of 10% of the pledged shares for a period of ten years, subject in each case to the
approval of our board of directors. None of our officers or directors are affiliated with our philanthropic partner. On October 15, 2021, we
transferred the first installment of 165,729 shares of common stock which resulted in expense of $4.1 million that was recorded in general
and administrative expense in the fourth quarter of 2021.
Initial Public Offering and Conversion of Senior Preferred Stock, Redeemable Preferred Stock, and Warrants
On October 15, 2021, we closed our IPO in which we sold 26,400,000 shares of common stock at a public offering price of $25.00 per share.
We received net proceeds of $620.4 million after deducting underwriters' discounts and incurred additional expenses in connection with the
offering of approximately $11.8 million.
Upon the closing of the IPO, all shares of outstanding redeemable preferred stock automatically converted into 111,142,439 shares of
common stock. Additionally, all shares of senior preferred stock were converted into redeemable preferred stock and convertible common
stock. The resulting redeemable preferred stock was redeemed for $169 million. The convertible common stock was converted into
1,455,306 shares of common stock.
Additionally, upon the closing of the IPO, the warrants converted into shares of common stock in a cashless exchange. Accordingly, the
797,652 outstanding warrants converted into 740,190 shares of common stock.
On November 15, 2021, the underwriters notified us of the partial exercise of the overallotment option. Upon closing on November 18, 2021,
we issued 544,928 shares of common stock at the offering price of $25.00 per share and received net proceeds of $12.8 million after
deducting underwriters' discounts and commissions.
Shares Issued in Acquisitions
In July 2021, we entered into a stock purchase agreement for all of the equity interests of FastPay for total consideration of approximately
$75.6 million which included shares of our common stock with an aggregate value of approximately $31.0 million. Additional amounts may be
earned upon achievement of future performance goals. We initially issued 2,570,748 shares of common stock in July 2021, including 40,804
shares related to contingent consideration. Upon the closing of our IPO on October 15, 2021 and in accordance with the stock purchase
agreement, we adjusted the number of shares of common stock paid to the sellers of FastPay to 1,239,973 shares of common stock and
19,998 shares of common stock related to contingent consideration that was paid in July 2021. This resulted in the return of 1,310,777
shares of common stock to us, including 20,806 shares of common stock related to the contingent consideration.
Payment Obligations
We process payments for our customers. As part of our payment product offering we have recorded payment service obligations in our
consolidated balance sheets of $1,242.3 million as of December 31, 2021 and an offsetting asset of restricted funds held for customers. This
balance is short-term in nature and represents our obligation to pay our customers' suppliers as directed by our customers.
Under our legacy trust model for processing payments, which we are in the process of phasing out, buyers’ funds were held in trust accounts
that are maintained and operated by a trustee pending distribution. After buyers’ funds are deposited in a trust
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account, we initiate payment through external payment networks whereby the buyers’ funds are distributed from the trust to the appropriate
supplier. We are not the trustee or beneficiary of the trusts which hold these buyer deposits, accordingly, we do not record these assets and
offsetting liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. However, we contractually earn interest on funds held for buyers with associated
counterparties. The amount of buyer funds held in trust-related accounts was approximately $123.6 million, and $723.1 million at December
31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. We have largely transitioned away from the trust model for processing payments, and expect
the amount of buyer funds held in trust to continue to decrease as those buyers transition to our current payments model.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements, as well as the reported revenue generated, and reported
expenses incurred during the reporting periods. Our estimates are based on our historical experience and on various other factors that we
believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions.
While our significant accounting policies are described in the notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe that the following critical accounting policies are the most important to understanding and
evaluating our reported financial results.
Capitalization of internal-use software
We have significant expenditures associated with the technological maintenance and improvement of our network and technology offerings.
These expenditures include both the cost of internal employees, who spend portions of their time on various technological projects, and the
use of external temporary labor and consultants. We are required to assess these expenditures and make a determination as to whether the
costs should be expensed as incurred or are subject to capitalization. In making these determinations, we consider the stage of the
development project, the probability of successful development and if the development is resulting in increased features and functionality. In
addition, if we determine that a project qualifies for capitalization, the amount of capitalization is subject to various estimates, including the
amount of time spent on the development work and the cost per hour of full-time and temporary labor.
Deferred costs
Deferred costs include deferred sales commissions and implementations costs that are incremental costs of obtaining and fulfilling buyer
contracts. We amortize these costs ratably over the estimated period of our relationship with new buyers, which is generally five years.
Based on historical experience, we determine the average life of our buyer relationship by taking into consideration our buyer contracts and
the estimated technological life of our platform and related significant features.
Stock-based compensation
We use the grant-date fair-value-based measurements for stock-based compensation related to stock options using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model. We recognize these compensation costs on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award, which is
generally the option vesting term of four years, reduced for estimated forfeitures at the date of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent
periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. We estimate the forfeiture rate based on the historical experience for annual grant
years where the majority of the vesting terms have been satisfied.
The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires the use of highly subjective assumptions which determine the fair value of stock-based
awards. These assumptions include:
•

Expected term. The expected term represents the period that stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding. The
expected term for option grants is determined using the simplified method. The simplified method deems the term to be the
average of the time-to-vesting and the contractual life of the stock-based awards.

•

Expected volatility. Since we were previously privately held and did not have any trading history for our common stock, the
expected volatility was estimated based on the average volatility for comparable publicly traded companies over a period equal
to the expected term of the stock option grants. The comparable companies were chosen based on their similar size, stage in
the lifecycle or area of specialty.

•

Risk-free interest rate. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury zero coupon issues in effect at the time of grant
for periods corresponding with the expected term of the option.
57

•

Expected dividend yield. We have never paid dividends on our common stock and have no plans to pay dividends on our
common stock.

Common Stock and Derivative Instrument Valuation
The valuation of our common stock is important as it is a significant input into the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and therefore impacts
our stock compensation expense. In addition, our senior preferred stock had a conversion feature that qualified as a derivative financial
instrument and therefore was required to be recorded at fair value each reporting period, with changes in fair value recorded in the
consolidated statements of operations until it was converted in connection with the IPO.
Since our IPO in October 2021, the value of our stock is readily determinable by market prices. Prior to the IPO, we determined the equity
value of our business generally using the income approach and the market comparable approach valuation methods when valuing our
common stock and derivative instrument. When applicable due to a recent preferred or common stock offering, the prior sale of company
stock method was also utilized.
The income approach estimates value based on the expectation of future cash flows that a company will generate — such as cash earnings,
cost savings, tax deductions, and the proceeds from disposition. These future cash flows are discounted to their present values using a
discount rate derived from an analysis of the cost of capital of comparable publicly traded companies in our industry or similar lines of
business as of each valuation date and is adjusted to reflect the risks inherent in our cash flows. In addition, we also considered an
appropriate discount adjustment to recognize the lack of marketability due to being a closely-held entity.
The market comparable approach estimates value based on a comparison of the subject company to comparable public companies in a
similar line of business. From the comparable companies, a representative market value multiple is determined which is applied to the
subject company’s operating results to estimate the value of the subject company. The estimated value is then discounted by a nonmarketability factor because stockholders of private companies lack access to trading markets similar to those enjoyed by stockholders of
public companies which impacts liquidity. To determine our peer group of companies, we considered public enterprise cloud-based
application providers and selected those that were similar to us in size, stage of lifecycle, and financial leverage.
The resulting equity value was then allocated to each class of stock using an Option Pricing Model, or OPM. The OPM treats common stock
and redeemable convertible preferred stock as call options on an equity value, with exercise prices based on the liquidation preference of our
redeemable convertible preferred stock. Under this method, our common stock has value only if the funds available for distribution to
stockholders exceed the value of the liquidation preference at the time of a liquidity event, such as a merger or sale, assuming we have funds
available to make a liquidation preference meaningful and collectible by the stockholders. The common stock is considered to be a call option
with a claim at an exercise price equal to the remaining value immediately after the redeemable convertible preferred stock is liquidated.
After our IPO on October 13, 2021, we determine the fair value of each share of underlying common stock based on the closing price as
reported on the date of grant on the primary stock exchange on which our common stock is traded.
Business Combinations and Valuation of Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangible Assets
We allocate the fair value of purchase consideration to the tangible assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and intangible assets acquired
based on their estimated fair values. The excess of the fair value of purchase consideration over the fair values of these identifiable assets
and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Such valuations require management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially with
respect to intangible assets. Significant estimates in valuing intangible assets include, but are not limited to, future expected cash flows from
acquired users, acquired technology, and trade names from a market participant perspective, useful lives, and discount rates. Management’s
estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as
a result, actual results may differ from estimates. During the measurement period, which is one year from the acquisition date, we may record
adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the
measurement period, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to earnings.
We review goodwill for impairment at least annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
of goodwill may not be recoverable. We have elected to first assess the qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that
the fair value of our single reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform a
quantitative assessment. If we determine that it is more-likely-than-not that its fair value is less than its carrying amount, then the fair value of
the reporting unit is compared to its carrying value. An impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount
exceeds the reporting unit's fair value, not to exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. As of December 31, 2021,
no impairment of goodwill has been identified.
Acquired finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives, which is generally 3 to 15 years. We evaluate the
recoverability of our intangible assets for possible impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the
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carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is measured by a comparison of the carrying
amounts to the future undiscounted cash flows the assets are expected to generate. If such review indicates that the carrying amount of
intangible assets is not recoverable, the carrying amount of such assets is reduced to fair value.
Income Taxes
We account for income taxes in accordance with FASB Accounting Standards Codification 740, Income Taxes, or ASC 740. Under ASC 740,
we recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. We measure deferred tax assets and liabilities
using the enacted tax rates expected to apply in the years in which we expect the temporary differences to be recovered or settled. We
record a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets for the amount expected to be realized by considering all available positive and
negative evidence.
Pursuant to ASC 740, we must consider all available positive and negative evidence regarding the realization of deferred tax assets. ASC
740 provides for four sources of taxable income for realization of deferred tax assets: (i) taxable income in prior carryback years, (ii) reversals
of future taxable temporary differences, (iii) tax planning strategies and (iv) projected future taxable income. As of December 31, 2021, we
have no taxable income in prior carryback years, limited future reversals of taxable temporary differences and no prudent and feasible tax
planning strategies. The recoverability of our deferred tax assets is dependent upon generating future taxable income.
We have maintained a valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets, having determined it was more likely than not that the deferred
tax assets would not be realized. The determination of releasing the valuation allowance is made, in part, pursuant to our assessment as to
whether it is more likely than not that we will generate sufficient future taxable income to realize the deferred tax assets. Significant
judgement is required in making estimates of our ability to generate future taxable income. As of December 31, 2021, our forecasted future
taxable income is not sufficient to support the future realization of the deferred tax assets, and our historical losses operations have produced
significant losses.
The application of income tax law is inherently complex. Laws and regulations in this area are often ambiguous. Under ASC 740, the impact
of uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken on an income tax return must be recognized in the financial statements at the largest
amount that is more likely than not to be sustained upon audit by the relevant taxing authority. An uncertain tax position will not be
recognized in the financial statements unless it is more likely than not to be sustained.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K for recently adopted accounting
pronouncements and recently issued accounting pronouncements not yet adopted as of December 31, 2021.
Emerging Growth Company Status
We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the JOBS Act. Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can delay adopting
new or revised accounting standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the JOBS Act until such time as those standards apply to
private companies. We elected to use this extended transition period for compliance with new or revised accounting standards that have
different effective dates for public and private companies until the earlier of the date that we (i) are no longer an emerging growth company or
(ii) affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. As a result, our Consolidated Financial
Statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with the new or revised accounting pronouncements as of public company
effective dates. During 2020, we early adopted ASU 2016-02, Leases (ASC Topic 842) as the JOBS Act does not preclude an emerging
growth company from early adopting a new or revised accounting standard earlier than the time that such standard applies to private
companies. We expect to use the extended transition period for any other new or revised accounting standards during the period in which we
remain an emerging growth company.
ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk
Our overall investment portfolio is comprised of (i) our operating cash and (ii) buyer funds. Our operating cash includes cash received from
revenues generated, the sale of common and preferred stock and increased borrowings. Buyer funds are funds that have been collected
from buyers, but not yet remitted to the applicable supplier. The funds are held in either company-owned accounts, which are subject to
applicable state money transmitter laws, or in trust accounts. We are entitled to any interest earned on the investment of all buyer funds.
Our operating cash may be invested in accordance with our cash investment policy. Under that policy, we invest with the objective of
preserving capital while optimizing yield. Permissible investments include U.S. Treasury instruments, U.S. Government Agency securities,
commercial paper, investment grade corporate bonds and money market funds. As of December 31, 2021, substantially all operating cash
has been invested in interest-bearing demand deposit accounts.
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Our buyer funds assets are invested with safety of principal, liquidity, and diversification as the primary objectives. Consistent with those
objectives, we also seek to maximize interest income and to minimize the volatility of interest income with emphasis on liquidity. Pursuant to
our investment policy and subject to applicable law, buyer funds may be invested in U.S. Treasury securities, U.S. Government Agency
securities, money market funds that invest in investment grade securities, or other cash equivalents, including certificates of deposit. As of
December 31, 2021, all buyer funds have been invested in interest-bearing demand deposit accounts.
We are exposed to interest-rate risk relating to our investment portfolio, which consists principally of interest-bearing demand deposit
accounts. We recognize interest earned from buyer funds assets as revenue. We generally do not pay interest to buyers. Factors that
influence the rate of interest we earn include the short-term market interest rate environment and the weighting of balances by security type.
The annualized interest rate earned on our investment of operating cash and funds held for buyers decreased to 0.45% during the fiscal year
2021 from 0.65% during the fiscal year 2020. Based on current investment practices, an increase in the Federal Funds interest rate of 100
basis points would have changed our interest income during the fiscal year 2021 from our investment of operating cash by approximately
$3.4 million and our interest on buyer funds assets by approximately $5.9 million based upon the average balances for the fiscal year 2021 of
$273.4 million in operating cash investments and $656.8 million in buyer funds investments, respectively. In addition to interest rate risks, we
also have exposure to risks associated with changes in laws and regulations that may affect buyer fund balances. For example, a change in
regulations that restricts the permissible investment alternatives for buyer funds may reduce our interest earned revenue.
We are also exposed to interest-rate risk relating to existing variable rate bank borrowings. As of December 31, 2021 and December 31,
2020, we had outstanding borrowings on variable rate debt of $104.0 million and $100.6 million, respectively. A 100 basis points increase in
the variable rate would have resulted in incremental interest expense of $1.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2021.
Credit Risk
We may be exposed to credit risk in connection with our investments. Cash deposits may at times exceed Federal Deposit Insurance
Company, or FDIC, limits. We limit credit risk by diversifying our portfolio, including a requirement that no more than 5% of invested funds
may be held in the issues of a single corporation. Additionally, the minimum credit quality of any investment shall be not less than an ‘(A-) or
(A3)’ rating equivalent from any single rating services based on ratings by any of Standard and Poor’s Ratings Services, Moody’s Investors
Service, or Fitch Investor Services. The maximum maturity of any security in the portfolio shall not exceed 24 months. The weighted average
maturity of the portfolio shall not exceed 12 months. In addition, maximum maturities of individual securities are further limited by the security
type and cash segment of the investment. We are also exposed to credit risk related to the timing of payments made from buyer funds
collected. We typically remit buyer funds to our buyers’ suppliers in advance of having good or confirmed funds collected from our buyers.
Our buyers generally have three days to dispute transactions and if we remit funds in advance of receiving confirmation that no dispute was
initiated by our buyer, then we could suffer a credit loss. We mitigate this credit exposure by leveraging our data assets to make credit
underwriting decisions about whether to accelerate disbursements, managing exposure limits, and implementing various controls in our
operating systems.
We are also exposed to risks associated with our Invoice Accelerator product, in which our supplier customers can accelerate the receipt of
payment for outstanding invoices before our buyers initiate the transfer of funds. If those invoices are not approved or the buyer does not
transfer the requisite funds then we are exposed to the risk of not being able to recoup our advances to the supplier. We mitigate this risk
through data analytics to determine which invoices are available for advance payment and by also monitoring the credit quality of suppliers.
Liquidity Risk
As part of our buyer funds investment strategy, we use the daily collection of funds from our buyers to satisfy other unrelated buyer funds
obligations. We minimize the risk of not having funds collected from a buyer available at the time the buyer’s obligation becomes due by
collecting the buyer’s funds prior to payment of the buyer’s obligation. As a result of this practice, we have consistently maintained the
required level of buyer funds assets to satisfy all of our obligations.
Concentration Risk
A substantial portion of our revenue is derived from interchange fees earned on payment transactions processed from one VCC service
provider, Comdata Inc. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, interchange fee revenues from this vendor represented
approximately 47%, 50%, and 53% of total revenues, respectively. As of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, 53% and 62% of
accounts receivable, net, is comprised of amounts due from this VCC service provider, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, 13% of
accounts receivable, net, is comprised of amounts due from a second VCC service provider.
Future regulation or changes by the payment networks could have a substantial impact on our revenue from VCC transactions. If interchange
rates decline, whether due to actions by the payment networks, merchant/suppliers availing themselves of lower
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rates, or future regulation, our total operating revenues, operating results, prospects for future growth and overall business could be
materially affected.
The initial term of our current agreement with Comdata expires on December 31, 2023 and automatically renews on a monthly basis
thereafter, subject to either party providing 30 days’ notice of non-renewal prior to expiration of the initial term or any monthly renewal term.
The agreement is subject to earlier termination by either party as a result of the other party’s default and subsequent failure to cure within 30
days of receiving notice of default. We may also terminate the agreement if we don’t agree with changes that Comdata may propose to the
agreement as a result of changes in applicable law or interpretation of applicable law or card network rules that may occur during the
agreement term.
ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
The information required by this Item is set forth in the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto beginning at page F-1 of this
Report.
ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures.
None.
ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures.
(a)

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated, as of the end of the period
covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by
the issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized,
and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based on that evaluation, and as a result of the material weaknesses
described below, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2021, our disclosure controls
and procedures were not effective.
In light of this fact, our management has performed additional analyses, reconciliations, and other post-closing procedures and has
concluded that, notwithstanding the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, the consolidated financial statements
for the periods covered by and included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly state, in all material respects, our financial position, results
of operations and cash flows for the periods presented in conformity with U.S. GAAP.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
This annual report does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting due to a
transition period established by rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission for newly public companies. This annual report does not
include an attestation report of the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial
reporting.
Material Weaknesses in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. As of the
end of the period covered by this report, our material weaknesses are as follows:
We lack a sufficient complement of personnel with an appropriate level of accounting knowledge, training,
and experience to appropriately analyze, record and disclose accounting matters timely and accurately. This material weakness
contributed to an additional material weakness as we did not design and maintain effective controls over the preparation and review of
the statement of cash flows.
These material weaknesses resulted in material misstatements related to our preferred stock, additional-paid-in-capital accounts, and the
classification of cash flows from operating and investing activities as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, which resulted in the
restatement of the 2019 consolidated financial statements, errors identified and corrected in the aforementioned accounts as of and for the
periods ended December 31, 2020 and June 30, 2021, and in immaterial misstatements related to our cost of revenues, sales and marketing
expense, research and development expense, general and administrative expense, and additional-paid-in-capital accounts, which resulted in
the revision of our December 31, 2020 and June 30, 2021 financial statements. Additionally, these material weaknesses could result in a
misstatement of substantially all of our accounts or
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disclosures that such material weaknesses could result in a material misstatement to the annual or interim consolidated financial statements
that would not be prevented or detected.
Remediation of Previously Identified Material Weaknesses
As previously disclosed in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2021, management concluded that
material weaknesses existed in the Company's internal control over financial reporting as we did not design and maintain effective controls to
appropriately reconcile cash receipt and disbursement transactions within our treasury operations accounts at the individual transaction level;
and we did not design and maintain effective controls over the accounting for preferred stock transactions.
As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, management completed the following:
•

We have successfully designed and implemented a full suite of controls supporting the end-to-end money movement process,
from payment initiation downstream through payment reconciliation. We determined that risks throughout the process are
successfully mitigated with the combination of manual and automated controls.

•

We have a new Controller with extensive knowledge and experience consulting on public company U.S. GAAP and SEC
requirements. Additionally, the Company hired an experienced SEC reporting leader with prior IPO, technical accounting, and
financial reporting experience. We have also hired additional technical accounting resources with public company experience to
assess complex technical accounting and reporting matters, including accounting for preferred stock transactions and preparing
and reviewing the statement of cash flows.

•

We have re-designed and enhanced controls and rollforward procedures related to equity entries.

Since identifying the material weaknesses, management has implemented its plan to remediate the control deficiencies related to reconciling
cash receipt and disbursement transactions within our treasury operations accounts at the individual transaction level and the accounting for
preferred stock transactions, including enhancing the Company’s design, documentation and implementation of certain internal controls to
address the previously identified control deficiencies. Management has completed its documentation, testing and evaluation of the redesigned and enhanced controls and determined that, as of December 31, 2021, these controls have been appropriately designed and
implemented, and have operated effectively for a sufficient period of time to conclude that the previously identified material weaknesses have
been remediated.
Remediation Plan for Remaining Material Weaknesses
As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K we are in the process of implementing the following steps of our remediation plan.
•

We continue to hire additional technical accounting resources with public company experience to enhance our accounting and
financial reporting function.

•

We will engage third-party resources to supplement our resources and current processes where needed.

•

We will continue to design and refine adequate review procedures and implement improved processes and controls related to
the statement of cash flows.

While we believe these efforts will remediate the material weaknesses, these material weaknesses cannot be considered fully remediated
until the applicable remedial controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these
controls are operating effectively.

(b) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the most recent fiscal quarter, which have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
ITEM 9B. Other Information.
None.
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ITEM 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.
None.
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PART III.
ITEMS 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14.
Information required by Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 is to be included in our 2022 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference,
provided if the 2022 Proxy Statement is not filed within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K,
the omitted information will be included in an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K filed not later than the end of such 120-day
period.
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PART IV.
ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a)(1) Financial Statements.
The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K, as set forth on the Index to the Financial Statements found on page F-1:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the Years Ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the ear Ended Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules.
Not Applicable
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(a)(3) Exhibits.
Exhibit
Number

2.1

3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2

10.1†
10.2†
10.3†
10.4†
10.5†
10.6†
10.7†
10.8†
10.9†
10.10†
10.11†
10.12†
10.13†

Incorporated by Reference
(Unless Otherwise Indicated)
File
Exhibit

Description

Form

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 4,
2021, by and among AvidXchange Holdings, Inc.,
AvidXchange Holdings Merger Sub, Inc., and
AvidXchange, Inc.
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of AvidXchange
Holdings, Inc.
Amended and Restated Bylaws of AvidXchange
Holdings, Inc.
Form of Common Stock Certificate

S-1

333-259632

2.1

September 17,
2021

8-K

001-40898

3.1

8-K

001-40898

3.2

S-1/A

333-259632

4.1

S-1

333-259632

10.1

October 15,
2021
October 15,
2021
October 1,
2021
September 17,
2021

S-1

333-259632

10.5

September 17,
2021

S-1

333-259632

10.6

September 17,
2021

S-1

333-259632

10.7

September 17,
2021

S-1

333-259632

10.8

September 17,
2021

S-1

333-259632

10.9

September 17,
2021

S-1

333-259632

10.10

September 17,
2021

S-1/A

333-259632

10.2

October 1,
2021

S-1

333-259632

10.4

September 17,
2021

S-1

333-259632

10.11

September 17,
2021

S-1

333-259632

10.12

September 17,
2021

S-1

333-259632

10.13

September 17,
2021

S-1/A

333-259632

10.14

October 1,
2021

S-1/A

333-259632

10.15

October 1,
2021

Eighth Amended and Restated Investor Rights
Agreement, dated July 9, 2021, by and among
AvidXchange Holdings, Inc. and certain holders
identified therein
Employment Agreement, entered into as of August
26, 2021, by and between AvidXchange, Inc. and
Michael Praeger
Employment Agreement, entered into as of August
26, 2021, by and between AvidXchange, Inc. and
Joel Wilhite
Employment Agreement, entered into as of August
26, 2021, by and between AvidXchange, Inc. and
Dan Drees
Employment Agreement, entered into as of August
26, 2021, by and between AvidXchange, Inc. and
Ryan M. Stahl
Employment Agreement, entered into as of August
26, 2021, by and between AvidXchange, Inc. and
Todd Cunningham
Employment Agreement, entered into as of August
26, 2021, by and between AvidXchange, Inc. and
Angelic Gibson
Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by
and between AvidXchange Holdings, Inc. and each
director and executive officer
AvidXchange, Inc. Nonqualified Deferred
Compensation Plan, as amended and restated
effective as of January 1, 2019
AvidXchange, Inc. 2010 Stock Option Plan, as
amended, and forms of award agreements
thereunder
AvidXchange, Inc. 2017 Amendment and
Restatement of the 2010 Option Plan, as amended,
and forms of award agreements thereunder
AvidXchange, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan, as
amended, and forms of award agreements
thereunder
AvidXchange Holdings, Inc. 2021 Long-Term
Incentive Award Plan and forms of award
agreements thereunder
AvidXchange Holdings, Inc. 2021 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan
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Filing Date

10.14#

10.15#

10.16#
10.17#
10.18
21.1
23.1
31.1

31.2

32.1

101.INS

101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
104

Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of October
1, 2019, by and among AvidXchange, Inc.,
AvidXchange Financial Services, Inc., Piracle, Inc.,
Strongroom Solutions Inc., Ariett Business Solutions,
Inc., AFV Holdings One, Inc., BTS Alliance, LLC,
Certain Other Subsidiaries of AvidXchange, Inc., the
guarantors party thereto from time to time, Sixth
Street Specialty Lending, Inc., as administrative
agent, collateral agent, and the lenders party thereto,
as amended through October 1, 2021
Pledge and Security Agreement, dated as of October
1, 2019, by and among the grantors identified therein
and Sixth Street Specialty Lending, Inc., as collateral
agent
Comdata MasterCard Corporate Virtual Card
Agreement, dated December 23, 2020, by and
among AvidXchange, Inc. and Comdata Inc.
Amended and Restated Engagement Letter, dated
February 19, 2021, AvidXchange, Inc. and Financial
Technology Partners LP and FTP Securities LLC
Lease Agreement, dated October 27, 2015, between
Lex Charlotte AXC L.P. and AvidXchange, Inc.
Subsidiaries of AvidXchange Holdings, Inc.

S-1/A

333-259632

10.16

October 4,
2021

S-1/A

333-259632

10.17

October 1,
2021

S-1

333-259632

10.21

September 17,
2021

S-1

333-259632

10.22

September 17,
2021

S-1/A

333-259632

10.3

S-1

333-259632

21.1

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant
to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to
Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance
document does not appear in the Interactive Data
File because XBRL tags are embedded within the
Inline XBRL document.
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation
Linkbase Document
Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within
the Inline XBRL document)

__

__

__

October 1,
2021
September 17,
2021
Filed herewith

__

__

__

Filed herewith

__

__

__

Filed herewith

__

__

__

Furnished
herewith

__

__

__

Filed herewith

__

__

__

Filed herewith

__

__

__

Filed herewith

__

__

__

Filed herewith

__

__

__

Filed herewith

__

__

__

Filed herewith

__

__

__

Filed herewith
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† Consists of a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
# Portions of this exhibit (indicated by asterisks) have been redacted in compliance with Regulation S-K Item 601(b)(10)(iv).
(b) Financial Statement Schedules.
See Item 15(a)(3) above.
(c) Financial Statement Schedules.
See Item 15(a)(2) above.
ITEM 16. Form 10-K Summary.
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
AvidXchange Holdings, Inc.
Date: March 11, 2022

By:

/s/ Joel Wilhite
Joel Wilhite
Chief Financial Officer
(Authorized Signatory and Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Capacity

Date

/s/ Michael Praeger
Michael Praeger

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
of Directors (Principal Executive Officer)

March 11, 2022

/s/ Joel Wilhite
Joel Wilhite

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)

March 11, 2022

/s/ Lance Drummond
Lance Drummond

Director

March 11, 2022

/s/ Matthew Harris
Matthew Harris

Director

March 11, 2022

/s/ James Hausman
James Hausman

Director

March 11, 2022

/s/ Teresa Mackintosh
Teresa Mackintosh

Director

March 11, 2022

/s/ James Michael McGuire
James Michael McGuire

Director

March 11, 2022

/s/ John C. Morris
John C. Morris

Director

March 11, 2022

/s/ Nigel Morris
Nigel Morris

Director

March 11, 2022

/s/ Wendy Murdock
Wendy Murdock

Director

March 11, 2022
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of AvidXchange Holdings, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of AvidXchange Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the related consolidated statements of operations, of changes in convertible preferred stock and
stockholders' equity (deficit) and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, including the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.
Changes in Accounting Principles
As discussed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for leases in 2020.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with
the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Charlotte, North Carolina
March 11, 2022
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.
F-2

AvidXchange Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

As of December 31,
2021
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted funds held for customers
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $2,283 and $1,769, respectively
Supplier advances receivable, net of allowances of $1,105 and $1,099, respectively
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Deferred customer origination costs, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Other noncurrent assets and deposits
Total assets
Liabilities, Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Payment service obligations
Deferred revenue
Current portion of contingent consideration
Current maturities of lease obligations under finance leases
Current maturities of lease obligations under operating leases
Current maturities of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Deferred revenue, less current
Contingent consideration, less current portion
Obligations under finance leases, less current maturities
Obligations under operating leases, less current maturities
Long-term debt
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 40,472,166 shares authorized and
30,081,996 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020; liquidation preference of
$884,842 as of December 31, 2020
Stockholders' equity (deficit)
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2021,
no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 1,600,000,000 and 240,000,000 shares authorized as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively; 196,804,844 and 50,054,880 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)
Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders' equity (deficit)

$

$

$

$

562,817
1,242,346
30,965
11,520
10,237
1,857,885
106,227
3,278
28,276
165,921
100,455
4,261
2,266,303

$

17,142
56,082
1,242,346
9,530
688
670
1,048
4,800
1,332,306

$

$

252,458
137,620
24,757
8,855
8,626
432,316
86,872
3,139
24,124
105,696
72,442
1,922
726,511

25,418
40,472
137,620
6,309
1,092
1,147
1,000
213,058

20,350
70
61,172
3,448
119,880
6,022
1,543,248

1,661
73,139
3,750
98,446
14,939
404,993

-

832,625

-

-

197
1,594,780
(871,922 )
723,055
2,266,303

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2020

$

50
161,116
(672,273 )
(511,107 )
726,511

AvidXchange Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
2021
Revenues
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization expense)
Operating expenses
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Impairment and write-off of intangible assets
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense)
Interest income
Interest expense
Change in fair value of derivative instrument
Charge for amending financing advisory engagement letter - related
party
Other expenses
Loss before income taxes
Income tax (benefit) expense
Net loss
Deemed dividend on preferred stock
Accretion of convertible preferred stock
Net loss attributable to common stockholders
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and
diluted
Weighted average number of common shares used to compute net
loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted

$

Year Ended December 31,
2020
248,409 $
185,928 $
100,090
83,755

2019
149,584
71,133

63,939
65,147
95,817
1,412
30,738
257,053
(108,734 )

47,910
44,500
56,395
924
27,514
177,243
(75,070 )

39,583
33,591
52,101
7,891
22,340
155,506
(77,055 )

661
(20,108 )
(26,128 )

1,675
(20,080 )
(7,537 )

1,383
(17,259 )
(555 )

$

(50,000 )
(95,575 )
(204,309 )
(4,660 )
(199,649 ) $

(25,942 )
(101,012 )
234
(101,246 ) $

(16,431 )
(93,486 )
60
(93,546 )

$

(9,500 )
(15,141 )
(224,290 ) $

(43,414 )
(21,682 )
(166,342 ) $

(6,494 )
(7,906 )
(107,946 )

$

(2.64 ) $

(3.34 ) $

(2.54 )

85,061,417

49,738,252

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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42,526,716

AvidXchange Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Convertible

Balances at December 31, 2018
Exercise of stock options and warrants
Common stock issued for acquisition
Stock-based compensation
Vesting of warrants issued in connection with
consulting services
Options issued in connection with 2018 bonus
program
Common stock repurchased
Senior preferred issuance, net
Series F preferred issuance, net
Redemption of redeemable convertible preferred
stock
Premium paid on redemption of redeemable
convertible preferred stock
Accretion of convertible preferred stock
Net loss
Balances at December 31, 2019
Exercise of stock options and warrants
Common stock issued for acquisition
Stock-based compensation
Vesting of warrants issued in connection with
consulting services
Common shares issuance, net
Common stock repurchased
Series F preferred issuance, net
Redemption of redeemable convertible preferred
stock
Premium paid on redemption of redeemable
convertible preferred stock
Accretion of convertible preferred stock
Net loss
Balances at December 31, 2020
Exercise of stock options
Common stock issued for acquisition
Common stock issued as contingent consideration
Fair value of call option at acquisition
Stock-based compensation
Issuance of common stock upon initial public
offering, net of underwriting discounts,
commissions and other offering costs, including
exercise of overallotment option
Issuance of common stock in connection with
amended agreement - related party
Shares issued upon net settlement of warrants
Repurchase of common stock through call option

Common

Preferred Stock
Shares
Amount
23,911,6
472,45
54 $
1
-

Stock
Shares
Amount
41,745,67
6 $
42
445,392
1,851,784
2
-

-

-

-

2,722,16
6
2,652,41
2

123,09
5
122,07
4

(278,371 )

(4,691 )

(28,152 )

Additional
Paid-in
Capital
$

5,337
594
9,512
1,379

-

202

-

128
(7 )

Accumulat
ed

Total
Stockholders'

Deficit

Equity (Deficit)

$ (320,926 ) $
(99 )

(315,547 )
594
9,514
1,379
202
128
(106 )

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

44,014,70
0
613,296
488,704
-

-

29,007,8
61
-

7,906
720,83
$
5
-

-

-

-

-

2,040,31
6

93,632

-

-

-

-

-

(966,181 )

(3,524 )

-

-

-

-

-

-

$

17,988,02
0
(13,049,8
40 )

30,081,9
96
-

21,682
832,62
$
5
-

50,054,88
0
960,765
2,529,944
40,804
-

-

-

26,944,92
8

-

-

-

-

4,080,636
740,190
(1,310,77
7)
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44
1
-

(5,346 )
$

(6,494 )
(7,906 )
(93,546 )

$ (423,625 ) $
-

(411,782 )
1,878
5,988
1,630

-

101

-

101

18

206,203

-

206,221

(13 )

$

11,799
1,877
5,988
1,630

(6,494 )
(2,560 )
(93,546 )

50
1
3
-

27
4
1
(1 )

(1,573 )

(43,414 )
(21,495 )
$

(147,215 )

(187 )
(101,246 )

161,116 $ (672,273 ) $
2,819
30,997
500
(4,118 )
21,428
-

627,954
49,996
(1 )
1

(148,801 )

(43,414 )
(21,682 )
(101,246 )
(511,107 )
2,820
31,000
500
(4,118 )
21,428

-

627,981

-

50,000
-

-

-

AvidXchange Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Options issued in connection with bonus program
Redemption of senior convertible preferred stock
Premium paid on redemption of senior convertible
preferred stock
Accretion of convertible preferred stock
Conversion of convertible preferred stock to
common stock upon initial public offering
Conversion of convertible common stock liability to
common stock upon initial public offering
Value of donated common stock
Net loss
Balances at December 31, 2021

(2,722,16
6)

(159,5
00 )

-

-

49

-

49

-

-

-

-

-

(27,359,8
30 )

15,141
(688,2
66 )

111,142,4
39

-

-

$

-

1,455,306
165,729
196,804,8
44

$

(9,500 )
(15,141 )

-

(9,500 )
(15,141 )

111

688,155

-

688,266

1
-

36,382
4,143
-

197

$

1,594,780

(199,649 )

36,383
4,143
(199,649 )

$ (871,922 ) $

723,055

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AvidXchange Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

2021
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization expense
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Provision for doubtful accounts
Stock-based compensation
Fair value adjustment of contingent consideration
Warrants vested in connection with consulting services
Accrued interest
Impairment and write-off on intangible and right-of-use assets
Loss on fixed asset disposal
Payment of third party fees related to debt modification
Payment of third party fees related to debt modification —related party
Value of donated common stock
Noncash expense on contract modification - related party
Fair value adjustment to derivative instrument
Deferred income taxes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other noncurrent assets
Deferred customer origination costs
Accounts payable
Deferred revenue
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Deferred rent and tenant improvement allowance
Total adjustments
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of equipment
Purchases of real estate
Purchases of intangible assets
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired
Contingent consideration and deferred obligation payments near acquisition date
Supplier advances, net
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon initial public offering, net of
underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering costs, including exercise
of overallotment option
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt
Repayments of long-term debt
Principal payments on land promissory note
Principal payments on finance leases
Proceeds from issuance of preferred and common stock
Common stock repurchased
Convertible preferred stock redeemed
Transaction costs related to issuance of stock
Transaction costs related to issuance of stock - related party
Debt issuance costs
Payment on earn-out agreement
Payment service obligations
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted funds held for customers
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted funds held for customers
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$

Year Ended December 31,
2020

(199,649 )

$

(101,246 )

$

2019
(93,546 )

30,738
1,357
2,147
21,428
(122 )
881
1,412
36
4,143
50,000
26,128
(4,728 )

27,514
1,182
1,442
1,630
101
913
997
14
7,537
181

22,340
1,184
901
1,379
202
878
7,891
11
(593 )
(2,645 )
555
60

(4,713 )
(1,759 )
(2,367 )
(4,152 )
(12,377 )
21,910
1,560
(540 )
130,982
(68,667 )

(5,711 )
(1,245 )
359
(2,876 )
14,149
289
11,619
(978 )
57,117
(44,129 )

(2,328 )
(1,099 )
(340 )
(4,646 )
3,665
235
3,725
380
31,755
(61,791 )

(1,395 )
(14,050 )
(16,931 )
5
(46,089 )
(1,292 )
(4,355 )
(84,107 )

(703 )
25
(11,346 )
(19,829 )
(4,707 )
(36,560 )

(1,905 )
(39 )
(7,349 )
(105,834 )
(1,728 )
(116,855 )

627,981
3,471
(1,000 )
(1,139 )
2,820
(169,000 )
1,104,726
1,567,859
1,415,085

4,472
(1,000 )
(1,582 )
322,288
(148,763 )
(46,980 )
(1,327 )
(19,227 )
85,913
193,794
113,105

96,081
(70,781 )
(1,000 )
(1,777 )
260,488
(11,184 )
(1,241 )
(11,428 )
(2,106 )
(500 )
51,707
308,259
129,613

AvidXchange, Inc.
Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (continued)
(in thousands)
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted funds held for customers, beginning of year
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted funds held for customers, end of year
Supplementary information of noncash investing and financing activities
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease obligations
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease obligations
Purchase of real estate in exchange for promissory note
Common stock issued on conversion of convertible preferred stock and convertible
common stock liability
Common stock issued in business combination
Common stock issued as contingent consideration
Initial fair value of contingent consideration and deferred payment obligation at
acquisition date
Property and equipment purchases in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Interest paid on notes payable
Interest paid on finance leases
Options issued in connection with bonus compensation

$
$

390,078
1,805,163
174
877
21,500

$

276,973
390,078

$

544
163
-

$
$

147,360
276,973
1,110
-

724,649
31,000
500

5,988
-

9,514
-

2,672
768
10,486
7,384
49

10,798
7,187
-

84
9,605
5,631
128

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AvidXchange Holdings, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
1.

Formation and Business of the Company

Formation
AvidXchange, Inc. was incorporated in the state of Delaware in 2000. In July 2021, the Company consummated a reorganization by
interposing a holding company between AvidXchange, Inc. and its stockholders. After the reorganization, all of the stockholders of
AvidXchange, Inc. became stockholders of AvidXchange Holdings, Inc. and AvidXchange, Inc. became a wholly owned subsidiary of
AvidXchange Holdings, Inc. To accomplish the reorganization, the Company formed AvidXchange Holdings, Inc., which was incorporated in
Delaware on January 27, 2021, and AvidXchange Merger Sub, Inc. (“Merger Sub”) as a wholly owned subsidiary of AvidXchange Holdings,
Inc. The Company merged AvidXchange, Inc. with and into Merger Sub, with AvidXchange, Inc. as the surviving entity, by issuing identical
shares of stock of AvidXchange Holdings, Inc. to the stockholders of AvidXchange, Inc. in exchange for their equity interest in AvidXchange,
Inc.
The merger was considered a transaction between entities under common control. Upon the effective date of the reorganization, July 9,
2021, AvidXchange Holdings, Inc. recognized the assets and liabilities of AvidXchange, Inc. at their carrying values within its financial
statements.
AvidXchange Holdings, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries are collectively referred to as “AvidXchange” or “the Company” in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements after the reorganization.
Business
AvidXchange provides accounts payable (“AP”) automation software and payment solutions for middle market businesses and their
suppliers. The Company’s cloud-based, software and payment platform digitizes and automates the AP workflow for middle market
businesses (AvidXchange’s “buyer” customers), and their service providers and vendors (AvidXchange’s “supplier” customers). The
Company provides solutions and services throughout North America spanning multiple industries including real estate, homeowners
associations (“HOA”), construction, financial services (including banks and credit unions), healthcare facilities, social services, education, and
media.
AvidXchange’s software solutions are delivered primarily through a software-as-a-service (“SaaS”) platform that connects buyer customers
using the Company’s AP automation products with a network of their vendors, including supplier customers that have enrolled in
AvidXchange’s electronic payments network (the “AvidPay Network”). This platform provides a multitude of solutions including electronic
invoice capture, intelligent workflow routing, and automated payments, which can provide AvidXchange’s buyer and supplier customers with
reduced costs, improved productivity, and reduction of paper from the traditional AP and payment processes.
The Company markets its solutions to buyers through both a direct salesforce and indirectly through strategic channel partnerships with
banks and financial institutions as well as software and technology business partners. AvidXchange attracts buyer customers to the AvidPay
Network through establishing a simple, easy-to-use network that helps integrate various buyers through a standard invoice and pay network.
Supplier customers are selected to join the AvidPay Network by their buyer clients.
AvidXchange has completed strategic acquisitions that have expanded the customer relationships available to subscribe to its payment
services solutions and gain access to new markets. The operating activities of the legal entities acquired are fully interdependent and
integrated with the AvidXchange operations. The Company views its operations and manages its business as one segment and one
reporting unit.
In December 2020, AvidXchange acquired Core Associates Holdings, LLC (“Core Associates”), the maker of TimberScan, an AP approval
processing and content management software that has enabled the Company to further expand into the construction sector.
In July 2021, AvidXchange acquired the equity interests of FastPay, a leading provider of payments automation solutions for the media
industry. See Note 4 for information regarding business combinations.
Stock Split and Initial Public Offering
On September 30, 2021, the Company effected a four-for-one forward stock split of all then-outstanding common stock, without any change
in the par value per share, and a corresponding adjustment to the respective conversion prices for outstanding preferred stock and not
shares of preferred stock outstanding. The Company has retroactively adjusted all share and per share amounts to reflect the stock split.
On October 15, 2021, the Company closed its initial public offering ("IPO") and its convertible preferred stock, convertible common stock, and
warrants converted into shares of common stock. See Note 9 for information regarding these transactions.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Consolidation and Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and reflect the consolidated operations of the Company. All intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation. There are no items of comprehensive income.
Presentation of Convertible Preferred Stock
The Company’s convertible preferred stock was classified as mezzanine equity in the accompanying balance sheets separate from all other
stockholders’ equity accounts that are classified as permanent equity (e.g., common stock and accumulated deficit). The purpose of this
classification was to convey that such securities may not be permanently part of equity and could result in a demand for cash or other assets
of the entity in the future based on passage of time or upon the occurrence of certain events outside of the Company’s control.
The Company’s convertible preferred stock is initially recorded at its original issuance price, net of issuance costs. The Company accreted
the carrying amount of the convertible preferred stock using the interest method until January 2021 when it became probable that the
instrument would not become redeemable, except for senior preferred stock which the Company continued to accrete until the IPO. These
increases were recorded as charges against retained earnings, if any. In the absence of retained earnings, the amounts are recorded
against the available balance of additional paid-in capital that has been generated from cash transactions until reduced to zero and any
additional amounts are charged to accumulated deficit. Changes in the redemption value or the redemption date are considered to be
changes in accounting estimates.
In conjunction with the closing of its IPO on October 15, 2021, the convertible preferred stock was converted into shares of common stock.
See Note 9 for information regarding these transactions.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities as of and during the reporting period. The Company bases estimates and assumptions on historical experience when available and
on various factors that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Significant estimates reflected in these consolidated financial
statements include, but are not limited to, the allowance for doubtful accounts, useful lives assigned to fixed and intangible assets,
capitalization of internal-use software, deferral of customer origination costs, the fair value of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination, the fair value of goodwill, the recoverability of deferred income taxes, the fair value of common stock prior to the IPO, and the
fair value of the convertible common stock liability (or the “derivative instrument.”) The Company assesses estimates on an ongoing basis;
however, actual results could materially differ from those estimates.
Segments
The Company operates and manages its business as one reportable segment, which is the same as the operating segment as defined under
FASB Accounting Standards Codification (”ASC”) 280. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer, who is the chief operating decision maker,
reviews financial information on a consolidated basis for purposes of making decisions regarding allocating resources and assessing
performance. All tangible assets are held in the United States and all revenue is generated in the United States. Refer to “Concentrations”
below and Note 3 Revenue from Contracts with Customers for additional entity-wide disclosures.
Business Combinations
Identifiable assets acquired, and the liabilities assumed, resulting from a business combination are recorded at their estimated fair values on
the date of the acquisition. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired,
including the amount assigned to identifiable intangible assets. When a business combination involves contingent consideration, the
Company recognizes a liability equal to the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration obligation at the date of the acquisition.
Subsequent changes in the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration are recognized in earnings in the period of the change.
Shares of common stock issued as part of the purchase consideration are valued as of the date of the business combination.
Revenue Recognition
Refer to Note 3 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers for information related to the Company’s revenue recognition.
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Concentrations
Significant Services
A substantial portion of the Company’s revenue is derived from interchange fees earned on payment transactions processed as virtual
commercial cards (“VCC”). For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, interchange fee revenues from a single service
provider represented approximately 47%, 50% and 53% of total revenues, respectively. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, 53% and 62%
of accounts receivable, net, is comprised of amounts due from this service provider, respectively.
As of December 31, 2021, 13% of accounts receivable, net, is comprised of amounts due from a second service provider.
Future regulation or changes by the card brand payment networks could have a substantial impact on the Company’s revenue from VCC
transactions. If interchange rates decline, whether due to actions by the card brand payment networks, merchant/suppliers availing
themselves of lower rates, or future regulation, the Company’s total operating revenues, operating results, prospects for future growth and
overall business could be materially affected.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents.
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of these instruments. Cash in the
Company’s bank accounts may exceed federally insured limits.
Restricted Funds Held for Customers and Payment Service Obligations
Restricted funds held for customers and the corresponding liability of payment service obligations represent funds that are collected from
customers for payments to their suppliers. The Company is registered as a money services business (“MSB”) with the Financial Crimes
Enforcement Network (“FinCEN”). Payment service obligations are comprised of outstanding daily transaction liabilities per state regulatory
average daily transaction liability (“ADTL”) report requirements and other unregulated settlements with payees, which do not constitute a
regulatory liability event under reporting requirements.
As of December 31,
2021

Outstanding Transaction Liabilities
Other unregulated settlements
Total payment service obligations

$
$

2020

1,210,342
32,004
1,242,346

$
$

132,654
4,966
137,620

The Company currently operates two models for the transmission of buyer customer funds. Under its legacy model, buyer customer funds
are held in trust accounts that are maintained and operated by a trustee pending distribution. After customers’ funds are deposited in a trust
account, the Company initiates payment transactions through external payment networks whereby the customers’ funds are distributed from
the trust to the appropriate supplier. The Company is not the trustee or beneficiary of the trusts which hold these customer deposits;
accordingly, the Company does not record these assets and offsetting liabilities on its consolidated balance sheets. The Company
contractually earns interest on funds held for customers with associated counterparties. The amount of customer funds held in trust-related
accounts was approximately $123,643 and $723,084 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
The Company has also obtained a money transmitter license in all states which require licensure. This model enables AvidXchange to
provide commercial payment services to businesses through its “for the benefit of customer” (“FBO”) bank accounts that are restricted for
such purposes. The restricted funds held for customers are restricted for the purpose of satisfying the customer’s supplier obligations and are
not available for general business use by the Company. The Company maintains these funds in liquid cash accounts and contractually earns
interest on these funds held for customers. These funds are recognized as a restricted cash asset and a corresponding liability is recorded
for payments due to their suppliers on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Restricted funds held for customers are included in the
cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated statements of cash flows. The Company is continuing to work towards fully transitioning to
this model.
Accounts Receivable, Supplier Advances and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable represent amounts due from the Company’s VCC service providers for interchange fees earned and from buyer
customers who have been invoiced for the use of the Company’s software offerings, but payments have not been received. Accounts
receivable from VCC service providers are presented net of an allowance for transactions subsequently cancelled that do not ultimately settle
through the payment network. Accounts receivable from buyer customers are presented net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. In judging
the adequacy of the allowances, the Company considers multiple factors including historical cancellation rate for electronic payments,
historical bad debt experience, general economic conditions, and aging of the receivables. The allowance for VCC transactions subsequently
cancelled and the allowance for buyer customer’s doubtful
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accounts are assessed at each period end and are recognized as a reduction of payment processing revenue and as bad debt expense
within general and administrative expenses, respectively, in the consolidated statements of operations. A buyer customer receivable is
written off against the allowance when it is determined that all collection efforts have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is
considered remote. Historically, losses related to customer nonpayment have been immaterial and most of the accounts receivable balances
have been current.
Supplier advances receivable represent amounts that have been advanced as part of the AvidXchange’s Invoice Accelerator product but
have not been collected. Advances are collected from the buyer customer once the buyer initiates the transfer of funds for the invoice that
was previously advanced. If the buyer does not transfer the funds as expected, the Company is exposed to losses. The Company’s
experience with such delinquencies by buyer customers have been immaterial. Supplier advances receivable are stated at their estimated
net realizable value. A broad range of information is considered in the estimation process, including historical loss information, effects of
COVID-19, age of receivables, communications with buyer and supplier customers, changes in their risk profile, and supplier experience and
utilization of the program. The allowance for doubtful accounts for supplier advances is assessed at period end and the measurement of the
allowance is included as a component of cost of revenues in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. Supplier advances
receivable balances are charged against the allowance when the Company determines it is probable the receivable will not be recovered
after collection efforts and legal actions have been exhausted. The Company classifies the fees charged to supplier customers as cash flows
from operating activities with the remaining accelerated advancements and recoupments classified as cash flows from investing activities on
a net basis within the consolidated statements of cash flows.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost at the date of acquisition plus the cost of additions and improvements that increase the useful
lives of assets. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets,
which range from three to seven years, except for buildings which have estimated useful lives of up to 35 years. Assets recorded under
leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their useful lives or related lease terms. Repairs and maintenance expenditures
are expensed as incurred. The cost and related accumulated depreciation and amortization of assets sold or disposed are removed from the
accounts and the resulting gain or loss is reflected in operating expenses. The carrying value of all long-lived assets is reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable, in accordance
with ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment. Assets under finance leases are recorded at the lower of the present value of the minimum
lease payments or the fair value of the asset. The amortization period is based on whether ownership transfers at the end of the lease,
including the presence of a bargain purchase option. If ownership transfers or the Company has the option for a bargain purchase, the asset
is depreciated over its useful life. If neither of the above criteria are present, the asset is depreciated over the life of the lease. Amortization of
assets recorded as finance leases is included in the line item depreciation and amortization in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations.
Intangible Assets and Goodwill
The Company capitalizes costs related to the development of its software services and certain projects for internal use in accordance with
ASC 350, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other. These capitalized costs are primarily related to the integrated invoice processing and payment
solutions and services hosted by the Company and accessed by its customers on a subscription and transaction basis. Costs incurred in the
preliminary stages of development are expensed as incurred. Once an application has reached the development stage, internal and external
costs, if direct, are capitalized until the software is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. Capitalization ceases upon
completion of all substantial testing. The Company also capitalizes costs related to specific upgrades and enhancements when it is probable
the expenditures will result in additional functionality. Capitalized costs are recorded as part of Intangible assets. Maintenance and training
costs are expensed as incurred. Internally developed software is amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life, generally
three years.
Other identifiable intangible assets consist of acquired customer lists, technology and trade names, which were recorded at their fair values
at the time of acquisition. Amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
The Company evaluates intangible assets and long-lived assets for possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. This includes, but is not limited to, significant adverse changes in
business climate, market conditions, or other events that indicate an asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these
assets is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of each asset to the future undiscounted cash flows the asset is expected to
generate. If the undiscounted cash flows used in the test for recoverability are less than the carrying amount of these assets, then the
carrying amount of such assets is reduced to fair value.
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The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment as of October 31 each year or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that goodwill might be impaired. The Company is comprised of a single reporting unit. The Company has the option to first perform a
qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the Company is less than the carrying amount,
including goodwill. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the Company is less than the carrying amount, a
quantitative assessment is performed by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. An impairment charge is
recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value, not to exceed the total amount of goodwill
allocated to that reporting unit. The Company also has the option to bypass the qualitative assessment and perform the quantitative
assessment.
Stock-Based Compensation
Compensation cost for stock-based awards issued to employees and outside directors, including stock options and restricted stock units
(“RSUs”), is measured at fair value on the date of grant.
The fair value of stock options is estimated using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model, while the fair value of RSUs is determined using the
fair value of the Company’s underlying common stock. Stock-based compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
requisite service period of the award. Stock-based compensation expense for RSUs with performance conditions is recognized over the
requisite service period on an accelerated-basis as long as the performance condition in the form of a specified liquidity event is probable to
occur. The impact of forfeitures on the recognition of expense is estimated based on actual forfeiture activity. In the case of equity issued in
lieu of cash bonus, expense is recognized in the period the cash bonus was earned.
Common Stock Repurchases
The Company is incorporated in the State of Delaware and under the laws of that state shares of its own common stock that are acquired by
the Company constitute authorized but unissued shares. The cost of the acquisition by the Company of shares of its own stock in excess of
the aggregate par value of the shares first reduces additional paid-in-capital, to the extent available, with any residual cost applied as an
increase to accumulated deficit.
Net Loss per Share
Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted net loss per share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period and, if dilutive,
the weighted average number of potential shares of common stock. Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is calculated
using the two-class method, which is an earnings allocation formula that determines net loss per share for the holders of the Company’s
common shares and participating securities. The Company’s convertible preferred stock contains participation rights in any dividend paid by
the Company and is deemed to be a participating security. Net loss attributable to common stockholders and participating preferred shares
are allocated to each share on an as-converted basis as if all of the earnings for the period had been distributed. The participating securities
do not include a contractual obligation to share in losses of the Company and are not included in the calculation of net loss per share in the
periods in which a net loss is recorded.
Diluted net loss per share is computed using the more dilutive of (a) the two-class method or (b) the if converted method. The Company
allocates earnings first to preferred stockholders based on dividend rights and then to common and preferred stockholders based on
ownership interests. The weighted average number of common shares included in the computation of diluted net loss gives effect to all
potentially dilutive common equivalent shares, including outstanding stock options and convertible preferred stock. Common stock equivalent
shares are excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share if their effect is antidilutive. In periods in which the Company reports a
net loss attributable to common stockholders, diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is generally the same as basic
net loss per share attributable to common stockholders since dilutive common shares are not assumed to have been issued if their effect is
anti-dilutive.
Advertising Costs
Advertising and marketing costs are included in operating expenses and are expensed as incurred. The Company incurred advertising and
marketing costs of approximately $5,964, $3,910 and $3,962 for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Research and Development
The Company expenses research and development costs as incurred. Research and development expenses consist primarily of engineering
and product development, including employee compensation and the costs of outside contractors.
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Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences between the basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities for financial
reporting and income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities represent future tax return consequences for those differences which
will either be deductible or taxable when the assets or liabilities are recovered or settled.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on the deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. The Company evaluates both the positive and negative evidence that is
relevant in assessing whether it will realize the deferred tax assets. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more-likely-than-not that
some of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
The Company recognizes all material tax positions, including uncertain tax positions, when it is more-likely-than-not that the position will be
sustained based on its technical merits and if challenged by the relevant tax authorities. All tax years since 2018 are open for potential
examination by taxing authorities as of December 31, 2021. However, tax authorities may have the right to examine prior periods where net
operating losses or tax credits were generated and carried forward. The tax authorities may make adjustments up to the amount of the net
operating loss or credit carryforward. No liabilities for uncertain income tax positions are recorded as of December 31, 2021 or 2020. The
Company’s policy is to record interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense.
Retirement Plan
The Company has a 401(k) defined contribution plan. Under the plan, each employee meeting the minimum age requirement and with at
least one month of service is eligible to participate. Vested benefits vary in accordance with years of credited service. The Company
matching contribution is 100 percent of the first 3 percent and 50 percent of the next 2 percent of compensation that a participant contributes
to the plan. The Company made contributions of $3,855, $3,111 and $2,255 to the plan, net of forfeitures, for eligible and participating
employees for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Contributions are subject to certain IRS limitations.
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan
The Company adopted a nonqualified, deferred compensation plan effective October 1, 2015, which is an unfunded plan created for the
benefit of a select group of management or highly compensated employees. The purpose of the plan is to attract and retain key employees
by providing them with an opportunity to defer receipt of a portion of their compensation. It is exempt from the participation, vesting, funding,
and fiduciary requirements set forth in Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended. Deferred amounts are
not subject to forfeiture and are deemed invested among investment funds offered under the nonqualified deferred compensation plan, as
directed by each participant.
The Company has established a ‘rabbi trust’ that serves as an investment to shadow the deferred compensation plan liability. The assets of
the rabbi trust are general assets of the Company and as such, would be subject to the claims of creditors in the event of bankruptcy or
insolvency. The Company has recorded these assets and liabilities at their fair value. In association with this plan, $1,343 and $663 were
included in other noncurrent assets and $1,387 and $787 were included in noncurrent liabilities as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.
Contingent Liabilities
Contingent liabilities require significant judgment in estimating potential losses for legal claims. We review significant new claims and
litigation for the probability of an adverse outcome. Estimates are recorded as liabilities when it is probable that a liability has been incurred
and the amount of the loss is reasonably estimable. Disclosure is required when there is a reasonable possibility that the ultimate loss will
materially exceed the recorded provision. Contingent liabilities are often resolved over long time periods. Estimating probable losses requires
analysis of multiple forecasts that often depend on judgments about potential actions by third parties such as regulators, and the estimated
loss can change materially as individual claims develop.
Fair Value Measurements
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, AP, debt, and the liability related to the
convertible common stock conversion feature. The carrying amount of cash, trade receivables, and AP approximate fair value due to the
short-term maturity. The estimated fair value of long- term debt is based on borrowing rates currently available to the Company for similar
debt issues. The fair value approximates the carrying value of long-term debt.
In accordance with applicable accounting standards, the Company utilizes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels.
The following is a brief description of those three levels:
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Observable inputs such as quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2

Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These
include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active market and quoted prices for identical or similar assets
or liabilities in markets that are not active.

Level 3

Unobservable inputs that reflect the reporting entity’s own assumptions. The fair value for such assets and liabilities
is generally determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques that
incorporate the assumptions a market participant would use in pricing the asset or liability.

When more than one level of input is used to determine the fair value, the financial instrument is classified as Level 1, 2 or 3 according to the
lowest level input that has a significant impact on the fair value measurement. The Company performs a review of the fair value hierarchy
classification on an annual basis. Changes in the observability of valuation inputs may result in a reclassification of certain financial assets or
financial liabilities within the fair value hierarchy.
The convertible common stock liability, which was converted on October 15, 2021 in connection with the Company's IPO, was stated at fair
value and was considered a Level 3 input because the fair value measurement was based, in part, on significant inputs not observed in the
market. The Company determined the fair value of the convertible common stock liability based on the Black-Scholes option- pricing model
which utilizes the value of shares sold in the Company’s latest preferred stock financing and allocates the estimated equity value of the
Company to each class of the Company’s outstanding securities using an option-pricing back-solve model, then a Monte Carlo simulation
technique to estimate fair value of the convertible common stock liability.
Emerging Growth Company Status
The Company is an emerging growth company, as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”). Under the
JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the
JOBS Act until those standards apply to private companies. The Company has elected to use this extended transition period for complying
with new or revised accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies until the earlier of the date that
it is (i) no longer an emerging growth company or (ii) affirmatively and irrevocably opts out of the extended transition period provided in the
JOBS Act. As a result, these financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with the new or revised accounting
pronouncements as of public company effective dates. The JOBS Act does not preclude an emerging growth company from early adopting
new or revised accounting standards. The Company expects to use the extended transition period for any new or revised accounting
standards during the period which the Company remains an emerging growth company.
New Accounting Pronouncements
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
On January 1, 2021, the Company adopted ASU No. 2018-15, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other: Customer’s Accounting for Implementation
Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract, that provides guidance on capitalization of implementation
costs incurred in a cloud computing arrangement that is a service contract. There was no impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements upon adoption.
On October 1, 2021, the Company adopted ASU No. 2017-04, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other: Simplifying the Accounting for Goodwill
Impairment. This guidance simplified the accounting for goodwill impairment by eliminating the need to determine the fair value of individual
assets and liabilities of a reporting unit to measure the goodwill impairment. The guidance was used for the annual goodwill impairment tests
performed as of October 31, 2021. Adoption did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
Accounting Pronouncements Issued but Not Yet Adopted
In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2016-13, Financial instruments, Credit Losses (Topic 326):
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which amends the guidance on the impairment of financial instruments by requiring
measurement and recognition of expected credit losses for most financial assets, including trade receivables, and other instruments that are
not measured at fair value through net income (the “CECL” framework). The guidance will replace the Company’s current accounts
receivable and supplier advances receivable allowance for doubtful accounts methodology with the CECL framework. ASU 2016-13 was
effective date for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. As an emerging growth company, the effective
date for the Company is January 1, 2023. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this guidance on its consolidated
financial statements and related disclosures.
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes which
simplifies the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740. This
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standard was effective for public business entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15,
2020. As an emerging growth company, the effective date for the Company is January 1, 2022 for annual reporting periods and January 1,
2023 for interim periods. Early adoption is permitted. Certain amendments of this standard may be adopted on a retrospective basis,
modified retrospective basis or prospective basis. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this guidance on its
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract
Liabilities from Contracts with Customers. This standard requires contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with customers that
are acquired in a business combination to be recognized and measured as if the acquirer had originated the original contract. For public
business entities, it is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years. As an
emerging growth company, the effective date for the Company is January 1, 2024. Entities should apply the provisions of the new standard
prospectively to business combinations occurring on or after the effective date of the standard. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption
in an interim period. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this guidance on its consolidated financial statements and
related disclosures.
3. Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The Company determines revenue recognition through the following steps:
•

Identify the contract with a customer;

•

Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

•

Determine the transaction price;

•

Allocate the transaction price to performance obligations in the contract; and

•

Recognize revenue when or as the Company satisfies a performance obligation.

Revenue Sources
The Company’s revenues are derived from multiple sources. The following is a description of principal revenue generating activities.
Software Revenue
Software revenue are tailored specifically to the Company’s buyer customers and include AvidInvoice, AvidPay, AvidUtility, AvidBill, Create-aCheck, Avid for NetSuite, Strongroom Payables Lockbox, ASCEND and TimberScan. These various offerings address the specific needs of
buyers and together they comprise the Company’s suite of cloud-based solutions designed to manage invoices and automate the AP
function. Revenues are derived from mostly long-term contracts with mid-market customers. The vast majority of the revenues are comprised
of 1) fees calculated based on number of invoice and payment transactions processed, 2) recurring maintenance or subscription fees, or 3)
some combination thereof. Fees for the Company’s services are typically billed and paid on a monthly basis. The Company’s core
performance obligation is to stand ready to provide holistic AP management services and process as many invoices and/or payments as the
buyer customer requests on a daily basis over the contact term. The unspecified quantity of the service meets the criteria for variable
consideration, where the variability is resolved daily as the services are performed. Accordingly, the promise to stand ready is accounted for
as a single-series performance obligation and revenue is recognized based on the services performed each day.
Included in software revenue is software maintenance and subscription fee revenue, which is recognized ratably over the term of the
applicable service period, generally 12 months for Create-a-Check, Avid for NetSuite and TimberScan customers, and 60 months for
ASCEND customers.
In addition, each contract contains the promise of providing implementation services for an upfront fee. In determining whether the
implementation services are distinct from the hosting services, the Company considered various factors, including the level of customization,
complexity of integration, the interdependency and interrelationships between the implementation services and the hosting services and the
ability (or inability) of the customer’s personnel or other service providers to perform the services. The Company concluded that the
implementation services are not distinct and therefore fees for implementation services are combined with the main promise of the contract
and recognized ratably over the non-cancellable term of the contract.
Software offerings are also sold to end customers through reseller partners. The Company evaluated whether it is the principal or the agent
in these arrangements. The reseller partners directly contract with the end customers and are ultimately responsible for the fulfillment of the
services. The Company may have some discretion in determining the fee charged to the end customer, but always in conjunction with the
reseller partner. Therefore, in most reseller partner arrangements, the Company acts as an agent
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and performs the services as directed by and on behalf of the reseller partner and recognizes revenue on a net basis in the amount to which
it expects to be entitled, excluding the revenue share earned by the reseller partner.
Taxes assessed by a governmental authority that are both imposed on and concurrent with a specific revenue-producing transaction, that are
collected by the Company from a customer, are excluded from revenue.
Payment Revenue
Payment revenue includes (i) interchange fees earned on payment transactions processed as VCC, (ii) fees from supplier product offerings,
and (iii) interest on funds held for customers.
With respect to interchange fees, the Company evaluated whether it is the principal or the agent in the arrangement and determined that
interchange fees are not received in return or exchange for services that the Company controls or acts as the principal, and the Company
does not play any role or have control over how the interchange basis points are established. Therefore, the Company acts as an agent and
records interchange fees net of i) fees charged by the VCC processor and ii) rebates provided to AvidXchange’s buyer customers, reseller
partners and supplier customers as an incentive to increase the volume of VCC transactions. The rebates to buyer customers are for cash
consideration, which includes cash payments or credits that may be applied against trade accounts owed by the customer to the Company.
The rebates to supplier customers are also for cash consideration in the form of reimbursement of processing fees related to the acceptance
of payments via a VCC. The Company recognizes monthly net interchange fees based on the transactional volume issued by the VCC
processor and submitted to the suppliers, less a reserve for transactions subsequently canceled.
Product offerings which address the needs of AvidXchange’s fast-growing network of suppliers currently include AvidPay Direct (“APD”) and
Invoice Accelerator. The APD service eliminates paper checks and provides suppliers with the opportunity to receive electronic payments
with enhanced remittance data. The Invoice Accelerator service expands the opportunity to manage cash flows and receive payments even
faster by allowing suppliers to advance payment on qualifying invoices. Revenues are generated on a per transaction basis for each payment
that is advanced and/or processed using APD. The per transaction fee includes both a fixed and a variable component based on the spend
per payment. There are currently no other monthly, annual, or start up fees associated with the supplier contract. Given that the underlying
fees are based on unknown services to be performed over the contract term, the total consideration is determined to be variable. The
variable consideration is usage-based and therefore, it specifically relates to the Company’s efforts to satisfy its obligation to the supplier. The
variability is satisfied each time a service is provided to the supplier and the variable fees are recognized at the time of service.
Payment revenue also includes interest income received from buyer customer deposits held during the payment clearing process. Such
funds are deposited in either trust accounts, that are maintained and operated by a trustee, or Company owned accounts.
Services Revenue
Services revenue is derived from the sale of professional services that are distinct and are recognized at the point in time the benefit
transfers to the customer.
Disaggregation of Revenue
The table below presents the Company’s revenues disaggregated by type of services performed.
Year ended December 31,
2020

2021

Software revenue
Payment revenue
Services revenue
Total revenues

$
$

87,885
157,930
2,594
248,409

$
$

68,063
115,745
2,120
185,928

2019

$
$

50,147
98,335
1,102
149,584

Contract Assets and Liabilities
The Company’s rights to payments are not conditional on any factors other than the passage of time, and as such, AvidXchange does not
have any contract assets. Contract liabilities consist primarily of advance cash receipts for services (deferred revenue) and are recognized as
revenue when the services are provided.
The table below presents information on accounts receivable and contract liabilities.
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As of December 31,
2021

Trade accounts receivable, net
Payment processing receivable, net
Accounts receivable, net
Contract liabilities

$

2020

9,797
21,168
30,965
29,880

$
$

$

8,977
15,780
24,757
7,970

$
$

Significant changes in the contract liabilities balance are as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2021

Revenue recognized included in beginning of period balance
Cash received, excluding amounts recognized as revenue during the
period
Contract liabilities acquired in business combination

$

2020

(6,095 )

$

(4,217 )

28,005
-

4,506
2,450

The table below presents a summary of changes in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts:
Accounts Receivable
Allowance

Allowance for doubtful accounts, December 31, 2018
Amounts charged to contra revenue, cost of revenues and expenses
Amounts written off as uncollectable
Recoveries of amounts previously written off
Allowance for doubtful accounts, December 31, 2019
Amounts charged to contra revenue, cost of revenues and expenses
Amounts written off as uncollectable
Recoveries of amounts previously written off
Allowance for doubtful accounts, December 31, 2020
Amounts charged to contra revenue, cost of revenues and expenses
Amounts written off as uncollectable
Recoveries of amounts previously written off
Allowance for doubtful accounts, December 31, 2021

$

941
544
(74 )
1,411
551
(193 )
1,769
729
(215 )
2,283

$

Supplier Advances
Receivable Allowance

$

524
570
(643 )
137
588
1,070
(675 )
116
1,099
1,400
(1,757 )
363
1,105

$

Transaction Price Allocated to Remaining Performance Obligations
Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation represents contracted revenue that has not yet been recognized. These
revenues are subject to future economic risks including customer cancellations, bankruptcies, regulatory changes and other market factors.
The Company applies the practical expedient in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (“Topic 606”), paragraph 606-10-50-14(b) and does not disclose information about remaining performance obligations related to
transaction and processing services that qualify for recognition in accordance with paragraph 606-10-55-18 of Topic 606. These contracts
contain variable consideration for stand-ready performance obligations for which the exact quantity and mix of transactions to be processed
are contingent upon the buyer or supplier request. These contracts also contain fixed fees and non-refundable upfront fees; however, these
amounts are not considered material to total consolidated revenue.
The Company’s remaining performance obligation consists of contracts with financial institutions who are using the ASCEND solution. These
contracts generally have a duration of two to five years and contain fixed maintenance fees that are considered fixed price guarantees.
Remaining performance obligation consisted of the following:
Current

As of December 31, 2021
As of December 31, 2020

$

Noncurrent

13,339
12,406

$

Total

23,475
26,771

$

36,814
39,177

Contract Costs
The Company incurs incremental costs to obtain a contract, as well as costs to fulfill a contract with buyer customers that are expected to be
recovered. These costs consist primarily of sales commissions incurred if a contract is obtained, and customer implementation related costs.
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The Company utilizes a portfolio approach when estimating the amortization of contract acquisition and fulfillment costs. These costs are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected benefit period of generally five years, which was determined by taking into consideration
customer attrition rates, estimated terms of customer relationships, useful lives of technology, industry peers, and other factors. The
amortization of contract fulfillment costs associated with implementation activities are recorded as cost of revenues while the amortization of
contract acquisition costs associated with sales commissions that qualify for capitalization is recorded as sales and marketing expense, both
in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. Costs to obtain or fulfill a contract are classified as deferred customer origination
costs in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.
The following tables present information about deferred contract costs:
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Capitalized sales commissions and implementation costs

2019

$

14,656

$

12,075

$

10,790

$

4,987
5,517

$

4,590
4,610

$

2,938
3,186

Amortization of deferred contract costs

Costs to obtain contracts included in sales and marketing expense
Costs to fulfill contracts included in cost of revenue
4.

Business Combinations

FastPay
On July 8, 2021, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement for all of the equity interests of FastPay, a leading provider of
payments automation solutions for the media industry. This acquisition expanded the Company’s portfolio of automated payments
technologies and services to middle market companies across the media landscape in the United States. The Company paid consideration of
approximately $77,089 which consisted of $46,089 in cash and 1,239,973 shares of common stock of the Company with an aggregate value
of $31,000 based on the Company's IPO price of its common stock of $25. Additional amounts may be earned upon achievement of future
performance goals measured on annual performance for 2021, 2022 and 2023. The aggregate amount of potential additional payments is
$9,000, evenly split between cash and common stock. The Company recorded additional consideration of $1,880 related to contingent
consideration in liabilities on its consolidated balance sheets. Additionally, the Company included identified deferred payment obligations of
$792 in consideration paid.
On July 24, 2021, the Company paid contingent consideration with an aggregate value of $1,000 consisting of $500 in cash and 19,998
shares of common stock with a value of $500 based on the Company's IPO price of its common stock of $25.
The number of shares of common stock initially issued, including contingent consideration, was adjusted in accordance with terms of the
purchase agreement based on the change in the value of the Company's common stock in connection with its IPO. The Company
determined that the variability in the number of shares issued in the transaction represents a call option. The value of the call option was
determined to be $4,118 and reduces the consideration allocated to the fair value of the business and was recorded as reduction to
additional paid-in capital of $4,118 at the date of the acquisition.
In allocating the preliminary purchase price, the Company recorded the following assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
estimated fair values at the date of the acquisition:
Consideration transferred

Closing cash consideration, net of cash acquired
Common stock consideration
Contingent consideration
Deferred payment obligation
Call option
Fair value of total consideration transferred

$

$
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Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Current assets
Property and equipment
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Other noncurrent assets and deposits
Intangible assets
Customer relationships
Acquired technology
Trade name
Non-compete agreements
Goodwill
Total identifiable assets acquired
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Lease liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Total liabilities assumed
Purchase price paid, net of cash acquired

$

$

2,115
118
561
90
18,000
14,000
2,500
2,100
60,225
99,709
3,241
15,457
561
4,807
24,066
75,643

The preliminary calculation of fair value for the acquired assets and liabilities was prepared using primarily Level 3 inputs under ASC 820,
Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (“ASC 820”). The Company determined the fair value of the identifiable intangible assets acquired
with the assistance of third-party valuation consultants. The determination of fair value utilized the relief-from-royalty method for the acquired
technology and the trade name. The multi-period excess earnings method was utilized to determine the fair value of the customer
relationships. The amount recorded for acquired technology represents the estimated fair value of FastPay's payment technology. The
amount recorded for customer relationships represents the fair values of the underlying relationship with FastPay's customers. The amount
recorded for tradename represents the fair value of the brand recognition of FastPay. The weighted average useful life of acquired
intangibles is 12 years. The goodwill balance is primarily attributable to the assembled workforce and expanded market opportunities within
the market verticals in which FastPay operates. The goodwill balance is not deductible for tax purposes. From the date of the acquisition
through December 31, 2021, the Company recorded measurement-period adjustments which are included in the table above. These
adjustments increased the consideration paid by $126 for adjustments to the preliminary working capital balances and recognized a deferred
tax liability of $4,807, resulting in a corresponding increase in goodwill. As of December 31, 2021, purchase price allocation is preliminary.
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the amount of revenue and expense attributable to FastPay's operations were $5,063 and
$7,521, respectively. Supplemental pro forma revenue and earnings information have not been presented for the year ended December 31,
2021 because the effect of this acquisition was not material to the Company's overall operations.
Core Associates and Orbiion
The Company accounted for the following transactions as business combinations during the year ended December 31, 2020 in accordance
with the provisions of ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations, and has included the financial results of each acquisition in its consolidated
financial statements from the date of the acquisition.
The Company also evaluated the acquisitions quantitatively and qualitatively and determined them to be insignificant both individually and in
the aggregate. Therefore, certain pro forma disclosures under ASC 805-10-50 have been omitted.
On December 30, 2020 AvidXchange acquired all of the issued and outstanding equity interest of Core Associates, the maker of
TimberScan, an AP approval processing and content management software. Total purchase price was approximately $24,408, net of $1,836
of cash acquired. The Company paid approximately $19,408 in cash at closing, inclusive of working capital adjustments, and issued 408,064
common shares valued at $5,000. The fair value of the common shares was determined based on the estimated fair value at the time of the
transaction. The Company incurred transaction costs associated with the acquisition of approximately $1,298.
In allocating the purchase price, the Company recorded the following assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair
values at the date of the acquisition:
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Current assets
Other assets
Intangible assets
Customer relationships
Acquired technology
Trade name
Goodwill
Total identifiable assets acquired
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Total liabilities assumed
Purchase price paid, net of cash acquired

$

658

$

3,700
5,700
2,500
14,766
27,324
266
150
2,500
2,916
24,408

The calculation of fair value for the acquired assets and liabilities was prepared using primarily Level 3 inputs under ASC 820. The Company
determined the fair value of the identifiable intangible assets acquired with the assistance of third-party valuation consultants. The
determination of fair value utilized the relief-from-royalty method to value the acquired technology and the trade name, and the multi-period
excess earnings method to value the customer relationships. The amount recorded for acquired technology represents the estimated fair
value of Core’s SaaS and on-premises software technology. The amount recorded for customer relationships represents the fair values of the
underlying relationship with Core’s customers and business partners. The amount recorded for tradename represents the fair value of the
brand recognition of Core and their main product TimberScan. The weighted average useful life of acquired intangibles and tradename is
nine years and eleven years, respectively. The goodwill balance is primarily attributed to the assembled workforce and expanded market
opportunities when integrating AvidPay with the Core platform to create a cohesive AP and payment offering. The goodwill balance is
deductible for tax purposes.
On October 29, 2020, the Company completed an asset acquisition with the stockholders of Orbiion, Inc., (“Orbiion”) a California corporation,
for total consideration of approximately $1,409, including 80,640 shares of common stock valued at approximately $988. The purchase price
of Orbiion was primarily attributable to the acquired workforce and the expected strategic synergies and was therefore fully allocated to
goodwill. The goodwill balance is deductible for tax purposes.
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company did not make any adjustments to the purchase price allocation for the Core
Associates and Orbiion transactions. In the fourth quarter of 2021, the Company finalized the preliminary purchase price allocations, noting
no material measurement period adjustments.
BankTEL
On October 1, 2019, the Company acquired all the equity interests of BankTEL. BankTEL provides accounting software solutions to small
and mid-size banks using its ASCEND product. Total purchase price was approximately $115,348, net of $74 in cash acquired. The
Company paid $105,834 in cash at closing, inclusive of working capital adjustments, and issued 1,851,784 common shares valued at $9,514.
The fair value of the common shares was determined based on the estimated fair value at the time of the transaction. The Company incurred
transaction costs associated with the acquisition of approximately $1,168.
In allocating the purchase price, the Company recorded the following assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair
values at the date of the acquisition:
Current assets
Property and equipment
Other assets
Intangible assets
Customer relationships
Acquired technology
Trade name
Goodwill
Total identifiable assets acquired
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Total liabilities assumed
Purchase price paid, net of cash acquired

$

$
F-21
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The preliminary calculation of fair value for the acquired assets and liabilities was prepared using primarily Level 3 inputs under ASC 820.
The Company determined the fair value of the identifiable intangible assets acquired with the assistance of third-party valuation consultants.
The determination of fair value utilized the relief-from-royalty method for the acquired technology and the trade name, and the multi-period
excess earnings method to value the customer relationships. The amount recorded for acquired technology represents the estimated fair
value of BankTEL’s accounting software technology. The amount recorded for customer relationships represents the fair values of the
underlying relationship with BankTEL customers. The amount recorded for tradename represents the fair value of the brand recognition of
BankTEL. The weighted average useful life of acquired intangibles is 7 years. The goodwill balance is primarily attributed to the assembled
workforce and expanded market opportunities when integrating AvidPay with the BankTEL platform to create a cohesive AP and payment
offering. The goodwill balance is deductible for tax purposes. In the third quarter of 2020, the Company finalized the preliminary purchase
price allocation, noting no material measurement period adjustments.
5. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 consists of the following:
December 31,
2021

Useful Life

Land
Office equipment
Computer equipment
Computer software
Furniture
Headquarters facilities

Indefinite
5 Years
5 Years
3 Years
7 Years
25 - 35 Years
Shorter of lease
term or useful life

Leasehold improvements
Total property and equipment
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization

$

2020

37,364
2,048
14,682
3,219
7,388
67,384

$

8,308
140,393
(34,166 )
$

106,227

12,667
2,046
13,508
2,946
7,334
68,484
8,683
115,668
(28,796 )

$

86,872

Depreciation and amortization expense charged against property and equipment was $6,633, 7,346, and 6,807 for the three years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively. Depreciation and amortization expense associated with finance leases was $3,352,
$3,764, and $3,371 for the three years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.
In December 2021, the Company executed various concurrent agreements to purchase land and improvements adjacent to its Charlotte,
North Carolina headquarters campus for potential future expansion. The improvements included a building that the Company was leasing at
the time of purchase. At closing in December 2021, the Company made cash payments of $14,050 and issued a promissory note for
$21,500 payable in five equal annual installments (see Note 8).

6.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Intangible Assets
The following table presents information about capitalized software development costs:

Capitalized
Amortized

Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Capitalized software development costs

$
$
F-22
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$
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11,354
9,427

2019

$
$

7,350
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December 31, 2021
Gross
Accumulated
Amount
Amortization

Weighted Average
Useful Life
Internally developed software
Non-compete
Customer relationships
Technology
Trade name
Total intangible assets

3 Years
3 Years
9 Years
7 Years
10 Years

68,033
2,100
69,442
45,791
7,747
193,113

$

(47,475 )
(420 )
(21,091 )
(22,329 )
(1,343 )
(92,658 ) $

$

December 31, 2020
Gross
Accumulated
Amount
Amortization

Weighted Average
Useful Life
Internally developed software
Customer relationships
Technology
Trade name
Total intangible assets

Net Amount

3 Years
8 Years
5 Years
10 Years

52,903
51,442
31,791
5,246
141,382

$

20,558
1,680
48,351
23,462
6,404
100,455

Net Amount

(36,614 )
(14,032 )
(17,523 )
(771 )
(68,940 ) $

$

16,289
37,410
14,268
4,475
72,442

Total amortization expense associated with identifiable intangible assets was as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Total amortization expense associated with identifiable intangible
assets

$

24,105

$

20,168

2019

$

15,532

The estimated future amortization is expected as follows:
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter

$

22,887
20,422
15,178
9,813
8,258
23,897
100,455

$
Goodwill
The following table sets forth the changes in the carrying amount of the Company’s goodwill:
Goodwill

Balance at January 1, 2020
Acquisitions
Balance at December 31, 2020
Acquisitions
Balance at December 31, 2021

$

89,521
16,175
105,696
60,225
165,921

$

Impairment and write-off of intangible assets
Impairment and write-off expense related to internally developed software projects was as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Impairment and write-off of intangible assets

$

1,412
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7.

Leases and Leasing Commitments

Fiscal 2021 and 2020 Activity After Adoption of Topic 842
The Company's leases and lease commitments consist primarily of operating leases for office space and financing leases for IT equipment
and office facilities on its Charlotte, North Carolina headquarters campus.
Supplemental cash flow information related to the Company’s operating and finance leases was as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Financing cash flows for finance leases
Operating cash flows for finance leases
Operating cash flows for operating leases

$

1,139
7,384
1,781

$

1,582
7,187
2,199

Right of use assets obtained in exchange for new lease obligations:

Finance lease liabilities
Operating lease liabilities

174
877

544
163

The components of lease expense were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020

Lease cost

Finance lease cost
Amortization of right-of-use assets
Interest on lease liabilities
Operating lease expense
Short-term lease cost
Variable lease cost
Sublease income
Total lease cost

$

$

3,352
8,272
1,241
332
286
(145 )
13,338

$

$

3,764
8,104
1,221
620
280
(249 )
13,740

Effective January 1, 2020, the Company early adopted Topic 842, using the modified retrospective method. Accordingly, the presentation of
the results for year ending December 31, 2019 were not adjusted to conform to the recognition of results of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020.
The Company adopted the following practical expedients and elected the following accounting policies related to this standard update:
•

The options to not reassess prior conclusions related to the identification, classification, and accounting for initial direct costs for
leases that commenced prior to January 1, 2020

•

Short-term lease accounting policy election allowing lessees to not recognize right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases with a
term of 12 months or less, and

•

The option to combine non-lease components with their related lease components for all classes of underlying assets.

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease and the classification of the lease at inception. Due to the nature of AvidXchange’s
operations, the Company has two main classes of underlying leased assets – i) information technology (“IT”) equipment and ii) corporate
office space. IT equipment leases are classified as finance leases, whereas corporate office leases can be either operating or finance leases.
Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and current and noncurrent operating lease liabilities on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Finance leases are included in property and equipment, net and current and noncurrent maturities
of finance lease obligations on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.
ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and the corresponding lease liabilities represent its
obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Lease ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value
of the future minimum lease payments over the lease term at commencement date. The lease ROU asset is reduced for tenant incentives
and excludes any initial direct costs incurred. The Company’s lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease. These
options are reflected in the ROU asset and lease liability when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise the option. The
Company reassesses the lease term if and when a significant event or
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change in circumstances occurs within the control of the Company, such as construction of significant leasehold improvements that are
expected to have economic value when the option becomes exercisable.
In the calculation of the present value of the future minimum lease payments, AvidXchange uses either the implicit rate in the lease or the
Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Practice has shown that an implicit rate is only determinable in the finance leases of IT equipment
where the current price is readily available. For all office leases, the Company determines the net present value of future minimum lease
payments using its incremental borrowing rate at the commencement date of the lease. AvidXchange’s incremental borrowing rate is
estimated based on the Company’s credit rating, the yield curve for the respective lease terms, and the prevailing market rates for
collateralized debt in a similar economic environment. The same process is followed for any new leases at their commencement dates or
modifications to existing leases that require remeasurement.
Costs associated with operating lease assets are recognized on a straight-line basis within operating expenses over the term of the lease.
Amortization expense of the ROU asset for finance leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated useful lives
of the assets or, in the instance where title does not transfer at the end of the lease term, the lease term.
Gross finance lease ROU assets reported in the consolidated balance sheets are as follows:
As of December 31,
2021

Included in property and equipment, net

$

2020

74,275

$

85,137

The finance lease ROU assets are inclusive of a classification change of one of the Company’s headquarters office locations from operating
to finance lease due to a significant leasehold improvement commitment that triggered a change in the lease term. The classification change
resulted in a recognition of a finance lease ROU asset of $11,037 and a liability of $12,249 as of January 1, 2020.
Other information related to leases for the year ended December 31, 2021 was as follows:
Weighted average remaining lease term

Corporate offices operating leases
Corporate offices finance leases
IT equipment finance leases

4 years
30 years
1 year

Weighted average discount rate

Corporate offices operating leases
Corporate offices finance leases
IT equipment finance leases

10.6 %
10.6 %
6.5 %

As of December 31, 2021, the maturities of lease liabilities under non-cancelable operating and finance leases were as follows:
As of December 31, 2021
Operating Leases
Financing Leases

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments
Less: Imputed interest
Net lease obligation

$

$
$

1,472
1,446
1,289
1,042
229
63
5,541
(1,045 )
4,496

$

$
$

6,406
6,061
5,944
6,053
6,174
203,634
234,272
(172,430 )
61,842

As described in Note 5, the Company purchased land and improvements which it was leasing. The Company terminated this lease in
December 2021 after closing the purchase.
Fiscal 2019 Activity Before Adoption of Topic 842
The Company leases office facilities and certain fixed assets under various noncancelable operating leases. Rental expense for operating
leases was approximately $3,978 for the year ended December 31, 2019.
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Capital lease obligations on property and equipment are for one-year to five-year terms, except for the Charlotte headquarters facility lease.
The initial term of the Charlotte headquarters facility lease is fifteen years with four five-year reasonably assured renewal options, for a total
lease period of thirty-five years.
8. Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt as of December 31, 2021 and 2020:
As of December 31,
2021

Term loan facility
Delayed draw term loan
Promissory note payable for land acquisitions
Total principal due
Current portion of promissory notes
Unamortized portion of debt issuance costs
Long-term debt

$

$

2020

95,000
9,023
23,500
127,523
(4,800 )
(2,843 )
119,880

$

$

95,000
5,552
3,000
103,552
(1,000 )
(4,106 )
98,446

On October 1, 2019, the Company entered into a senior secured credit facility (“2019 Credit Agreement”) with Sixth Street Specialty Lending,
Inc. (“Sixth Street”) and KeyBank National Association (“KeyBank”). The 2019 Credit Agreement makes available to the Company a facility in
an aggregate amount of $163,500 which consists of:
•

$95,000 term loan facility (“2019 Term Loans”);

•

$30,000 additional delayed draw term loan commitment (“DDTL”);

•

$18,500 delayed draw term loan commitment (“Interest DDTL”); and

•

$20,000 revolving commitment (“2019 Revolver”).

Proceeds from the 2019 Credit Agreement were used to pay the outstanding principal related to the credit agreement dated October 19,
2016, as amended and restated (the “Old Credit Agreement”), and for working capital. The 2019 Credit Agreement is collateralized by
substantially all of the assets of the Company except for bank accounts that hold customer funds or are used to administer self-funded
employee benefit plans and other limited exceptions.
The aggregate amount available to borrow under our 2019 Credit Agreement was $23,524 as of December 31, 2021.
Interest on the loans under the 2019 Credit Agreement is equal to LIBOR or a base rate, plus a margin. The applicable margin will be
between 8% to 9% for the first three years, with the lower rate applicable for quarters in which the Company does not borrow from the
Interest DDTL, and after the third anniversary will be 7.5% or 8% depending on whether the cash burn rate is greater than or less than
negative $2,500. The base rate is equal to the higher of the current prime rate, federal funds effective rate plus 0.5%, or 4%. The Company
may elect an interest period of up to three months in connection with a LIBOR rate loan. Per the terms of the 2019 Credit Agreement, the
unavailability or replacement of LIBOR would result in the use of a similar measure based upon a calculated average of borrowing rates
offered by major banks in the London interbank as determined by Sixth Street. As such, management does not believe that the unavailability
of LIBOR will have any material impact on our borrowing costs.
From October 1, 2019 through the third anniversary date of the 2019 Credit Agreement, the Company may, on a quarterly basis, borrow
under the Interest DDTL to finance up to 4.5% of the interest due on the 2019 Term Loans. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the
Company borrowed $3,471 under the Interest DDTL at rates of 9.0% and 10.0%.
The Company also has available additional DDTL which may be made in minimum increments of $5,000, and multiples of $500 in excess of
that amount, up to $30,000. The Company is required to pay a commitment fee of 0.5% per annum based on the unused commitment under
the additional DDTL. The DDTL commitment terminated on October 1, 2021.
The maturity date for the 2019 Term Loans and Interest DDTL is April 1, 2024.
Revolving Credit Facility
Borrowing increments on the 2019 Revolver start at $500, and multiples of $100 in excess of that amount. There was no balance outstanding
under the facility as of December 31, 2021 or December 31, 2020. The Company is required to pay a commitment fee of 0.5% per annum
with respect to the unused commitment under the 2019 Revolver. The maturity date for the 2019 Revolver is October 1, 2023.
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Deferred Financing Costs
The Company has $164, $258, and $352 in deferred financing costs included in other noncurrent assets and deposits, and $2,843, $4,106,
$5,194 of deferred financing costs associated with 2019 Term Loan, DDTL, and Interest DDTL recorded net of long-term debt as of
December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 respectively.
Amortization of deferred financing costs was $1,357, $1,182, $1,184 for each of the three years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019,
respectively, which is presented in the consolidated statements of operations as interest expense.
Liquidity and Financial Covenants
The Company’s 2019 Credit Agreement contains certain covenants and restrictions on actions by the Company, including limitations on the
payment of dividends. In addition, the 2019 Credit Agreement requires that the Company comply monthly with specified ratios, including a
maximum ratio of debt to recurring revenue and a minimum cash balance requirement. The Company is in compliance with its financial debt
covenants as of December 31, 2021.
Land Promissory Note
On November 15, 2018, the Company signed a promissory note in connection with the purchase of two land parcels adjacent to its Charlotte,
North Carolina headquarters campus. The principal amount of $5,000 will be repaid in $1,000 installments, plus accrued interest at a rate of
6.75%, due on each anniversary date, with final payment due on November 15, 2023. The note is collateralized by the land parcels and any
future building to be situated on, or improvements to, the land. In December 2021 in connection with the purchase land and improvements,
the promissory note was modified to extend its term to November 15, 2025 and reduce the annual payment to $500.
In December 2021, the Company executed a promissory note in connection with the purchase of land and improvements adjacent to its
Charlotte, North Carolina headquarters campus. The principal amount of $21,500 will be repaid in four annual installments of $4,300, plus
accrued interest at a rate of 6.75%, starting on December 1, 2022 with the final payment of $4,300, plus accrued interest due on May 15,
2026. The note is collateralized by the land and improvements on the land.
Aggregate future maturities of long-term debt for the next five years and thereafter (including current portion) as of December 31, 2021 are as
follows:
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total

$

$

4,800
4,800
108,823
4,800
4,300
127,523

9. Preferred Stock
Upon the closing of the IPO on October 15, 2021, all shares of outstanding convertible preferred stock automatically converted into
111,142,439 shares of the Company's common stock. Additionally, all shares of senior preferred stock were converted into redeemable
preferred stock and convertible common stock. The resulting redeemable preferred stock was redeemed for $169,000. The resulting
convertible common stock was converted into 1,455,306 shares of the Company's common stock.
As of December 31, 2021, no shares of preferred stock were outstanding.
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As of December 31, 2020, the Company’s preferred stock, which is classified as mezzanine equity in the consolidated balance sheets was as
follows:

Shares Authorized

Series A
Series B
Series C
Series D
Series E
Series F
Junior Series 1
Senior Preferred
Redeemable Preferred

As of December 31, 2020
Shares Issued and
Liquidation
Outstanding
Preference

2,000,000
5,000,000
4,200,000
1,500,000
9,800,000
14,500,000
400,000
2,722,166
350,000
40,472,166

625,547
1,622,366
1,004,770
1,360,447
9,250,303
13,405,900
90,497
2,722,166
30,081,996

$

$

440
851
851
9,278
172,380
530,954
1,088
169,000
884,842

Carrying Value

$

$

440
851
851
9,278
167,648
508,110
1,088
144,359
832,625

10. Stockholders’ Equity and Convertible Common Stock Liability
Authorized Shares
On October 15, 2021, the Company filed its restated certificate of incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and its
amended and restated bylaws became effective immediately following the closing of the Company’s IPO. Under the restated certificate of
incorporation, the Company is authorized to issue 1,600,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.001 par value per share, and 50,000,000
shares of preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share.
The Company presented its common stock within stockholders’ equity and its convertible common stock separately as a liability, until its
conversion upon the Company's IPO on October 15, 2021.
Initial Public Offering
On October 15, 2021, the Company closed its IPO in which it sold 26,400,000 shares of common stock at a public offering price of $25.00
per share. The Company received net proceeds of $620,400 after deducting underwriters' discounts and commissions of $39,000 and
incurred additional costs in connection with the offering of $11,825, of which $5,225 were direct and incremental and accounted for as a
reduction of the proceeds.
On November 15, 2021, the underwriters notified the Company of the partial exercise of the overallotment option. Upon closing on November
18, 2021, the Company issued 544,928 shares of common stock at the offering price of $25.00 per share and received net proceeds of
$12,806 after deducting underwriters' discounts and commissions of $817.
Exercise of Warrants
Upon the closing of the IPO, all outstanding warrants converted into shares of common stock in a cashless exchange. Accordingly, the
797,652 outstanding warrants converted into 740,190 shares of common stock.
FastPay Consideration Adjustment
Upon the closing of its IPO on October 15, 2021, the Company adjusted the number of shares of common stock paid to the sellers in the
FastPay business combination in accordance with the stock purchase agreement to 1,239,973 shares of common stock and 19,998 shares
of common stock related to contingent consideration that was paid in July 2021. This resulted in the return and cancellation of 1,310,777
shares of common stock to the Company, including 20,806 shares of common stock related to the contingent consideration.
Convertible Common Stock Liability
Upon the closing of the IPO, the Company's convertible common stock liability was settled when all shares of senior preferred stock were
converted into redeemable preferred stock and convertible common stock and the convertible common stock were converted into 1,455,306
shares of the Company's common stock.
The convertible common shares were entitled to dividends pari passu with common stockholders on an “if- converted” basis. Shares could be
redeemed for cash or converted into common stock. Cash redemption was at the option of the stockholders, on or after six years from the
date of purchase, or upon the occurrence of a significant event such as the sale of the Company or an IPO. The Company could have
redeemed the shares for cash upon the occurrence of a significant transaction. Convertible common stock was convertible into common
stock at the election of the holder for the 15-year period ending on October 1, 2034.
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The cash proceeds received upon redemption, or the number of common shares received upon conversion, was based upon a formula
whereby the holder of the instrument will receive value commensurate with the increase, if any, in value of the Company’s common stock
from the date of redemption or conversion over a contractually determined base price per common share of $11.94.
Until its conversion, the convertible common stock was accounted for as a derivative liability and was recorded at its fair market value within
other long-term liabilities on the balance sheet. The Company estimated the fair value of the liability using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model and any change in fair value is recognized as a gain or loss in the statement of operations. The following table sets forth a summary of
the changes in the fair value of the derivative liability, which is the Company’s only Level 3 financial instrument. Prior to conversion, no
shares of convertible common stock were outstanding, as such shares were only issued upon conversion of the senior preferred stock.
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Fair value, beginning of period
Change in fair value
Redeemed
Fair value, end of period

$
$

10,254
26,128
(36,382 )
-

2019

$

2,717
7,537

$

2,162
555

$

10,254

$

2,717

Charitable Contribution
On June 24, 2021, the Company’s board of directors approved the reservation of 1,657,296 shares of our common stock (representing
approximately 1% of its issued and outstanding common stock and common stock equivalents as of June 24, 2021) for future issuance to
fund its philanthropic endeavors, including issuance to a philanthropic partner in connection with the establishment of a donor-advised fund,
over a ten-year period.
On October 1, 2021, the Company executed an agreement with a philanthropic partner pursuant to which the Company intends to provide
annual ongoing grants of 10% of the pledged shares for a period of ten years, subject in each case to the approval of the Company's board
of directors. On October 15, 2021, the Company transferred the first installment of 165,729 shares of common stock which resulted in the
recognition of $4,143 expense that was recorded in general and administrative expense in the fourth quarter of 2021.
Other Share Issuances
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company had other issuances of common stock that totaled 6,301,372 shares of at a
weighted average price per share of $13.38. These issuances included 4,080,636 shares in connection with the modification of the
Company’s agreement with a related party (see Note 13), 1,259,971 shares issued related to the acquisition of FastPay, and 960,765 shares
issued upon exercise of employee stock options.
11. Stock-Based Compensation
Stock Plan
Upon the closing its IPO on October 15, 2021, the Company's 2021 Long-Term Incentive Plan ("2021 Plan") became effective. Initially, the
2021 Plan increased the number of shares of common stock available for the Company to issue by 18,023,020 shares and incorporated the
outstanding awards under its prior plans. No new awards will be granted under the Company's prior plans. Initially, the maximum number of
shares of common stock that may be issued under the 2021 Plan will not exceed 26,013,196 shares of common stock, which includes the
new shares provided by the 2021 Plan and any shares of common stock subject to outstanding options or other awards under its prior plans.
Beginning on January 1, 2022 and continuing through January 1, 2031, the number of shares of common stock that will be reserved for
issuance under the 2021 Plan will automatically increase on January 1 of each year. The increase will be the lesser of (i) 5% of the total
number of shares of our common stock outstanding on December 31 of the immediately preceding year or (ii) 18,023,020 shares, provided
that before the date of any such increase, the Company's board of directors may determine that such increase will be less than the amount
set forth in clauses (i) and (ii). The maximum number of shares of common stock that may be issued on the exercise of incentive stock
options under the 2021 Plan is 26,013,196 shares. On January 1, 2022, the number of shares of common stock available to issue under the
2021 Plan increased by 9,840,242.
Stock Options
Stock options granted under the Company's current and prior equity incentive plans have various vesting periods ranging from fully-vested
on the date of grant to vesting over a period of three or four years. The term for each incentive stock option under these plans is ten years
from the grant date, or five years for a grant to a ten percent owner optionee, in each case assuming
F-29

AvidXchange Holdings, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
continued employment. The fair value of options granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
Stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2021 was as follows:
Number of Stock
Options Outstanding

As of December 31, 2021
Weighted Average
Weighted Average
Remaining
Exercise Price
Contractual Life

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Balance as of December 31, 2020
4,208,700
$
4.53
7.20 $
31,852
Granted
2,336,211
12.58
Exercised
(960,765 )
2.94
Cancelled
(276,164 )
6.97
(6,836 )
0.06
Expired
5,301,146
$
8.25
7.71 $
36,853
Balance as of December 31, 2021
2,157,599
$
4.47
6.15 $
22,884
Vested and exercisable
5,119,614
$
8.12
7.66 $
36,212
Vested and expected to vest
As of December 31, 2021, the total unamortized stock-based compensation expense related to the unvested stock options was $10,909,
which the Company expects to amortize over a weighted average period of 2.8 years.
The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 was $5.32,
$4.32, and $1.50 per share, respectively and the fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019
was $2,598, $1,519, and $1,040, respectively. The total cash received from exercises of share options during the years ended December 31,
2021, 2020, and 2019 was $2,820, $1,878, and $594, respectively. The Company provides a full valuation allowance against its net deferred
tax asset and therefore did not recognize a tax benefit for stock option exercises in either of the years presented. The total intrinsic value of
options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 was $9,547, $3,685, and $1,049, respectively. The intrinsic
value was calculated as the difference between the estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock at exercise and the exercise price
of the in-the-money options.
The fair value of stock-based awards granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based on the
following assumptions:

2021
Estimated dividend yield
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected term in years

2020

0%
43.59% - 45.24%
0.62% - 1.13%
5.98

0%
44.67% - 45.35%
0.27% - 0.40%
5.76

2019
0%
34.82% - 37.79%
1.50% - 2.41%
5.93

Due to limited historical data, the Company estimates stock price volatility based on the actual historical volatility of comparable publicly
traded companies over the expected life of the option. The expected life represents the average time that options that vest are expected to
be outstanding. Prior to the IPO, expected life of the award was calculated on the mid-point between the vesting date and the contractual
term, which is in accordance with the simplified method. The expected life of options granted after the IPO was determined based on
historical data. The expected life for share-based compensation granted to nonemployees is the contractual life. The risk-free rate is based
on the U.S. Treasury yield curve during the expected life of the option. The Company has never paid dividends on its common stock and has
no plans to pay dividends on its common stock. Therefore, the Company used an expected dividend yield of zero.
Restricted Stock Units
RSUs have a vesting period generally of one, two and four years. Any unvested RSUs are forfeited upon termination of employment. RSUs
are valued at the estimated value of a share of common stock at the date of grant.
RSUs granted prior to the Company's IPO have a term of seven years, or three years for time vested RSUs after termination of employment
and are also subject to a performance condition upon a predefined liquidity event such as an IPO or a change in
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control. Because the probability of performance condition occurring could not be estimated, no compensation expense was recognized
related to the RSUs prior to the Company's IPO on October 15, 2021.
RSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2021 was as follows:
Restricted Stock Units
Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value

Number of Restricted
Stock Outstanding

Balance as of December 31, 2020
Granted
Cancelled
Vested and converted to shares
Balance as of December 31, 2021

914,148
2,799,758
(237,065 )
3,476,841

$

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

10.42
14.15
11.49
13.37

$

$

52,361

As of December 31, 2021, RSUs representing 347,637 shares of common stock were vested and will be released in March 2022. As of
December 31, 2021, the total unamortized stock-based compensation expense related to the unvested RSUs was $26,632, which the
Company will amortize over a weighted average period of 1.9 years.
Stock-Based Compensation Expense
Stock-based compensation expense from stock options and RSUs, reduced for actual forfeitures, was included in the following line items in
the accompanying consolidated statement of operations:
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Cost of revenues
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Total

$

2,775
4,105
4,675
9,873
21,428

$

$

$

169
394
227
840
1,630

2019

$

114
354
106
805
1,379

$

12. Commitments and Contingencies
Incentive Packages
In 2014, the Company entered into grant and tax incentive agreements with state and local government agencies in North Carolina (the
“2014 Incentives”) for establishment of the new corporate headquarters and the expansion of its workforce. The initial fair value of the 2014
Incentives was estimated at $8,637, to be received in annual installments through 2027. In order to receive the 2014 Incentives, the
Company has to maintain its headquarters in Charlotte, NC, create new job positions as well as maintain a minimum number of employees
within the state of North Carolina. The incentive amount is dependent upon reaching certain job creation goals as stated in the grant and tax
incentive agreements.
In March 2019, the Company signed a second incentive grant package with the state and local government agencies of North Carolina (the
“2019 Incentives”). The initial fair value of the 2019 Incentives was estimated at $22,937, to be received over a twelve-year period beginning
in 2020 if job creation criteria are met. In connection with services to be performed in the negotiation of the 2019 Incentives and subsequent
compliance reporting, the Company will pay a vendor an aggregate of $3,190 in four annual installments beginning in 2019.
The reduction in general and administrative expenses recognized by the Company related to the 2014 Incentives and 2019 Incentives were
as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Business incentives

$

248

$

1,145

2019

$

1,184

Letters of Credit
As of December 31, 2021, the Company has an irrevocable standby letter of credit outstanding that acts as collateral with respect to the
lease of the Company’s Charlotte corporate headquarters with an availability of approximately $5,953 for which the
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Company pays a fee of 2% per annum. The letter of credit reduces the borrowing capacity under the 2019 Revolver. It renews annually and
expires on December 1, 2023.
Naming Rights
The Company is party to a sponsorship agreement dated July 7, 2018, at its Charlotte corporate headquarters campus which provides full
rights to display the Company’s name and logo on signage throughout the venue. The agreement is for a three-year initial term which
extends through February 28, 2022 and provides for five 3-year renewal options. Payments for the sponsorship are invoiced annually
beginning March 1, 2019; the Company paid $364 , $357 and $357 during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. The Company renewed the agreement for an initial three-year renewal period through February 2025.
Development Fee Agreement
The Company was party to a development fee agreement dated September 27, 2019 in connection with future development on its Charlotte,
North Carolina headquarters campus. This agreement required the Company to make payments to the seller of land purchased by the
Company in connection with future development of the land by the Company. In conjunction with the purchase of land and improvements in
December 2021, the Company terminated this development fee agreement and will make a cash payment of $3,827 to the counterparty on
February 1, 2023.
13. Related Party Transactions
The Company made payments to entities affiliated with the Company’s CEO for software and consulting services in the amounts of $590,
$455 and $289, for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively. Additionally, the Company made payments to an
entity affiliated with one the Company's board of directors members for staffing and non-advisory financial services in the amounts of $418,
$142 and $0 for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.
The Company is party to reseller and service agreements with an entity affiliated with another of the Company's board of directors members.
Under these agreements, the Company received payments from this entity in the amounts of $164, $87 and $81 for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively, and made payments to this entity in the amounts of $198, $109 and $77 for the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.
On February 19, 2021, the Company amended and restated its engagement letter with Financial Technology Partners LP and affiliates (“FT
Partners”), an investment banking firm whose owner was a member of the Company’s board of directors up until the time of the amendment.
The amended and restated engagement letter limits the events for which FT Partners will receive fees in the future, reduces the fees paid to
FT Partners for future transactions, and eliminates the exclusivity arrangement with FT Partners. Additionally, the controlling stockholder of
FT Partners left the Company’s board upon the effective date of the amended engagement letter. In connection with this amendment, the
Company paid FT Partners $50,000, which was recognized in other income (expense) within the consolidated statements of operations.
Concurrently, FT Partners subscribed to purchase 4,080,636 shares of common stock of the Company at their then-current fair value, and
the Company and FT Partners agreed that the retention of the payment by the Company satisfied the amounts due under the subscription.
In July 2015, the Company entered into separate consulting agreements with two stockholders to receive certain marketing, business
development, analytics, strategy, and support services in exchange for 704,048 common stock warrants. These warrants vest 20% on July
2016 and 10% every six months thereafter for a period of sixty months. These warrants have an exercise price of $2.04 with a fair value of
$1.43 on the date of issuance. In connection with these consulting agreements, the Company recognized $101 and $202 as general and
administrative expenses within the consolidated statements of operations for years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. No
expenses were recognized related to these warrants in the year ended December 31, 2021. These warrants were converted to common
stock upon the closing of the Company’s IPO (see Note 15).
14. Income Taxes
The table below sets forth the components of income tax (benefit) expense:
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Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Current provision
Federal
State

$

68
68

Deferred provision
Federal
State

(4,015 )
(713 )
(4,728 )
(4,660 )

$

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

2019

$
$
$

53
53

$
$
$

-

$
$
$
$

148
33
181
234

$
$
$
$

50
10
60
60

Reconciliation between the effect of applying the federal statutory rate of 21% pre-tax loss and the effective income tax rate used to calculate
the Company’s income tax provision is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

Pre-tax book loss
State taxes (net of federal benefit)
Convertible preferred stock mark-to-market
adjustment
Permanent differences
Change in valuation allowance
Net operating loss carryforward adjustment
Other
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

$

(42,905 )
(7,603 )
5,487
1,902
33,548
2,900
2,011
(4,660 )

$

$

(21,213 )
(4,046 )
1,583
(221 )
24,339
186
(394 )
234

$

2019

$

(19,632 )
(3,930 )
464
23,146
12
60

$

The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:
As of December 31,
2021

Assets
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Accrued expenses
Net operating loss carryforwards
Intangible assets
Stock-based compensation
Debt issuance costs
Deferred revenue
Interest limitation
Transaction costs
Agreement with VCC vendor
Lease liability
Contract amendment
Property and equipment
Other
Total gross deferred tax assets
Less: Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets
Liabilities
Intangible assets
Method change adjustments
ASC 606 set-up and commission costs
Right-of-use assets
Total gross deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities)

$

$
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2020

868
4,683
95,466
4,346
110
7,607
8,720
582
5,431
16,723
12,499
2,519
3,631
163,185
(134,062 )
29,123
(7,362 )
(1,248 )
(7,272 )
(13,586 )
(29,468 )
(345 )

$

$

734
3,667
84,244
1,485
345
159
1,371
5,515
617
2,723
19,728
29
205
120,822
(96,322 )
24,500
(1,676 )
(6,169 )
(16,921 )
(24,766 )
(266 )
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The Company has federal net operating loss carryforwards totaling approximately $391,745 and $338,812 as of December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively. The federal net operating loss carryforwards started to expire in 2020 and will expire at various dates in the future. The
Company has state net operating loss carryforwards totaling approximately $365,168 and $314,771 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. The state net operating loss carryforwards started to expire in 2020 and will expire at various dates in the future.

Management evaluated whether it is more likely than not they would realize the benefit of the deferred tax assets. Based on the weight of
available positive and negative evidence, Management concluded a valuation allowance was necessary to offset deferred tax assets, as
presented above. The valuation allowance increased by approximately $37,740 in year ended December 31, 2021.
The following table presents a summary of the changes in the valuation allowance:
Year Ended December 31,
2021
2020

Deferred tax valuation allowance

Beginning of period
Additions
Deductions
End of period

$

96,322
47,458
(9,718 )
134,062

$

$
$

71,867
24,804
(349 )
96,322

As required by ASC 740, the Company recognizes the financial statement benefit of a tax position only after determining that the relevant tax
authority would more likely than not sustain the position following an audit. For tax positions meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold, the
amount recognized in the financial statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon
ultimate settlement with the relevant tax authority. The Company is subject to income taxes in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state
jurisdictions. Tax regulations within each jurisdiction are subject to the interpretation of the related tax laws and regulations and require
significant judgment to apply. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties accrued on uncertain tax positions as part of
income tax expense. The Company evaluated its material tax positions and determined that it does not have any material uncertain tax
positions requiring recognition of a liability for any of the reporting periods presented.
15. Loss Per Common Share
Diluted loss per common share is the same as basic loss per common share for all periods presented because the effects of potentially
dilutive items were anti-dilutive given the Company’s net loss.
The following common share equivalent securities have been excluded from the calculation of weighted average common shares outstanding
because the effect is anti-dilutive for the periods presented:
Anti-Dilutive Common Share Equivalents

2021

Convertible redeemable preferred stock
Convertible common stock
Stock options
Restricted stock units
Warrants
Total anti-dilutive common share equivalents

Year Ended December 31,
2020

5,301,146
3,476,841
8,777,987

Basic and diluted net loss per common share is calculated as follows:
F-34

111,379,870
2,785,606
4,204,868
900,512
704,048
119,974,904

2019

106,965,944
2,459,284
4,390,360
704,048
114,519,636

AvidXchange Holdings, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
2021

Numerator:
Net loss
Deemed dividend on preferred stock
Accretion of convertible preferred stock
Net loss attributable to common stockholders
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted

$

F-35

Year Ended December 31,
2020

$

(199,649 )
(9,500 )
(15,141 )
(224,290 )

$

85,061,417
(2.64 )

$
$

(101,246 )
(43,414 )
(21,682 )
(166,342 )

$

49,738,252
(3.34 )

$

2019

$

(93,546 )
(6,494 )
(7,906 )
(107,946 )

$

42,526,716
(2.54 )

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-260303 and 333-261198) of
AvidXchange Holdings, Inc. of our report dated March 11, 2022, relating to the financial statements, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Charlotte, North Carolina
March 11, 2022

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Michael Praeger, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of AvidXchange Holdings, Inc. (the registrant);
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(e)
and 15d–15(e)) for the registrant and have:
(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(c)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 11, 2022
/s/ Michael Praeger
Michael Praeger
President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Joel Wilhite, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of AvidXchange Holdings, Inc. (the registrant);
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(e)
and 15d–15(e)) for the registrant and have:
(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(c)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 11, 2022
/s/ Joel Wilhite
Joel Wilhite
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In accordance with 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Michael Praeger, Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer)
of AvidXchange Holdings, Inc. (the “registrant”), and Joel Wilhite, Chief Financial Officer (principal financial and accounting officer) of the registrant, each hereby certifies that, to
the best of their knowledge:
1. The registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1 (the “Report”), fully complies with
the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition of the registrant at the end of the period covered by the Report and
results of operations of the registrant for the periods covered by the Report.

Date: March 11, 2022
/s/ Michael Praeger
Michael Praeger
President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Joel Wilhite
Joel Wilhite
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

